

University of Tennessee, Knoxville Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange

Doctoral Dissertations

Graduate School

12-2015

Examining the Relationships between Gratitude and Readiness for Self-Directed Learning in Undergraduate Nursing Students

Kellee Renee Vess University of Tennessee - Knoxville, kvess@vols.utk.edu

Recommended Citation

Vess, Kellee Renee, "Examining the Relationships between Gratitude and Readiness for Self-Directed Learning in Undergraduate Nursing Students." PhD diss., University of Tennessee, 2015. https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_graddiss/3616

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. For more information, please contact trace@utk.edu.

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a dissertation written by Kellee Renee Vess entitled "Examining the Relationships between Gratitude and Readiness for Self-Directed Learning in Undergraduate Nursing Students." I have examined the final electronic copy of this dissertation for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, with a major in Educational Psychology and Research.

Ralph G. Brockett, Major Professor

We have read this dissertation and recommend its acceptance:

Mary F. Ziegler, Gary J. Skolits, Marian W. Roman

Accepted for the Council: <u>Carolyn R. Hodges</u>

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)

Examining the Relationships between Gratitude and Readiness for Self-Directed Learning in Undergraduate Nursing Students

> A Dissertation Presented for the Doctor of Philosophy Degree The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

> > Kellee Renee Vess December 2015

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my husband Eric, my family, and ultimately to God.

Psalm 115:1

Acknowledgements

With gratitude being the essential variable within this dissertation, there are many people to thank for helping me accomplish this life-long goal. Therefore, in-keeping with the traditions of gratitude, below is a list expressing my appreciation and gratitude.

<u>Dr. Ralph Brockett</u> - Thank you for always believing in me, even when I doubted my own abilities. Thank you for all your guidance and mentoring throughout this process.

<u>Dr. Mary Ziegler</u> – Thank you for helping me to not only understand the importance of Adult Learning/Adult Development, but also for helping me see these concepts from multiple perspectives, for seeing the bigger picture, and for teaching me the importance of clarifying my thoughts in written form.

<u>Dr. Gary Skolits</u> - Thank you for introducing me to quantitative research, which began this journey to developing a dissertation focused on gratitude and learning. I greatly appreciate all your feedback and input, and for helping me develop a love for statistics.

<u>Dr. Marian Roman</u> – I thank you for all your encouragement throughout this process. Thank you for helping me explore new areas of gratitude research, more specifically, for helping me connect my passion for gratitude with my love of professional nursing practice.

<u>Valerie Ambrose and Cecilia Teal</u> – I am so grateful for our friendships. You have both helped me in more ways than I can list here, and I know I would not be writing this section today without your help, encouragement, and our on-going research collaboration.

<u>Jeff Russell</u>- Thank you for helping me expand my understanding of gratitude and its many potential benefits to learning.

<u>Jeff Vawter</u>- Thank you for helping me improve my writing skills, for all the essential feedback, and for sharing in all the small victories along the way.

<u>To My Parents (Mike and Sarah Dye)</u> – Mom, you have been my cheerleader, and at times the accountability partner I needed to maintain the perseverance needed to complete this dissertation. Dad, thank you for teaching me the value and importance of always finishing what you start, and for teaching me that the key to accomplishing any goal is hard work and dedication.

<u>To my Husband Eric</u> – Thank you for all your support, encouragement, and scarifies you have made to help me reach my goals. I could not have done this without you.

<u>Suzan Miller, Sue Ellyn Van Antwerp, Diane Oliver, Glenda Ramsey, Jean Bernard, Lisa</u> <u>Kirkland, and Sarah Dye</u>- Thank you for being inspiring examples of leadership, compassion, excellence, and true examples of how God uses ordinary women to accomplish extraordinary things. Each of you have profoundly influenced both my personal and professional development, and I would not be the nurse or educator I am today without your influence.

Finally, I thank God for transforming this experience into examples of love, trust, and faithfulness. This accomplishment belongs to you, and thank you for turning pains into triumphs, and struggles into great joys.

Abstract

The purpose of this study was to explore the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program. For this study a sample of 59 nursing students were selected from a four-year baccalaureate nursing program, situated in a private, faith-based college in the Southeast United States. During data collection, participants were asked to complete the Gratitude 6-item questionnaire [GQ-6], the 40-item Self-Directed Learning Readiness Scale for Nursing Education [SDLRS-NE], and two demographic questions (i.e., age and class rank). Using both parametric and nonparametric statistics, this study examined eight research questions, and from this exploration several findings did emerge. First, there is a small, but significant positive relationship between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning (r = .359, p = .005; $\rho = .358$, p = .006), and at a closer examination other positive correlations were found between gratitude and desire-to-learn, and between gratitude and self-control. Second, a positive correlation was found between age and one's desire-to-learn, indicating that as age increases so does one's desire-to-learn. Third, among the three predictors for readiness for self-directed learning (i.e., age, class rank, and gratitude), gratitude was the strongest predictor for desire-tolearn, and for self-control.

Recommendations for future research include a replication of this study using a larger, more diverse sample. Conducting more qualitative research to determine what learning experiences nursing students are grateful for and how gratitude influences their readiness for learning. As for the measurement of gratitude, there is a great opportunity for reexamining how gratitude is operationalized and measured. Finally, this study supports the notion that gratitude is an important resource for building the characteristics of readiness for self-directed learning.

Table of Contents

Chapter One Introduction to the Study	1
Statement of the Problem	
Purpose of the Study	4
Research Questions	5
Theoretical Framework	6
Significance of the Study	7
Delimitations	8
Limitations	8
Outline of the Study	9
Chapter Two Literature Review	
Evaluating Existing Literature	
Gratitude	
Cognitive Development and Gratitude	19
Spiritual Development and Gratitude	
Interventions for Promoting Gratitude	
Measuring Gratitude	
Barriers to Gratitude	
Self-Management	
Desire for Learning	

Self-Control	40
Measuring Readiness for Self-Directed Learning in Nursing Education	40
The Self-Directed Learning Instrument [SDLI]4	41
The Self-Rating Scale of Self-Directed Learning [SRSSDL]4	43
The Self-Directed Learning Readiness Scale [SDLRS]4	45
The Self-Directed Learning Readiness Scale in Nursing [SDLRS-NE]4	47
Facilitating Self-Directed Learning4	48
Barriers to Self-Directed Learning5	50
Gratitude and Connections to Readiness for Self-Directed Learning5	53
Person5	54
Process5	55
Context5	56
Chapter Three Method5	59
Research Design	59
Study Population	50
Instrumentation	51
The Gratitude Questionnaire-Six Item Form [GQ-6]6	51
The Self-Directed Learning Readiness Scale in Nursing Education [SDLRS-NE]	52
The Demographic Questionnaire	53
Procedure	54

Data Analysis	67
Question 1	68
Question 2	69
Question 3	69
Question 4	69
Question 5	69
Question 6	70
Question 7	70
Question 8	70
Conclusion	71
Chapter Four Data Analysis	72
Overview of the Sample	72
Demographics	72
Age	73
Class Rank	73
Instrumentation	74
Gratitude (GQ-6) Questionnaire	74
Readiness for Self-Directed Learning in Nursing Education (SDLRS-NE)	77
Analysis of the Research Questions	80
Conclusion	100

Chapter Five Summary and Conclusions	107
Summary of the Study	107
Evaluation of Measurement	108
Major Findings	
Discussion	
Implications for Practice	
Future Directions for Research	
Conclusion	120
References	
Appendices	
Appendix A	
Appendix B	
Appendix C	
Appendix D	
Appendix E	
Appendix F	
Appendix G	
Vita	155

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Definitions of Key Terms 10
Table 2.1 Summary of Studies Utilizing the SDLRS Measurement Tool 152
Table 2.2 Summary of Studies Utilizing the SDLRS-NE Measurement Tool 154
Table 4. 1 Descriptive Statistics for Age 73
Table 4. 2 Descriptive Statistics for Class Rank 74
Table 4. 3 Scale: Gratitude [GQ-6] Reliability Test 74
Table 4. 4 Cronbach's Alpha Comparison between GQ-6 Questionnaire and Current Literature76
Table 4. 5 Readiness for SDL in Nursing Education [SDLRS-NE] Reliability Test - Total Scale
Table 4. 6 Readiness for SDL in Nursing Education [SDLRS-NE] Reliability Test- Subscales 78
Table 4. 7 Cronbach's Alpha Comparison between SDLRS-NE and Current Literature
Table 4. 8 Pearson's product-moment-correlation coefficient (r) between GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE
Table 4. 9 Spearman's rho (p) Correlation between GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE
Table 4. 10 Pearson's Correlations (r) between GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE, by Subscales
Table 4. 11 Spearman's rho Correlation (p) between GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE, by Subscales 85
Table 4. 12 Spearman's rho Correlation (p) between Gratitude and Age 86
Table 4. 13 Point-Biserial Correlation Coefficient between GQ-6 and Class Rank
Table 4. 14 Spearman's rho (p) Correlation between the Three Subscales of SDLRS-NE and Age

Table 4. 15 Point-Biserial Correlation between the Three Subscales of SDLRS-NE and Class
Rank
Table 4. 16 Mann-Whitney Test between Gratitude and Class Rank 93
Table 4. 17 Mann-Whitney Test between SDLRS-NE and Class Rank
Table 4. 18 Mann-Whitney (U) between Age Groups and Gratitude (GQ-6)
Table 4. 19 Mann-Whitney (U) between Age Groups and Readiness for Self-Directed Learning
(SDLRS-NE)
Table 4. 20 Komogorov-Smirnov Test for GQ-6, SDLRS-NE, Age, and Class Rank
Table 4. 21 Multiple Regression with Stepwise Approach- Desire-to-Learn 101
Table 4. 22 Multiple Regression with Stepwise Approach- Self-Control 102
Table 4. 23 Summary of Findings

 Table 5. 1
 Cronbach's Alpha Results if Items Deleted
 109

List of Figures

Figure 2. 1 A Dyadic Structure of Gratitude	
Figure 2. 2 A Triadic Structure of Gratitude	17
Figure 2. 3 A Quadric Structure of Gratitude	
Figure 4.1 Histogram of GQ-6 Questionnaire	
Figure 4. 2 Histogram for SDLRS-NE Measurement Tool	
Figure 4. 3 Scatterplot between GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE	
Figure 4. 4 Scatterplot for GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE Subscale: Self Management	
Figure 4. 5 Scatterplot for GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE Subscale: Desire-to-Learn	
Figure 4. 6 Scatterplot for GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE Subscale: Self-Control	
Figure 4.7 Scatterplot between GQ-6 and Class Rank	
Figure 4.8 Scatterplot between SDLRS-NE and Class Rank	
Figure 4.9 Residual Plots for GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE	150
Figure 4. 10 Residual Plots for Age and SDLRS-NE	150
Figure 4. 11 Residual Plots for Class Rank and SDLRS-NE	151

Figure 5. 1 The C.A.R.I.N.G Model Created by J.A. Russell and K.R. Vess (2014)...... 117

Chapter One

Introduction to the Study

Gratitude has been described as a character strength, a prosocial behavior, a virtue, and a moral affect. Gratitude in its simplest form is recognizing the receipt of a gift, or an appreciation for a favor received (Emmons & Shelton, 2002). Also, gratitude can be expressed as an enduring thankfulness that is sustained across situations and overtime (Peterson & Seligman, 2004, p. 555). Finally, on a grander scale, Wood, Joseph, and Maltby (2008), suggest that "gratitude represents the quintessential positive personality trait, being an indicator of a worldview oriented towards noticing and appreciating the positives in life" (p. 443).

Gratitude as a researchable topic is currently situated within the realm of positive psychology, which can be described as the scientific endeavor to explore human strengths and virtues versus human ailments (Peterson & Seligman, 2004). The distinction made between positive psychology and contemporary psychology "is that mainstream psychology gives priority to negative behaviors and various forms of dysfunction. Positive Psychology, on the other hand, concentrates on positive experiences and positive character strengths or virtues (Jørgensen & Nafstad, 2004, p. 18). Therefore, positive psychology "revisits the average person, with an interest in finding out what works, what is right, and what is improving" (Jørgensen & Nafstad, 2004, p. 18). With this growing interest in positive psychology, there is a need for exploring how gratitude is developed, learned, and how gratitude may influence other fields of research (Peterson & Seligman, 2004). In fact, according to Howells (2004), "the investigation of the relationship between gratitude and the academic learning process is an unexplored territory upon which the discussion in the fields have barely made a mark" (p. 164).

To address this need, this research endeavor begins by asking: Why gratitude in adult education? This question has been proposed by Howells (2012) who argues that gratitude in education, first, serves "a very important need for students to attend to their being [sense of self] at the same time as their thinking" (p. 2). Second, gratitude may alter one's perspectives away from resentment and entitlement to a perspective that focuses on what one has received (Howells, 2012). Third, as a relational concept (Roberts, 2004), gratitude ties people together, making gratitude a "catalyst for developing harmonious relationships" (Howells, 2012, p. 25). This creates not only an internal acknowledgement that one has been recognized as being valuable, but it also creates an outward acknowledgement that someone else has contributed to one's success or good fortune (Roberts, 2004). Therefore, these connections set the stage for exploring how gratitude can influence not only the relationships within the context of learning, but it also lends itself to exploring gratitude on a more subjective and individual level. Essentially, the examination of gratitude in education provides an opportunity to explore the relationships between gratitude and one's readiness to be self-directed, which can lead to new hypotheses about the role gratitude may play in the learning process.

According to Anderson and Brockett (2007), the greatest potential for connecting positive psychology and adult education is "helping learners to develop a deeper understandings of their learning experiences, and themselves" (Anderson & Brockett, 2007, p. 4). This connection also implies that by developing the "whole" learner, there is room for exploring more humanistic concepts, like gratitude. In addition, if "self-directed learning is the most frequent way adults learn" (Anderson & Brockett, 2007, p. 5), then gratitude, as a positive psychology trait, may have several implications in self-directed learning. Furthermore, Ambrose, Teal, and Vess (2012) present a conceptual model suggesting that the character strengths of positive psychology and the

concepts of self-directed learning can be mutually beneficial. Finally, Howells (2012), concludes that gratitude in education creates a cultural shift from one of exchanges to a culture that builds character and citizenship.

Statement of the Problem

Although empirical evidence has been established for the importance of measuring selfdirected readiness in nursing (Smedley, 2007; Dynan, Cate, & Rhee, 2008; Kocaman, Dicle, & Ugur, 2009) and in adult education (Merriam & Bierema, 2014; Merriam, Caffarella, & Baumgartner, 2007; Caffarella, 1993; Brockett & Hiemstra, 1991; Oddi, 1987), what is lacking is knowing how certain attitudes, emotions, or character strengths (e.g., gratitude) influence the individual nursing student's readiness to be self-directed. Furthermore, the nursing literature specifically lacks any kind of evaluation on how gratitude may influence self-directed readiness, and although gratitude in education has been explored by Howells (2012), there has not been an attempt to connect gratitude to the concepts of self-directed learning.

A starting point for this line of inquiry comes from Lunyk-Child et al. (2001), whose qualitative study explored faculty and students' perceptions of self-directed learning. From this study they found that students "stated that although self-directed learning has positive outcomes, the process of becoming a self-directed learner can be painful" (Lunyk-Child et al., 2001, p.119). This notion, that the experiences of becoming a self-directed learner can be painful, provides significance for determining how positive emotions (e.g., gratitude) can help to alleviate or lessen these negative emotions during the development of self-directed learning skills. From Lunyk-Child et al. (2001) study, what emerges is an understanding that, during self-direction, the students "undergo a transformation that begins with negative feelings (i.e., confusion, frustration, and dissatisfaction) and ends with confidence and skills for lifelong learning" (p. 116). Therefore, the gap in the literature is exploring how gratitude can influence one's readiness for self-directed learning, which I suspect that gratitude may help to alleviate the negative feelings that arise during the process of becoming self-directed.

In fact, gratitude may benefit the self-directed learner's readiness in four distinct ways. "First, gratitude can improve one's experience. Second, gratitude amplifies the positive things in one's social environment. Third, gratitude may encourage self-acceptance through promoting positive affectivity" (Watkins, 2014, p. 251). The fourth benefit of gratitude is best described by Watkins (2014), who states that "when one is able to see and be grateful for the good that comes from bad events they are more able to deal effectively with that event, and this might be another reason why grateful people tend to be happy people" (p. 251). This notion is echoed by Wood et al. (2008) who suggest that, "people who feel a lot of gratitude in life have specific appraisal tendencies that lead them to characteristically appraise the benefits of situations" (p. 282). Therefore, gratitude as it relates here is viewing gratitude as a personal resource that could enhance nursing students' readiness for self-directed learning by developing the essential adaptive skills for assuming the responsibilities for learning, and for having the ability to reframe setbacks (i.e., confusion, frustration, and dissatisfaction) in more proactive ways. Finally, according to Fredrickson (2001) "the take home message is that positive emotions [e.g., gratitude] are worth cultivating, not just as end states in themselves but also as a means to achieving psychological growth and improved well-being over time" (p.218).

Purpose of the Study

Based on a lack of understanding of how gratitude may connect with self-directed readiness, the main purpose of this study is to explore the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program. A better understanding of these relationships may uncover important resources for developing self-directed learning skills. Also, by investigating these relationships within nursing education, nurse educators and students can gain a better understanding of how developing gratitude can not only improve one's learning experience, but they can gain a better understanding of how developing gratitude can enhance the relationships involved in the learning process. Finally, this study will add to the body of knowledge by exploring the relationships between gratitude and the concepts of self-directed learning across research disciplines.

Research Questions

The research questions guiding this correlational study include the following:

- (1) Is there a significant relationship between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program?
- (2) Does a significant relationship exist between gratitude and the three factors of readiness for self-directed learning: (1) self-management, (2) desire to learn, and (3) self-control among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program?
- (3) Is there a significant relationship between gratitude by age and class rank among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program?
- (4) Is there a significant relationship between readiness for self-directed learning and age and class rank among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program?
- (5) Is there a significant difference in gratitude by class rank?
- (6) Is there a significant difference in readiness for self-directed learning by class rank?
- (7) Does gratitude or readiness for self-directed learning differ by age groups (e.g. participants less than 25-yrs of age versus those greater than 25-yrs of age)?

(8) To what extent can the combination of selected demographic variables (i.e. age, class rank) and gratitude scores predict readiness for self-directed learning scores?

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework that provides the boundaries for this study is The Broaden and Build Theory by Fredrickson (2001). Also, I have selected Hiemstra and Brockett's (2012) revised model of self-directed learning; the Person, Process, Context Model [PPC] in an effort to build a bridge between gratitude and self-directed readiness. This conceptual model provides context for the study by assuming that readiness for self-directed learning is situational and maturational. More specially, "the context of one's personal life generates much of [his or her] learning, and [they] may be more comfortable and capable of self-directed learning [SDL] in an area or environment where we have some experience" (Merriam & Bierema, 2014, p. 71). In other words, if students have more positive experiences, have more things to be thankful for because of the opportunities gained from education, and have an overall positive outlook on learning, it is suspected that this positive orientation would influence how one goes about learning.

Furthermore, the Broaden-and-Build Theory ties the humanistic goals of self-directed learning (Brockett & Hiemstra, 1991) with gratitude by exploring the assumption that by experiencing gratitude, "individuals grow and develop, and individuals can transform themselves to become more creative, knowledgeable, resilient, socially integrated, and healthy" (Fredrickson, 2004, p. 153). Also, Fredrickson's Broaden-and-Build Theory suggests that positive emotions build social and personal resources by broadening the repertoires of cognition, attention, flexibility, and certain coping mechanisms (Fredrickson, 2001). This implies that building a positive emotion like gratitude can broaden one's appraisal by increasing "momentary thought-action repertoires for building enduring personal resources" (Fredrickson, 2004). For example, people with a positive outlook are more apt to deal with setbacks (i.e., resilience), find more creative ways of dealing with setbacks (i.e., coping), and have a more global appreciation for change (i.e., flexibility) (Fredrickson, 2001). Finally, according to the Broaden-and-Build Theory, the development of positive emotions are cumulative and this creates an upward spiral of positivity and positive adaptability (Fredrickson, 2001).

Significance of the Study

The significance of this study is to expand the boundaries of self-directed learning by exploring other potential influencing variables related to readiness for self-directed learning. Furthermore, this study addresses an identified gap within the literature, where many have called for more research. For example, support can be found in Oddi's (1987) comment that "the linking of self-directed learning and personality could provide a unified and comprehensive framework within which various other aspects of self-directed learning could be studied and interrelated" (p. 28). In addition, DeJoy and Herrmann (1993) suggest that an important part of any successful educational ventures for adult learners includes addressing the feelings and emotions associated with those ventures. Therefore, the examination of gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning is a significant first step in exploring how positive emotions relate to learning. Moreover, this need for more research is echoed by Bruin (2007) and Spears (1992). According to Bruin (2007), "the relationship between personality and self-directed learning have not been the focus of much research" (p. 228). And according to Spear (1992), "the search for personality traits, as well as the verification of skills and attitudes, continue to command attention" (p. 129). Lastly, the significance of this exploratory study is found in the following statement by Emmons (2004), who states "given that gratitude is a fundamental attribute of

human beings and a potential key to human flourishing, we should endeavor to learn as much as we can about its origins, its forms of expression, and its consequences for individual and collective functioning" (p. 13).

Delimitations

In clarifying the specific boundaries of this study, several delimitations have been established. First, the time for collecting survey date will begin on October 20th, 2014 and data collection will end on November 20th, 2014 at midnight. Second, the location for this study will be a four-year baccalaureate nursing program situated within a private, faith-based college in the Southeast United States. The sample for this study includes only those individuals who meet the predetermined criteria. The criteria for this study include:

- 1. Participants must be enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program, and considered to be a full-time student (at least 12 credit hours per semester);
- 2. Participants must be able to read and interpret English;
- 3. Participants must voluntarily complete questionnaires;
- 4. Participants must be 18 years or older and sign an informed consent form.
- 5. The setting for this study will be situated in a private faith-based institution.

Limitations

The limitations of this study include the generalizability of findings due to sample size, the small scale of this study, and the use of a correlational design. Although correlational designs are useful for determining relationships between concepts and for generating new hypotheses, they cannot be used to establish causation. A second limitation is the inability to control all extraneous variables because of the subjective nature of measuring attitudes, beliefs, and perceptions. Third, there are some threats to validity and reliability, such as participants' responses to the surveys may be influenced by social desirability, or a desire to answer "in a way that seems socially desirable" (Bordens & Abbott, 2011, p. 273). Finally, other response biases may influence results, for example, "when individuals consistently select extreme alternatives" (Polit & Beck, 2004, p. 358).

Outline of the Study

Having established the key variables for this study (i.e., gratitude and readiness for selfdirected learning) in Chapter One and in Table 1.1. In Chapter Two, a synthesis of the literature will be presented to establish what is known and not known about these key variables. Next, I will transition into the Method Section by describing the research questions that will inform the research design. Following this, the Design, Procedures, and Analysis are described.

Table 1.1

Definitions of Key Terms

Term	Citation	Definition
Self-directed Learning in Nursing Education	Lunyk-Child et al., (2001)	Self-directed learning is oriented towards "defining personal objectives, understanding the dynamics of behavior changes, information acquisition /assimilation of self-evaluation are acquired with the context of a respectful and facilitative teacher- learner relationship where students take responsibility for their own learning" (p. 116)
Readiness for Self-directed Learning	Wiley (1983)	"The degree [to which] the individual possess the attitudes, abilities and personal characteristics necessary for self- directed learning" (p. 182).
Readiness for Self-directed Learning in Nursing Education	Fisher, King, & Tague, (2001)	Readiness for self-directed learning comprised of three essential characteristics: (1) self- management, (2) desire for learning, (3) self-control.
Self-Management	Garrison (1997)	"Indicates an aspect of external task control specific to the management of learning activities, which are intimately linked with goal setting and metacognitive strategies. Self-management is concerned with task control issues" (p. 22).

Table 1.1 Continued

Term	Citation	Definition
Desire-to-Learn	Merriam & Bierema, (2014)	"Learning for the love of intellectual challenge, or desire to achieve mastery of a topic, or practice for the satisfaction it brings" (p.147).
Self-Control	Garrison (1997)	"The process whereby the learner takes responsibility for the construction of personal meaning" (p. 24).
Gratitude	Wood, Froh, & Gereghty (2010)	"Is part of a wider life orientation towards noticing and appreciating the positive in the world" (p. 891).
Gratitude in Education		Gratitude is a relational concept, built on acknowledging and appreciating not only the benefits one has received, but it is a state of awareness oriented towards appreciating the broader connections to something other than oneself.

Chapter Two

Literature Review

The study of gratitude has experienced tremendous growth over the past 10 years, and this can be attributed to the conclusion by Peterson and Seligman's (2004) that "given that gratitude has potentially important consequences for individuals and society, it is remarkable that psychologists specializing in the study of emotions have, by large, failed to explore its contours" (p. 557). As this line of inquiry expands into helping individuals and societies flourish, it is time for adult educators to determine its place in adult education. Therefore, as stated in Chapter One, the purpose of this study is to explore the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program. In this chapter, a review of the relevant literature related to gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning will be reviewed, as well as the potential connections between concepts. For organization, this chapter is divided into three main sections. The first section is a review of the literature regarding gratitude. The second section reviews the literature related to self-directed learning and the concepts of readiness (self-management, desire for learning, and self-control), and this review will conclude by describing how these two concepts can be mutually supportive.

Evaluating Existing Literature

A comprehensive search of Academic Premier, PsycINFO, Google Scholar, Web of Science, and CINAL databases were accessed to obtain the current literature (2006-2012) relevant to gratitude, readiness for self-directed learning, and self-directed learning. Several search terms were used to collect and identify important literature. For the concept of gratitude, I used the following terms: "gratitude," "gratitude and education," "gratitude and spirituality," "gratitude and well-being," and "measuring gratitude." In the same fashion, I used the following terms to explore readiness for self-directed learning: "self-directed learning," "readiness for selfdirected learning," "emotions and self-directed learning," "measuring self-directed learning," "facilitating self-directed learning in nursing," and "barriers to self-directed learning." To provide clarity to the constructs of gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning, I expanded the literature review when meaningful articles were discovered. In addition, the reference list provided by original works were reviewed to expand the search for defining, clarifying, and measuring the constructs. I also searched specific journals (e.g., The Journal of Positive Psychology, Cognition and Emotion, Journal of Advanced Nursing, Journal of Professional Nursing, Journal of Nursing Education, Nurse Education Today, and The International Journal of Self-directed Learning) for discipline specific articles. The exclusion of articles were based on publication year and its relevance to gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning. Furthermore, due to the limited amount of research testing gratitude within nursing and adult education, literature from other disciplines were explored to support conclusions. Finally, the literature produced by the experts in gratitude and self-directed learning were reviewed through the examination of their published works, which included peer-reviewed articles, instrumentation development, and published books.

Gratitude

Gratitude, as a concept, has been defined in multiple ways. For example, gratitude has been defined as a character strength (Peterson & Seligman, 2004), a prosocial behavior (McCullough & Tsang, 2004), a moral motivator (Shelton, 2004), a dispositional trait (McCullough, Emmons, & Tsang, 2002; Watkins, Woodward, Stone & Kolts, 2003), a positive emotion (Fredrickson, 2004), and a virtue (Emmons, 2004; Emmons, 2012). However, like other broad concepts, growth in the empirical and conceptual literature have blurred the lines used to define what gratitude is and its many subforms. Therefore, I will begin with an inductive approach to describe gratitude in its most basic form, and then I will move outward to explore the boundaries of gratitude with hopes to provide a workable framework for defining the depth and brevity of gratitude as a timeless topic of inquiry.

Gratitude in its simplest form is recognizing the receipt of a gift, or an appreciation for a favor received (Emmons & Shelton, 2002). Gratitude is defined by Oxford's American Pocket Dictionary (2002) as a state of "being thankful; [a] readiness to return kindness" (p. 344), and by Webster's New Explorer College Dictionary (2007) as "a state of being grateful; thankfulness" (p.414). For clarity, grateful and thankful mean "feeling or expressing gratitude: Grateful applies to appreciation for having received favors from other persons; thankful suggests a more generalized acknowledgement of what is vaguely felt to be providential" (Webster's New Explorer College Dictionary, 2007, p. 414). This language is important for understanding how gratitude has been used within the literature.

First, the recognition of a gift and the appreciation for that gift denotes gratitude as an emotional/personality trait. "As a trait, gratitude is expressed as an enduring thankfulness that is sustained across situations and overtime" (Peterson & Seligman, 2004, p. 555). At a higher level of abstraction, the distinction between personal and transpersonal forms of gratitude is "a sense of thankfulness and joy in response to receiving a gift, whether the gift be a tangible benefit from a specific other or a moment of peaceful bliss evoked by natural beauty" (Peterson & Seligman, 2004, p. 554). For example, this higher level of gratitude is the gratefulness felt during peak experiences (Peterson & Seligman, 2004). The cornerstone of gratitude is the notion of underserved merit; it is freely bestowed, and it is a willingness to recognize the unearned increments of value in one's experiences (Emmons & Shelton, 2002). At the highest level of

abstraction, gratitude is described as the parent of all virtues because of its contribution to living well (Wood, Joseph, & Linley, 2007). Virtues are defined as those good habits that "connote excellence in personal character" (Emmons & Shelton, 2002, p. 462). As a virtue or moral affect, gratitude benefits both the individual and society because gratitude helps to build relationships, and these relationships are essential to the survival and well-being of individuals, groups, and societies (Emmons, 2008). This building of relationships reflects an outward consequence of gratitude, which is the promotion of prosocial behaviors, and it is within these prosocial behaviors that gratitude operates at its deepest level; in essence, gratitude at this level is:

An interior depth we experience, which orients us to an acknowledged dependences, out of which flows a profound sense of being gifted. This way of being, in turn, elicits a humility, just as it nourishes our goodness. As a consequence, when truly grateful, we are led to experience and interpret life situations in ways that call forth from us an openness to and engagement with the world through purposeful actions, to share and increase the very good we have received. From a psychological perspective, this fullest sense of

gratitude represents a substantial altering of a person's outlook. (Shelton, 2004, p. 273) With gratitude taking on so many forms and broad definitions, a usable framework is helpful when describing the current boundaries of gratitude as a concept. Building on Gulliford, Morgan, and Kristjánsson's (2013) recent literature review, the following examples are used to describe the structures of gratitude. These structures are referred to as a dyadic, triadic, and a quadratic relationship. Finally, as a frame of reference, gratitude can be understood as either generalized or directed towards someone or something. A dyadic relationship (see Figure 2.1), "envisages gratitude as the habitual focusing on and appreciation of the positive benefits that life brings in the absence of any specific benefactor" (Gulliford et al., 2013, p. 301). Examples of this definition within the literature can be found in Wood, Joseph, & Maltby's (2008) definition that "gratitude represents the quintessential positive personality trait, being an indicator of a worldview oriented towards noticing and appreciating the positive in life" (p. 443).



Figure 2.1

A Dyadic Structure of Gratitude

In addition, Lambert, Graham, and Finchman (2009) consider this generalized sense of gratitude as being a "state of awareness or appreciation for that which is valuable and meaningful to oneself" (p. 1194). Stated another way, gratitude within this dyadic structure is a way of putting one's life in perspective, or as Wood et al. (2010) theorizes, gratitude "can be seen as a wider life orientation towards noticing and appreciating the positive aspects of life" (p. 891). Finally, according to Gulliford et al. (2013) "ordinary language already harbors an independent concept of what some theorists want to call generalized gratitude. That concept is "appreciation" and it is clearly dyadic in nature. It denotes a relationship where the person acknowledges the value and meaning of this state and feels an emotional connection to it" (p. 301).

A triadic relationship (see Figure 2.2), was first developed by Roberts (2004), which denotes a relationship between three factors: the beneficiary, the benefactor, and the gift.



Figure 2.2

A Triadic Structure of Gratitude

These relational ideas tie people together, because "the focus can be either the gift, the giver, or the receiver" (Roberts, 2004, p. 61). This creates not only an internal acknowledgement that one has been recognized as being valuable, it also creates an outward acknowledgement that someone else has contributed to one's success or good fortune (Roberts, 2004). Watkins (2014) summarizes these ideas in the following way, "in this view, gratitude is expressed as a token of appreciation for the benefit and for the beneficiary's relationship with the benefactor, and the beneficiary gives back to their benefactor not because they have to, but rather because they want to" (p. 37). Therefore, this triadic structure helps to distinguish gratitude as an essential social emotion promoting prosocial behaviors through moral actions.

For example, gratitude is said to have three moral functions: it acts as a moral barometer, a moral motive, and a moral reinforcer (McCullough, Kilpatrick, Emmons, & Larson, 2001). As a moral barometer, "gratitude is dependent on social-cognitive input" (McCullough & Tsang, 2004, p. 125), and it is essentially an "affective readout that is sensitive to a particular type of change in one's social relationships" (McCullough et al., 2001, p. 252). As a moral motive, gratitude promotes prosocial behaviors (Watkins, 2014). Third, as a moral reinforcer, gratitude, "provides positive reinforcement of prosocial behaviors" (Watkins, 2014, p. 242). Lastly, "the

moral principles [most] relevant to gratitude are reciprocity and equity" (McCullough & Tsang, 2004, p. 134).

Therefore, gratitude, as a moral affect, "produces the moral behaviors that are motivated out of concern for another person" (McCullough et al., 2001, p. 251), and it is the search for the "goodness" in others. It is here in this triadic relationship of gratitude that these conceptual ideas of gratitude become more tangible outcomes by promoting prosocial behaviors oriented toward building social relationships and promoting civility. Furthermore, this sets the stage for understanding how gratitude can motivate prosocial behaviors through the processing of positive emotions into actions, and it helps to explain the functionality of gratitude (Watkins, 2014). Finally, what is missing from this triadic relationship is knowing how gratitude affects others, which transitions this framework into the quadratic relationship structure.

A quadratic relationship (see Figure 2.3), questions the role of vicarious gratitude experiences on a third party (Gulliford et al., 2013).





A Quadric Structure of Gratitude

An example of a vicarious gratitude generating experience would be an event where my (the 3rd party in this case) level of gratitude increases by watching a grateful exchange between a nursing student and his or her patient, because the experience of caring for others is an experience shared between myself and the student. For clarity, these experiences are considered communal gains, "the third party and the beneficiary are tied together in the same community and therefore what the beneficiary gains the 3rd party also gains" (Gulliford et al., 2013, p. 306). This particular structure of gratitude expands the prosocial characteristics of gratitude because communal gains increase social worth by generating feelings that such actions are accepted and valued within the community (Gulliford et al., 2013), which further explains how gratitude can positively influence culture.

To summarize the conceptual literature, gratitude can be understood in two distinct ways: first, gratitude is a more generalized or umbrella term describing a particular worldview oriented towards noticing and appreciating the positive aspects of one's life. Second, gratitude and its subforms are targeted expressions of grateful feelings or emotions, which display the outward expression of emotions through action. The conclusion from these structural views of gratitude is the importance of clarifying, and explicitly stating what form or forms of gratitude that is being examined or studied and how this informs the practicality of gratitude. To this end, if gratitude is more than a feeling, and it is a trait to be desired, sought after, and nurtured, then the next step is to explore how gratitude is developed and what impact gratitude may have on one's sense of self, or one's relationship with others.

Cognitive Development and Gratitude

From a developmental perspective, gratitude is thought to be a maturational process. Assuming that growth does not occur in isolation but in the context of everyday life, I propose that gratitude, as a relational concept, not only promotes personal growth, but it promotes collective growth through civility. However, the first question to answer is whether or not a person must be at a specific cognitive level before a grateful disposition can be reached. I begin with McAdams and Bauer's (2004) developmental thoughts that the full experience of gratitude begins in childhood when a child develops a subjective sense of self. According to McAdams and Bauer (2004), "at this time, children first become to own their experiences, to apprehend what they do, think, and feel as belonging to them" (p. 88). As this sense of self develops, the next stage is seeing oneself as an intentional agent and seeing others in the same light. More specifically, "as an intentional agent, gratitude assumes some basic understanding that human agents intend to do things over time, for which one may feel some sense of gratefulness" (McAdams & Bauer, 2004, p. 88). Furthermore, Froh et al. (2011) suggest that gratitude emerges in childhood through the interactions with one's environment and "that the experiences of gratitude increase as children matures" (p. 3). For a more direct answer, "gratitude likely emerges between seven and 10 years of age because it becomes more unique; tied to those social-cognitive judgments" (Froh et al., 2011, p. 3). This implies that through the process of maturity, the child is able to understand others' intentions. For example, children at this level are able to interpret the intentions of the benefactor's (Froh et al., 2011).

As the child advances into the adolescent years, Froh et al. (2011) suggest that the ability to empathize is a strong catalyst for developing gratitude. This ability to empathize is driven by advancing social-cognitive appraisal. At this stage the adolescent "sees him/herself and others in more complex ways" (McAdams & Bauer, 2004, p. 90). Through the influences of the environment, the adolescent creates an internalized theory that motivates behaviors, attitudes, and beliefs (McAdams & Bauer, 2004). This implies that as a person develops, gratitude

develops as an accumulative process of interpretations of the intentions of others, and seeing oneself in a complex and dynamic social environment. Finally, as this understanding grows, it is possible for the person to expand one's focus to include more and more things to be thankful for (McAdams & Bauer, 2004).

In my efforts to solidify this notion of cognitive development and the formation of gratitude, I turn to Kegan's (1994) work on ways of knowing. Kegan's ways of knowing amplifies the works of McAdams & Bauer (2004) and Froh et al. (2011) by describing how the child/adolescent views his or her world. According to Kegan (1994), the evolving "self" moves from independent elements, to durable categories, to finally, cross-categorical ways of meaningmaking. For example, a child begins in an egocentric moment-to-moment expression of thoughts and feelings. At this stage there is no identification of others, only a sense of "*I*". Gratitude at this stage would be an immediate emotional response associated with grateful feelings. As this way of knowing advances into durable categories, the child is able to organize thoughts into categories. This allows for the introduction of others points of view, and the realization of self compared to others; there are now multiple points of view. It is also during this phase that more concrete and logical decision making occurs. Therefore, as this stage relates to gratitude, it may be seen as a mechanism of reward: "I will be rewarded if I share my toys." This example exemplifies this dual category mentality, meaning it's not about doing nice things for others, but it's more for the rewards I will receive because of the kind act.

As durable categories transition into cross-categorical ways of knowing, the person is able to notice the interactions between categories. According to Kegan (1994), this "makes their thinking [more] abstract, their feelings a matter of inner states and self-reflective emotion, and their social relating capable of ideas larger than the self" (pp. 31-32). This notion of seeing the interactions between self and others, and seeing the self in relation to others, is a fundamental component of Roberts (2004) aforementioned relational definition of gratitude: "the gift, the giver, and the benefactor" (p. 61). It moves the moment-to-moment experiences of gratitude into a more generalized sense of gratitude by being able to internalize and interpret the multiple relationships one is thankful for. If each phase does not occur in a sequential fashion, but rather these "relation[s] are transformative, qualitative, and incorporative" (Kegan, 1994, p. 33), then it seems reasonable to assume that in order to reach the highest level of gratitude (a grateful disposition), one would need to have some capacity for cross-categorical ways of knowing. More specifically, one would need an outward focus, an ability to see, interpret, and formulate meaning from others in the context of their experience. However, this does not answer whether or not one can learn to be more grateful. Therefore, this question flows nicely into the theoretical ideas of the social-cognitive model. This model may provide some useful insights into how someone can learn to broaden one's relational perceptions.

Because it is the interpretation of experiences that expands relational perceptions, the social-cognitive model adds the notion of benefit appraisal. This can bridge state levels of gratitude (independent elements and durable categories) to trait levels of gratitude (cross-categorical ways of knowing) through the appraisal of value, cost, and genuine helpfulness of an experience (Wood, Maltby, Stewart, & Linley, 2008). There are four basic assumptions of this model, which include: (1) people perceive aid/help from others differently, (2) recognizing aid/help as a benefit produces state gratitude, (3) those with higher trait levels of gratitude will have a stronger benefit appraisal, and (4) this higher benefit appraisal explains the association between state and trait levels of gratitude (Wood et al., 2008). The value of using this model for explaining how a person can broaden his/her level of knowing (i.e., gratitude) is that through
benefit appraisal, one can develop an outward appreciation for others. In fact, the very socialcognitive nature of this model "integrates social situations, individual difference, and the mediating cognitive mechanisms [meaning-making]" (Wood et al., 2008, p. 282) needed to interpret experiences.

In evaluating value, cost, and genuine helpfulness, the social-cognitive model has been shown to explain that "state gratitude is largely determined by situations and their interpretations, with trait gratitude being a smaller but more robust determinant of state through the mediating mechanism of benefit appraisal" (Wood et al., 2008, p. 285). This implies that appraisal is the primary predictor of state gratitude, and this is situational and highly individualized as the person assigns the value, cost, and the degree of genuine helpfulness to his or her experience. By knowing that appraisal is individualized, the next step is to understanding how appraisal can increase ways of knowing (i.e., gratitude) by determining on an individual level what is valuable, costly, and genuinely helpful (Wood et al., 2008). Expanding these ideas can help to uncover the schematic thought processes of not only trait gratitude but it advances current gratitude interventions geared toward developing the skills for trait gratitude (Wood et al., 2008).

In concluding this section, it appears that a higher level of cognitive functioning is needed for trait gratitude, or a more complex way of knowing (Kegan, 1994). However, the social-cognitive model opens the door for hypothesizing about how individuals can not only expand ways of knowing, but through benefit appraisal, grateful experiences can eventually lead to a more generalized form of gratitude. Therefore this ties together the thought that growth does not occur in isolation, but personal growth is driven by the social contexts of one's life. Finally, increasing one's level of benefit appraisal also enhances the relational definition of gratitude by expanding one's relational perceptions to include others through new schematic thinking.

Spiritual Development and Gratitude

Although not a requirement, spirituality and religiosity have greatly influenced the current understanding of gratitude. It is important, first, to distinguish the difference between spirituality and religiosity and describe how they relate to gratitude. Following Watkins (2014), the spirituality referred to here is the more inclusive idea of spiritual transcendence. According to Watkins (2014), spiritual transcendence "refers to a nondenominational spirituality where an individual is able to stand outside of her or his immediate place in time and space, and see one's place in the context of 'the big picture'" (p. 89). Said another way, spiritual transcendence is "having coherent beliefs about the higher purpose and meaning of the universe; knowing where one fits within the larger scheme" (Peterson & Seligman, 2004, p. 30). More importantly, "individuals high in spiritual transcendence are able to see that life has a larger meaning beyond the self" (Watkins, 2014, p. 89), or it can be the "participation in a divine relationship" (Peterson & Webb, 2006, p. 109).

Gratitude, as it relates to spirituality, is the notion that higher levels of spiritual transcendence can amplify the amount of gratitude one experiences and expresses, and vice versa (Emmons & Kneezel, 2005). For example, in Emmons and Kneezel's (2005) correlational study on spirituality and religion, they found that spiritual transcendence was positively correlated to dispositional gratitude. They rationalized this finding as "grateful people are thus more likely to acknowledge a belief in the interconnectedness of all life and a commitment to and responsibility to others. In that they see life as a part of a wider, or transcendent context" (p. 145). More experimental testing will be needed to support this positive correlation, but one could also rationalize this relationship by referring to the relational attributes of gratitude. More explicitly, a relationship with a divine benefactor (Emmons & Kneezel, 2005). When one is more acutely

aware of the abundant gifts in one's life, including gifts that cannot be associated with another human, one may look to a higher power as being the benefactor. Furthermore, this notion is echoed by Watkins (2014) who states "in the context of a benefit with no obvious human benefactor–creates a situation where one is more likely to believe in a supreme benevolent being such as God" (p. 94).

With regard to religiosity, this section focuses on intrinsic religiosity versus external religiosity. The rationale for focusing on intrinsic religiosity stems from Tsang, Schulwitz, and Carlisle's (2012) conceptualization that the "intrinsically religious allows religious teachings and compassions to motivate their entire lives; whereas, extrinsically religious people latch onto religion for comfort but do not internalize religious teachings" (p. 41). Furthermore, Watkins, Woodward, Stone, and Kolts (2003), found that "individuals who engage in religious practice as an end in itself tend to be more grateful, but those engaged in more instrumental [extrinsic] religiosity tend to be less grateful" (p. 440). Based on these rationales, intrinsic religiosity as it is defined here refers to a "mature personality centered on [his or her] religious beliefs" (Tsang et al., 2012, p. 41).

In referencing the empirical literature, correlational studies have shown a relationship between trait gratitude and religious practices (Emmons & Kneezel, 2005), religious orientation (Watkins et al, 2003), religious coping (Emmons & Kneezel, 2005), and finally, a more secure attachment to God (Watkins, 2014). Further support emerges from Rosmarin et al. (2011) who found that "the interaction of religion commitment and religious gratitude added unique variance in predicting mental well-being; suggesting that being grateful to God enhances the psychological benefits of gratitude" (p. 389). From Lambert et al. (2009), they propose three rationales for acknowledging the relationship between gratitude and religion. First, different forms of religion, beyond Christianity, promote /encourage gratitude. Second, those who consider themselves to be more religiously oriented may be more inclined to attribute positive events, such as appreciating the beauty of nature as gifts from God, which builds grateful emotions. Third, religious individuals may actively seek opportunities to enhance gratitude. Therefore, from these assumptions Lambert et al. (2009) hypothesized and tested that "common religious practices of thanking God in prayer is a likely explanation for this relationship" (p. 140).

As with spirituality, the supporting evidence for the relationship between religion and gratitude remains in the early stages, and more cause and effect investigations are needed. However, in an effort to move beyond correlational studies and to establish causal relationships, Lambert et al. (2009) conducted four studies measuring not only the relationship between pray and gratitude, but measured the effects of prayer on participant's level of gratitude. Within this study, participants were randomly assigned into four conditions: (1) daily prayer condition focused on his/her romantic partner; (2) general daily prayer condition; (3) daily positive thinking condition. According to Lambert et al. (2009) "we found that participants who were randomly assigned to pray evidenced greater gratitude than those who were randomly assigned to a control condition" (p. 146). A broader explanation for this relationship may come from Adler and Fagley (2005) who associate prayer with rituals. According to Adler and Fagley (2005) "rituals help us to stop and take notice of the things around us" (p. 82). Therefore, based on this explanation, prayer, like rituals, may serve as an on-going reminder to be thankful for the gifts one has.

Self-Authoring and Gratitude

In this final section of development, I suggest that gratitude could be a form of selfauthorship. The self-authorship referred to here is a "self-authorship that can coordinate, integrate, act upon, or invent values, beliefs, convictions, generalizations, ideals, abstractions, interpersonal loyalties, and intrapersonal states" (Kegan, 1994, p. 185). Furthermore, this selfauthoring "involves each person determining for him or herself how to construct mutually beneficial relationships" (Baxter-Magolda, 2008, p. 271). Based on these definitions, can gratitude be a mechanism for becoming self-authoring? This may be answered by, first, looking at how gratitude is applied in everyday life, and secondly, by exploring how gratitude influences one's system of belief.

Beginning with gratitude in everyday life, Watkins et al. (2003) found a moderate correlation between gratitude and internal locus of control. Citing his previous study, Watkins (2014) states that "a person with an internal locus of control does not expect others to contribute to their future well-being; they believe that they themselves are in control of their well-being" (p. 82). This sense of control over one's level of well-being builds a supportive link for gratitude and self-authorship. For example, taking this notion of locus of control, or control over one's own well-being, is similar to the idea that an individual's identity is "not authored by them [others], but it authors them" (Kegan, 1994, p. 184). Stating this idea more clearly is to say that a grateful person's level of well-being is not authored by others, but a grateful person is the author of his/her gratitude. This means that there is a sense of control, a sense of ownership in choosing to be more aware of the many benefits one has obtained. The next supportive link for this notion comes from Kegan (1994) who states that "the self-authoring capacity to 'decide for myself' does not have to implicate the stylistic preference to 'decide by myself'" (p. 219). This

27

implies that there can be self-authoring qualities to gratitude. For example, gratitude, as a relational concept between the self, others, and the gift, can become self-authoring because the person has control over how he/she recognizes and perceives a benefit. More specifically, the person can regulate, construct, and amplify the degree of gratitude felt by authoring those feelings. The third supportive link is the idea that a self-authoring person can create a system "that acts upon the psychological surroundings and authors its own values, it is made up by connections according to its own standards" (Kegan, 1994, p. 224).

The connection to gratitude can be found in how grateful people experience gratitude. In fact, McCullough, Tsang, and Emmons (2004) state that "because of dispositionally grateful people's proneness to grateful moods is driven so strongly by personality, their grateful moods may be less dependent on the ebb and flow of gratitude-relevant life events" (p. 307). Therefore, this implies that a high disposition for gratitude is not only sustaining, but it exemplifies internal cognitive processes that are essential for self-authoring. Finally, self-authorship is supported by the following thought: "a gracious gift offered freely must still be received" (Anderson, Quarles [Mike], & Quarles [Julia], p. 58).

Interventions for Promoting Gratitude

Interventions for promoting gratitude are not only aimed at cultivating an attitude of gratitude, but it is ultimately about increasing one's sense of well-being. Currently, there are two, very similar, definitions utilized to defining interventions for promoting well-being. First, Lyubomirsky and Layous (2013) define "positive activities as simple, intentional, and regular practices meant to mimic a myriad of healthy thoughts and behaviors associated with naturally happy people" (p. 57). Second, according to Toepher, Cichy, and Peters (2011), positive activities are intentional and self-directed acts oriented toward improving one's own happiness.

This has important implications for explaining how these activities promote the important mechanisms for building resilience, sustaining a positive mood, and promoting intrinsic motivation (Toepher et al., 2011).

It is proposed that the interventions for cultivating gratitude are unique and individualized (Howells, 2012), and there is an initial investment required before one can experience the rewards from developing a practice of gratitude (Emmons, 2013). Currently, empirical testing on positive interventions have included such activities as "counting one's blessings, performing kind acts, cultivating strengths, visualizing one's ideal future self, and meditation" (Lyubomirsky & Layous, 2013, p. 57). Of these interventions, gratitude recounting has been the most extensively tested intervention (Watkins, 2014). Gratitude recounting is described as creating a simple list of three to five items one is thankful for, which aims to identify the benefits one's has in his or her life (Wood et al., 2010). Other common gratitude interventions are expressive letter writing and grateful reflections. Expressive gratitude letters has been tested by Toepfer et al. (2011), and from their research, they found that "writing letters of gratitude increased participants' happiness and life satisfaction, while decreasing depressive symptoms" (p. 187). Furthermore, Toepfer et al. (2011) suggests that the value in writing about gratitude versus simple listing is that writing shapes one's experiences with gratitude in an organized framework that promotes ownership of one's own well-being and emotions. Grateful reflections can also, according to Watkins (2014), be a silent process of thinking about benefits and those responsible for providing them. Citing his previous works, Watkins (2014), found that "simply reflecting on someone that one is grateful for (for a 5 min period) produced significant increases in positive affect, and this intervention appeared to have a greater impact than gratitude listing" (p. 228). Furthermore, the importance of providing different methods for cultivating gratitude is that these

options can provide variety, which prevents habituation and promote optimal application of these interventions.

To expand these ideas, Lyubomirsky and Layous (2013) suggest that there are a few key components to keep in mind when developing positive activities. These include "(1) features of the activity, (2) features of the person, and (3) person-activity fit" (p. 58). The features of the activity are influenced by time, dosage, social support, variety, and triggers, which can be summarized by the idea that selecting frequency and type of activity is an individualized process, and that the individual must decide for him or herself the frequency. One interesting note about the features of the activity is that variety matters. By developing multiple methods of practicing gratitude, the individual can keep their practice new, and they evolve into greater depth and broader applications of gratitude in his or her personal life. Finally, Lyubomirsky and Layous (2013) states that motivation and personal engagement greatly effects the ability to develop and cultivate grateful feelings, "for people to benefit from a positive activity, they have to effortfully engage in it, be motivated to become happier, and believe that their efforts will pay off" (p. 59).

Measuring Gratitude

Currently, there are four scales utilized to measure gratitude (Peterson & Seligman, 2004). For this review I will focus on *The Gratitude Questionnaire (GQ-6)* (McCullough, Emmons, & Tsang, 2002) and *The GRAT (Gratitude, Resentment, Appreciation Test)* (Watkins, Woodward, Stone & Kolts, 2003) because of their influences on current research, and I will begin with the GQ-6 measurement tool. McCullough et al. (2002) explore gratitude as an affective trait and describe a grateful disposition as "a generalized tendency to recognize and respond with grateful emotion to the roles of other people's benevolence in the positive experiences and outcomes that one obtains" (p. 112). To make this definition operational, the

facets of a grateful disposition (i.e., an affective trait) are described as intensity, frequency, span, and density (McCullough et al., 2002). Intensity implies that someone who has a stronger grateful disposition would have more intense feelings of gratitude than someone with a lower disposition (McCullough et al., 2002). Frequency of grateful feelings is increased in a person with a grateful disposition (McCullough, et al., 2002). Span refers to the number of life events or circumstances that a grateful person is thankful for in that moment (McCullough et al., 2002). Finally, density describes the proportion or number of persons to whom a grateful person feels gratitude toward for the successes in one's life (McCullough et al., 2002).

Therefore, the GQ-6 measures the degree of gratitude participants feel using a 7-point Likert scale. This six-question survey tests the operational definition describing intensity, frequency, span, and density (McCullough et al., 2002). Reliability and validity of the GQ-6 scale was tested in three different studies, which established strong psychometric properties. These studies explored the construct of gratitude against other constructs (i.e., vitality, optimism, hope, materialism, and envy), and against other scales (i.e., Life Satisfaction Scale, The Big Five Self-Rating Scale, and the Values-Orientation Materialism Scale). Study One yielded a Cronbach's alpha of 0.85 and interrater reliability at 0.65 (McCullough, et al., 2002). Study Two yielded a Cronbach's alpha of 0.81 and goodness of fit at 56.83, p<.001. Study Three measured gratitude against materialism and envy, with results indicating a negative correlation between gratitude and materialism and envy (r = -0.39). Finally, these results indicate that the GQ-6 scale is a valid instrument, and it "includes a robust one-factor structure and high internal consistency" (McCullough et al., 2002, p. 124).

The GRAT (Gratitude, Resentment, Appreciation Test) developed by Watkins et al. (2003), also measures gratitude as an affective trait. However, the distinctive feature of this scale is the connection between gratitude and subjective well-being. The operational definition of a grateful person is comprised of four distinct characteristics:

- Grateful individuals would not feel deprived in life, but grateful individuals should have a sense of abundance (Watkins et al., 2003).
- Grateful individuals would be appreciative of the contribution of others to their well-being (Watkins et al., 2003).
- Grateful persons would be characterized by the tendency to appreciate simple pleasures (those pleasures in life that are readily available to most people)
 (Watkins et al., 2003). Individuals who appreciate simple pleasures should be more prone to experience grateful feelings because they will experience subjective benefits more frequently in their daily lives.
- Grateful individuals should acknowledge the importance of experiencing and expressing gratitude (Watkins et al., 2003).

This operational definition led to the creation of a 44-item questionnaire with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.91 (Watkins et al., 2003). The first study showed strong internal consistency. Study Two tested the GRAT questionnaire against nine other scales (Life Satisfaction, Positive and Negative Affectivity Scale, Life Event Questionnaire, Locus of Control, Religious Orientation, Differential Feeling and Mood Status, Depression Inventory, Aggressive Questionnaire, and the Selfism Scale) with findings indicating that gratitude was more strongly related to a positive affect than to a negative affect (Watkins et al., 2003). In Study Three gratitude was measured against mood, and again the GRAT was positively related to measures of subjective well-being, and negatively related to depression (Watkins et al., 2003).

The fundamental question here is how have these instruments influenced our current understanding of gratitude? To begin, research in gratitude has mostly focused on correlational studies aimed at determining relationships between gratitude and other positive personality characteristics. The aforementioned measurement studies are examples of these correlational studies. In addition, Wood, Joseph, and Maltby (2008), provide evidence that gratitude is positively correlated with a full range of positive well-being variables, supporting the position "that gratitude is related to a life that is meaningful, predictive of personal growth, increases personal acceptance, and promotes positive relationships with others" (p. 446). The movement into more experimental designs, especially longitudinal studies, continues to need further development (Peterson & Seligman, 2004). However, the most contributory findings in recent research include the exploration of gratitude in the youth population (Froth et al., 2011), and longitudinal studies exploring the role of gratitude in developing social support, stress, and depression (Wood, Maltby, Gillett, Linley, & Joseph, 2008). Froh et al., (2011) demonstrated that gratitude has a component of development across the life-span. In addition, Wood et al., (2008) concluded that gratitude "seems to directly foster social support, and protects people from stress and depression, which have implications for clinical interventions" (p. 446). The value of this developmental lens on gratitude is its implications for adult development theory by suggesting that there is a wider holistic component of gratitude, which can link the mind, body, and spirit across the lifespan.

Barriers to Gratitude

Before leaving this section, it is prudent to explore alternative views or issues related to gratitude. First, the only alternative to gratitude is ingratitude, "the failure to acknowledge the beneficence of others, which can lead to resentment, hostility, or indifferences" (Emmons &

Shelton, 2002, p. 463). As ingratitude increases, the interconnectedness formed through gratitude diminishes, leading to a "confining, restricting, and shrinking sense of self [identity]" (Emmons & Shelton, 2002, p. 463). Second, there are two main issues associated with gratitude: the first being indebtedness, and the second is the breadth of a grateful disposition. With regard to indebtedness, the receipt of a gift may be demeaning or strike a sense of obligation in others. Shelton (2004) explores this notion by stating, "feeling grateful, however, does not require the perception of indebtedness as much as it requires the awareness of the beneficence of others. As mentioned, the defining feature of gratitude is giving and receiving a gift. This is fraught with an assortment of perceptions that causes pause to examine the meaning behind the gift. Scheible (2000) suggests that gifts can have a negative connotation, because "gifts bring pride, envy, hatred, greed, and jealousy. For example, giving a gift for the wrong reasons as in to flaunt one's wealth" (as cited in Shelton, 2004, p. 272). Shelton (2004) describes this as fabricated gratitude because this form of gratitude masks the negative feelings associated with the gift.

Furthermore, indebtedness should not be used synonymously with gratitude. In fact, Watkins, Scheer, Ovnicek, & Knolts (2006) builds on Greenburg's (1980) work, which defines indebtedness as "a state of obligation to repay another and an emotional state of arousal [or] discomfort, which alerts the person to opportunities to reduce discomfort" (p. 218). These thoughts were tested using three different vignettes. Within each vignette, the expectations for return favors were increased. Findings from the first study showed that as expectations increase, gratitude decreases and indebtedness increases (Watkins et al., 2006). The informal message from this study is that "when a favor is given with increasing expectations of return from the benefactor the beneficiary feels less gratitude but more indebtedness" (Watkins et al., 2006, p. 226). This suggests that gratitude and indebtedness should be seen as distinctively different emotional states (Watkins et al., 2006). In fact, Mathews and Green (2010) presented two studies that test how self-focus is linked to gratitude and indebtedness. Their findings build on the notion of indebtedness by stating that "indebtedness is more likely when one's attention is turned inward, as opposed to outward toward the benefit or external factors" (Mathews & Green, 2010, p. 711). Moreover, "individuals prone to greater public self-consciousness and social anxiety reported more indebtedness" (Mathews & Green, 2010, p. 716). The talking points from these studies suggest that (1) the higher expectations are for a return result in lower levels of gratitude, and that (2) the terms "gratitude" and "indebtedness" should not be used synonymously because they represent distinct emotional states (Watkins et al., 2006).

The second issue related to gratitude is its brevity in all circumstances. Emmons and Shelton (2002) question whether people can be grateful in all circumstances, especially when life's circumstances are unpleasant. Therefore, can these negative circumstances generate gratitude? One possible explanation for this is having an attitude of gratitude, which can transform negative life events into opportunities for growth (Emmons & Shelton, 2002). Growth occurs when the individual is thankful for the skills obtained from handling the situation (Emmons &Shelton, 2002). In addition, Wood et al. (2010) states that "if gratitude is the key form of post-traumatic growth that people experience, this may explain the relationship between gratitude and positive daily living" (p. 894-895). For example, consider the accomplishment of an academic degree. The path to accomplishing this goal, like life, is filled with moments of uncertainty and struggle, but ultimately there is a process of growth. What gratitude adds to life, or to the example of accomplishment, is that an attitude of gratitude has a profound ability to view each struggle or challenge as a learning opportunity, or a chance to grow from those experiences.

Readiness for Self-Directed Learning

Readiness for self-directed learning in nursing education is a focus on preparing nursing students for the intensity and complexity of not only the demanding nursing curriculum, but it is also a focus on developing the needed self-directed learning skills for adapting to an everchanging work environment (O'Shea, 2003). The notion of individual "readiness" for selfdirected learning in nursing has been defined as "the degree [to which] the individual possess the attitudes, abilities and personal characteristics necessary for self-directed learning" (Wiley, 1983, p. 182). This ability to adapt is influenced by three essential characteristics of readiness: selfmanagement, desire for learning, and self-control (Fisher, King, & Tague, 2001). Finally, according to El-Gilany and Abusaad (20 13) "understanding and identifying how students learn, and their readiness to learn not only increases nursing students' confidence in their own ability, but it also improves their capacity to learn in novel situations" (p. 1040).

This exploration into what is readiness for self-directed learning begins with an explanation of the assumptions about what is adult learning and who are adult learners. These ideas have been an ongoing discussion among educators and researchers for the past 40 years (Merriam, Caffarella, & Baumgartner, 2007), and from this there has been a surge in conceptual and empirical knowledge to answer these questions. Drawing from several critiques of the literature, common themes include: establishing the importance of andragogy, defining the assumptions about adult learners, and establishing the best ways to assist adults in their learning goals (Merriam, 2001). In establishing the importance of andragogy, "the art and science of helping adults learn" (Merriam, 2001, p. 5), this definition has provided a common goal for adult

educators, but according to Merriam et al. (2007) "no single theory of adult learning has emerged to unify the field. Rather, there are a number of theories, models, and frameworks, each of which attempts to capture some aspect of adult learning" (p. 103). Furthermore, it is suggested that, by viewing andragogy as a model of assumptions versus a theory, andragogy can be seen as a window to "which adult educators take their first look into the world of adult education and to serve as a framework for emerging theory" (Knowles, 1989 as cited by Merriam, 2001, p. 5). Finally, these basic assumptions about adult learners are summarized by Merriam (2001), and include, "(1) adults have an independent self-concept and he or she can direct his or her own learning, (2) have accumulated a reservoir of life experiences, which is a rich source for learning, (3) have learning needs related to changing life roles, (4) adults are problem-centered and interested in immediate application of knowledge, and finally, (5) adults are intrinsically motivated" (p. 5).

Continuing with this deductive approach to understanding readiness, one must also have an understanding of the broader concept of self-directed learning, which has been defined as a "process in which individuals take the initiative, with or without the help of others, in diagnosing their learning needs, formulating learning goals, identifying human and material sources for learning, choosing and implementing appropriate learning strategies, and evaluating learning outcomes" (Knowles, 1975, p. 18). Again, "like most foundational concepts, 'self-directed learning' is articulated in a way which allows seemingly limitless interpretations of what it is and how it should be applied" (Tennant, 2006, p. 7). Therefore, for a more direct definition of selfdirected learning, Brockett and Hiemstra (1991) state that "self-direction in learning refers to both the external characteristics of an instructional process and the internal characteristics of the learner where the individual assumes primary responsibility for a learning experience" (p. 24). The idea of primary responsibility implies that the learner is able to take control of his or her own learning, and that he or she can take ownership of not only current learning goals, but also their future goals. Lastly, this idea of personal responsibility for one's own learning helps to frame the concept of readiness in nursing education.

Within nursing education, readiness of self-directed learning "has many benefits including increased confidence, autonomy, motivation, and preparation for life-long learning" (El-Gilany & Abusaad, 2013, p. 1040). Levett-Jones (2005), suggests that "in a constant changing environment, self-directed learning is an essential vehicle for enabling nursing students to develop independent learning skills, and a sense of accountability, responsibility and assertiveness" (p. 365), which are important qualities needed for a successful career. Furthermore, Patterson, Crooks, and Lunyk-Child (2002) describe the self-directed nursing student as being able to evaluate his or her "attitudes, assumptions, values, and beliefs on thinking, learning, and practice, they are able to self-evaluate, they respond to challenges with confidence, and they request feedback" (p. 28). Finally, as stated previously, the operational definition of readiness for self-directed learning in nursing education is acquiring three essential characteristics: self-management, desire for learning, and self-control (Fisher, King, & Tague, 2001).

Self-Management

Self- management "indicates an aspect of external task control specific to the management of learning activities, which are intimately linked with goal setting and metacognitive strategies. Self-management is concerned with task control issues" (Garrison, 1997, p. 22). For example, self-managing people "control their first impulses for action and delay premature conclusions. They generally approach tasks by gathering relevant data that will

illuminate the problem" (Costa & Kallick, 2004, p. 51). This implies that a person with high levels of self-management would have flexibility in his or her thinking to meet goals, and that they can draw on past life experiences to formulate alternative solutions to specific learning needs (Costa & Kallick, 2004). Furthermore, high levels of self-management would have a sense of openness to learning, and openness to learning has been described as an essential attribute of self-directed learning (Oddi, 1986). Finally, the operational definition of selfmanagement include such skills as "being self-disciplined, having good management skills, setting time aside for studying, and being confident in one's ability to seek out information" (Fisher & King, 2010, p. 45).

Desire for Learning

Desire for learning is a personal characteristic of the learner, and it can be closely associated with intrinsic motivation. Intrinsically motivated behaviors "are [behaviors] engaged in for their own sake–for the pleasure and satisfaction derived from performance" (Deci, Vallard, Pelletier, & Ryan, 1991, p. 328). Those who have a high desire to learn, or "intrinsic motivators might be learning for the love of intellectual challenge, or desire to achieve mastery of a topic, or practice for the satisfaction it brings" (Merriam & Bierema, 2014, p.147). Intrinsic motivation can also be described as a proactive drive, meaning "a focus on the learner's ability to initiate and persist in learning without immediate or obvious external reinforcement" (Oddi, 1987, p. 98), which is a salient characteristic of self-directed learning– expressed as a positive attitude towards engaging in learning (Oddi, 1987). Therefore, According to Fisher and King (2010), those who have high levels of desire to learn would agree with such statements as "I want to learn new information, I enjoy learning new information, I enjoy a challenge, and I need to know why" (p. 46).

Self-Control

Self-control is closely associated with learner control, self-monitoring, and self-efficacy. Learner control refers to "reflecting on personal learning needs, formulating learning goals (in conjunction with expert faculty as appropriate), and choosing and implementing preferred learning styles, strategies, and activities" (Bulik, 2009, p. 52). Second, self-monitoring is "the process whereby the learner takes responsibility for the construction of personal meaning" (Garrison, 1997, p. 24). For example, self-monitoring people "think about their own thinking, behaviors, biases, and beliefs as well as about the effects that such processes and states of mind have on others and on the environment" (Costa & Kallick, 2004, p.52). In reference to self-efficacy, self-efficacy is defined as "one's confidence that he or she has the ability to complete a specific task successfully, and this confidence relates to performance and perseverance in a variety of endeavors" (Bandura, 1994, p. 72). Finally, self-control is operationalized to include the following statements: "I am responsible for my own decisions/actions, I have high personal standards, I prefer to set my own learning goals, and I have high beliefs in my abilities" (Fisher & King, 2010, p. 47).

Measuring Readiness for Self-Directed Learning in Nursing Education

Currently, there are four measurement tools utilized within nursing education to measure readiness for self-directed learning. These include (1) Self-Directed Learning Instrument [SDLI] (Cheng, Kuo, Lin, & Lee-Hsieh, 2010), (2) Self-Rating Scale of Self-Directed Learning [SRSSDL] (Williamson, 2007), (3) Self-Directed Learning Readiness Scale [SDLRS] (Guglielmino, 1977), and (4) Self-Directed Learning Readiness Scale in Nursing Education [SDLRS-NE] (Fisher, King, & Tague, 2001). In the sections to follow, each measurement tool will be reviewed to describe their conceptual and empirical development.

The Self-Directed Learning Instrument [SDLI]

This 20-item measurement tool measures four identified domains of self-directed learning, which have been identified as learning motivation, planning and implementation, selfmonitoring, and interpersonal communication skills (Cheng et al., 2010). In defining these domains, learning motivation is defined as "the inner drive of the learner as well as external stimuli that drive the desire to learn and to take responsibility for one's learning" (Cheng et al., 2010, p. 1155). With regard to planning and implementation, Cheng et al. (2010) define this as "the ability to independently set learning goals" (p. 1155). Next, self-monitoring is "the ability to evaluate one's learning process and outcomes, and to make progress" (p. 1155). In the fourth domain, interpersonal communication, this domain was included based on the American Association of Colleges of Nursing's (AACN) recommendations that effective communication skills are essential competencies for nursing students. The operational definition of interpersonal communication within this measurement tool is having the ability to "interact with others to promote their own learning" (p.1155). The conceptualization of these domains of self-directed learning was accomplished through an extensive literature review and a critique of five existing self-directed learning tools obtained from both nursing and adult education literature. This concluded phase one of development by creating a measurement tool that combines current literature with items from the five existing self-directed learning tools.

In phase two of instrument development, Cheng et al. (2010), like others, conducted a two-round Delphi study with "6 experts in adult/higher education and 10 experts in nursing education" (p. 1154), having experts evaluate self-directed learning items on a 5-point Likert scale. Throughout this two-round evaluation process, the scale was reduced from 55-items to its final version of 20-items describing the four domains of self-directed learning. Finally, for

clarity, a Delphi technique "is a method for soliciting the input of content and methodological experts" (Colton & Covert, 2007, p. 114), and the advantage of this two-round process is to obtain consensus or agreement on which items best represents the construct of interest.

Model testing using confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) occurred during phase three of development. The purpose of the CFA is to determine or discover underlying structures. Stated another way, this would mean that through the use of correlational statistics, the researchers can determine how likely the line items are representative of the factors selected, which in this case these factors are the four domains of self-directed learning (Colton & Covert, 2007). After testing (n=1072 nursing students), the final 20-item instrument was shown to be a good fit, as evident by p=.00, goodness-of-fit indices at .94, and adjusted goodness-of-fit at .92 (Cheng et al., 2010). Finally, the significance of this phase of development is to ensure construct validity, meaning that based on Cheng's et al. (2010) CFA results, the line items are representative of the four domains of self-directed learning.

In the last phase, phase four, internal consistency and reliability was determined using a Cronbach's coefficient alpha (*a*), with "total item pool (n=1072) at .916, and for the four domains results include .801 (Learning Motivation), .861 (Planning and Implementation), .785 (Self-Monitoring), and .765 (Interpersonal Communication)" (Cheng et al., 2010, p. 1155). These results from the Cronbach's alpha demonstrate good internal consistency and reliability, based on the knowledge that an alpha result equal to or greater than .70 are measuring the construct being measured (Colton & Covert, 2007). Based on these results of construct validity and reliability, its large sample size, and the authors' clarity in the processes for developing the measurement tool, the SDLI appears to be a valid instrument for measuring their identified four-domains of self-directed learning. However, to my knowledge, the SDLI has not been tested

further, and more testing would only strengthen the conclusion that the SDLI is in fact a valid and reliable instrument.

The Self-Rating Scale of Self-Directed Learning [SRSSDL]

As with the SDLI, the SRSSDL seeks to measure the process of self-directed learning. This 60-item instrument was developed to measure five factors of self-directed learning. These factors include awareness, learning strategies, learning activities, evaluation, and interpersonal skills. In operationalizing these factors, Williamson (2007) states the following definitions: awareness–relates to "understanding the items that contribute to becoming self-directed" (p. 70); learning strategies–are items "explaining the various strategies that self-directed learners should adopt in order to become self-directed" (pp. 70-71); learning activities–specify "the requisite learning activities that students should actively engage in, in order to become self-directed" (p. 71), evaluation–are "specific attributes for monitoring their learning processes" (p. 71), and finally, interpersonal skills–are items related to the "learners' skills in interpersonal relationships" (p. 71).

Once operational definitions were determined and line items created, Williamson (2007) also conducted a Delphi study to establish consensus from a panel of 15 experts. Unlike the SDLI, specific criteria for involvement in the Delphi study was provided by Williamson (2007), which experts in this study were required to have a postgraduate degree and at least three years of teaching experience. Also, Williamson (2007), expanded the expert panel to include practice experts (six doctors and three practice educationalists). Finally, consensus was defined as 80 percent agreement.

Although part one of this development of a measurement tool was clearly articulated, there was limited discussion of the methods used to determine the construct validity and reliability of the SRSSDL. For example, the results of Williamson's (2007) confirmatory factor analysis are not reported, and according to Cadorin, Bortoluzzi, and Palese (2013), "factor analysis was not performed on [this] original scale" (p. 1512). With regard to internal consistency, individual alpha results include "awareness a=.79, learning strategies a=.73, learning activities a = .71, evaluation a = .71, and interpersonal skills a = 0.71" (p. 75). However, the sample size used to measure the SRSSDL was comprised of only "15 first- and 15 final-year undergraduate nursing students, ages 20-25" (P. 72). A small sample size may produce inadequate results if measures are not taken to account for small samples. In fact, according to Colton & Covert (2007), selecting a sample size can be based on resources and determining the margin of error one is willing to accept. Second, a confidence level should be determined. "Typically, confidence levels of 90, 95, or 99 percent are selected" (Colton & Covert, 2007, p. 323). These suggested methods for selecting a sample were not mentioned by the author. Therefore, with limited descriptions of methods used for establishing the validity and reliability of the SRSSDL, more testing is needed, and to my knowledge, only the translation of the SRSSDL tool into an Italian version has expanded the significance of this measurement tool within the nursing literature (Cadorin, Bortoluzzi, & Palese, 2013).

The results of the Cardorin et al. (2013) study are mixed. The benefits gained from this study include: (1) test-retest reliability r= 0.73 and (2) item-to-total a= 0.94. However, the factor analysis of the Italian version of the SRSSDL identifies different factors than the original SRSSDL by Williamson (2007). For example, in this particular study eight factors were identified, which adds motivation, learning methods, and constructing knowledge to the original five factors identified by Williamson (2007). This may provide clarity to the measurement tool, but again more testing and consistency is needed before validity and reliability can be confirmed.

Finally, Cardorin et al. (2013) concluded that the original factors measured with the SRSSDL are now measured within the SDLI created by Cheng et al. (2010).

The Self-Directed Learning Readiness Scale [SDLRS]

The SDLRS originates within the adult education literature, and it has had a significant impact in many areas of healthcare. However, for this review I could only identify seven published articles that specifically utilize the SDLRS measurement tool within nursing education, and these dates range from 1983 to 2011. In describing the development process of the SDLRS, three main methods were utilized by the author for establishing validity: a literature review, a Delphi study seeking consensus from experts, and a principle component analysis. From Guglielmino's (1977) dissertation, eight factors of self-directed learning were identified; these include "(1) openness to learning opportunities, (2) self-concept as an effective learner, (3) initiative and independence in learning, (4) informed acceptance of responsibility for one's own learning, (5) love of learning, (6) creativity, (7) positive orientation to the future, and (8) ability to use study and problem skills" (pp.62-69). In determining reliability, Guglielmino reports a total item (58-item) Cronbach coefficient alpha at .87 (n=307) (1977). Finally, from this development of the SDLRS, Guglielmino (1977) concludes that the desirable or necessary characteristics of a self-directed learner are that:

A highly self-directed learner is one who exhibits initiative, independence, and persistence in learning; one who accepts responsibility for his or her own learning and views problems as challenges, not obstacles; one who is capable of self-discipline and has a high degree of curiosity; one who has a strong desire to learn or change and is selfconfident; one who is able to use basic study skills, organize his or her time and set an appropriate pace for learning, and to develop a plan for completing work; one who enjoys learning and has a tendency to be goal-oriented. (p. 73)

Across the seven identified articles within nursing education, the following table (see Table 2.1 in Appendix G) provides a synthesis of the methods used for establishing reliability, validity, and their overall results. From this synthesis there are mixed results, showing the validity and reliability of the SDLRS as it relates to predicting learning outcomes, identifying student characteristics, and connecting learning styles to readiness for self-directed learning. Furthermore, only two out of the seven identified articles completed an independent Cronbach alpha test to measure internal consistency. Furthermore, Kim & Park's (2011) study utilized the Korean-translated version of the SDLRS, but included only 16-items of the original 58-items, and identified only seven factors of self-direction where eight factors were identified within the original version if the SDLRS. Collectively, this may hinder the ability to measure the SDLRS reliably across a variety of samples. In fact, according to Tavakol & Dennick (2011), Cronbach's alpha "is an important concept in the evaluation of assessments and questionnaires. It is mandatory that assessors and researchers should estimate this quantity to add validity and accuracy to the interpretation of their data" (p. 54). In search for other methods for establishing reliability across the seven studies, correlational testing and comparing of group mean scores with previously established studies were used to support the reliability of the SDLRS.

In evaluating the impact these studies have had on the current understanding of readiness for self-directed learning, it is noted that a consistent finding is that self-direction is a maturational process, meaning that as nursing students' progress throughout the nursing program, their level of self-direction increases. Also, there is some insight into how different learning styles influence one's readiness for self-directed learning. For example, Linares (1999) found that the learning style "convergers" have high level of self-directed learning readiness. A "converger" learning style is described as a learner whose "strength lies in problem solving, decision-making, and practical application of ideas" (Linares, 1999, p. 412). Finally, the learning environment created by faculty influences readiness for self-direction based on how structured or unstructured that environment is (Wiley, 1983).

The Self-Directed Learning Readiness Scale in Nursing [SDLRS-NE]

The SDLRS-NE was developed based on a need to resolve the issues associated with other self-directed measurement tools. In referencing the SDLRS developed by Guglielmino (1977), the authors state that "issues have been raised concerning cost, validity and use, and the development of a new scale allows for the problems associated with the use of other scales to be addressed" (Fisher et al., 2001, p.518).

The process of developing the SDLRS-NE measurement tool occurred in 2 stages. "Stage 1 used a modified reactive Delphi technique to develop and determine content validity, and Stage 2 incorporated distribution of the scale to a convenience sample" (Fisher et al., 2001, p.518). The final result is a 40-item measurement tool testing the operational definition of readiness by measuring self-management, desire for learning, and self-control. This measurement is completed by having participants rate on a five-point Likert scale how well they agree or disagree with each statement. Participants can chose from five responses (never, seldom, sometimes, often, and always). For clarity, Kocaman et al. (2009) provides a clearer explanation of Fisher et al. (2001) instructions for interpreting results, and states that "the minimum score for the 40-item score is 40 with a maximum score of 200, and high scores (>150) represent high levels of SDLR" (p. 288). The validity and reliability on initial testing in a pilot study (n=201) resulted in a Crobach's alpha at "0.924 (total item pool, 40 items), 0.857 (self-management, 13 items), 0.847 (desire to learn, 12 items), and 0.830 (self-control, 15 items)" (Fisher et al., 2001, p. 520). Adding to validity and reliability, the developers of the SDLRS-NE revisited its validity by conducting a confirmatory factor analysis (Fisher & King, 2010). The results from this analysis suggested that 11 items did show some redundancy; however, due to the small sample size, it is the recommendation that "the 40 item SDLRS-NE should be used until further research examines the relationships between variables (items) across factors in different samples" (Fisher & King, 2010, p. 48).

Within the nursing literature, only four published articles specifically utilizing the SDLRS-NE (see Table 2.2 in Appendix G) were found, and these dates range from 2007-2013. In the table below, validity, reliability, and significant findings are reported to support the overall usefulness of the SDLRS-NE measurement tool.

In synthesizing these results, it is important to note that in all four studies include within this review, each assessed internal consistency within their own study, which strengthens the argument that the SDLRS-NE is a reliable measure of readiness for self-directed learning across a variety of settings. Second, in all four studies the original 40-item SDLRS-NE maintained its original form, measuring the same three factors (self-management, desire for learning, and selfcontrol). Finally, as with previous studies examining readiness for self-directed learning within nursing, results show that the development of self-directedness is a maturational process.

Facilitating Self-Directed Learning

Due to a common understanding that self-directed learning can be viewed as both a process and a personal characteristic of the learner, facilitation of self-direction can then be

explained as either interventions for promoting an environment supportive of self-direction, or as interventions for developing needed self-directed learning skills within the learner. With this in mind, consistent themes within the nursing literature related to facilitating self-directed learning within student nurses include: creating a supportive environment (Timmins, 2008); providing clear instructions and objectives (O'Shea, 2003; Iwasiw, 1987); consistent use and language defining self-directed learning among faculty (Smedley, 2007; Luynk-Child et al., 2001); a need for ongoing faculty development to improve facilitation skills (Levett-Jones, 2005); and finally, the importance of understanding the maturational process of self-direction (Patterson, Crook, & Luynk-Child, 2002; Luynk-Child et al., 2001). For example, in discussing the role of nursing instructors in self-directed learning, O'Shea (2003) argues that students should receive a cognitive understanding of the self-directed learning process before they can be expected to engage in it" (p. 67). The identified instructor competencies include "an ability to create a learning environment that is conducive to learning, collaborative, supportive, and an ability to assist learners in setting their own goals by translating learning needs into clear, realistic and achievable" (Levett-Jones, 2005, p. 366). Finally, Smedley (2007), highlights the "need for curriculum developers to include strategies in the beginning level degree subjects to cultivate self-directed learning skills for nurses" (p. 373), implying that self-directed learning is a maturational process.

In reviewing the learner characteristics affecting self-directedness, examples can be found in describing what nursing students need to develop in order to become increasingly selfdirected. First, Patterson, Crook, & Luynk-Child (2002), places emphasis on assessing one's own learning needs, stating that students must "become proficient in assessing knowledge gaps, create communication skills, learn to tolerate ambiguity, and explore a variety of learning styles and approaches to learning" (p. 26). Second, from a clinical perspective, Kim and Park's (2011) found that "there are needs of high-self-esteem and belongingness in order to improve selfdirected learning" (p. 48). Within both of these examples there is an implied process of development, and that the environment can strongly influence how one develops his or her individualized learning characteristics. Therefore, the conclusion to draw from these examples is that a balance is needed to facilitate self-directed learning, both the student and nursing instructor must have an increased awareness of learning needs, and the appropriate evaluation skills for determining outcomes.

Barriers to Self-Directed Learning

From Guglielmino et al. (2005) qualitative study exploring the common barriers, interrupters, and restarting factors for adults involved in self-directed learning projects, the major barriers to self-direction include "time, lack of accessibility or adequacy of human or material resources, aspects of the learners' interactions with other people, personal limitations, issues related to the use of formal learning activities, technical difficulties, and loss of interest" (p. 79). Barriers to time spoke to the many demands experienced by adults and the struggles of prioritizing their time when higher-priority events occurred (e.g., sick child or work demands). Lack of accessibility included a lack of access to experts, learning resources, and resources to technology contributed to the theme of "lack of accessibility." The two most commonly cited personal barriers include (1) a fear of failure and (2) a lack of confidence in one's general ability (Guglielmino et al., 2005). Finally, a loss of interest in a self-directed learning project was associated with indecisiveness and the difficulty to persist when one's progress seemed unclear.

On another level, interrupters to self-direction were defined as "any circumstance or condition which made a learning project difficult to continue, something that the learner had to

surmount in order to persist in the learning initiative" (Guglielmino et al., 2005, p. 74). These interrupters in self-directed learning provide significance because of the potential connection between emotion and self-directed learning. For example, frustration interrupts self-directed learning when the learner is unable to obtain or access the needed information to resolve problems in his or her learning project (Guglielmino et al., 2005), and it can be described as "hitting a wall" (p. 83). As this frustration rises, motivation declines, possibly leading to a change in goals or priorities. In a sense, this example demonstrates the mediating effect emotions have on one's ability to be self-directed and one's readiness for self-directed learning. In balancing this notion of an emotional connection between the learner's emotions and selfdirected learning is to include a sense of completion or satisfaction, which occurs when the learner has "met [his or her] immediate needs or goals" (Guglielmino et al., 2005, p. 84). This implies that feeling a sense of accomplishment can positively interrupt self-directed learning resulting in "persistence and a conscious redirection of a learning project" (Guglielmino et al., 2005, p. 90). Finally, other interrupters include unexpected life events, physical limitations, and changes in goals or priorities (Guglielmino et al., 2005).

To identify other barriers affecting self-directed learning, it is helpful to look at the barriers associated with the process of learning. According to Robetham (1995), barriers to self-directed learning include "wrong choice of learning approach, poor motivation, lack of confidence, lack of flexibility, lack of direction and guidance, poor course construction, previous bad learning experiences, and alternative motives for attending the course" (p. 5). Wilcox (1996), adds to this discussion by exploring barriers related to instructor beliefs about self-directed learning are held by the instructor. From her study, Wilcox (1996), identified six specific barriers to self-

directed learning. First, "instructors were simply unaware of the ways which their practices did not support their beliefs" (p. 172). Second, "instructors lacked the instructional skills needed to implement their beliefs effectively" (p.172). Third, "instructors adapted instructional practices based on student and institutional characteristics" (p. 172). Fourth, "instructors had different conceptions of self-directed learning" (p.172). The fifth barrier was identified as a lack of commitment; "these instructors expected self-direction from the student, but retained their right to hold finial decision-making power" (p.172). Finally, the sixth barrier to self-directed learning were the limits placed on the instructor by the university setting.

Within the context of nursing education, the universal use of self-directed learning in nursing education is a concern. For example, Levett-Jones (2005) suggests that self-direction in general does not address the constraints of nursing education. These constraints include "restrictions imposed by professional, curricular, legal and institutional requirements, educational regulations, time constraints, and the need to ensure that specific content is covered and outcomes achieved require that learning arrangements must be sufficiently formalized" (p. 366). In addition, Regan (2003) notes that motivation and learning preferences highly influence self-directed learning within the context of nursing education. Regan's (2003) study found that good lectures can motivate students to be more self-directed, and that clear instructions and organization on behalf of the instructor supported the student's development of self-directed learning skills. In essence, these findings imply that within nursing education there is a need for balance, structure, organization, and what Iwasiw (1987) terms a "freedom within boundaries" (p.224).

Gratitude and Connections to Readiness for Self-Directed Learning

To bring closure to this literature review, this final section will examine the connections gratitude may have to readiness for self-direction. Taking a humanistic perspective, I propose that gratitude may be an important resource for self-directed learners. This perspective assumes that "humans have the potential for growth, self-concept is an important part of [that] growth, individuals have an urge toward self-actualization, and individuals have a responsibility to self and others" (Cranton &Taylor, 2012, p. 6). With this in mind, I will use Hiemstra and Brockett's (2012) "Person Process Context [PPC] Model" of self-directed learning to support these connections between gratitude. Framing this within Himestra and Brockett's (2012) PPC Model helps to demonstrate how gratitude could support the person, the process, and the context in which self-directed learning occurs.

The three elements of The PPC Model can be defined in the following ways. With regard to the *person*, Hiemstra and Brockett (2012) state that the *person* "includes characteristics of the individual, such as creativity, critical reflection, enthusiasm, life experience, life satisfaction, motivation, previous education, resilience, and self-concept" (p.158). The *process* "involves the teaching-learning transaction" (p.158). This process includes the revised understanding of personal responsibility, which, according to Merriam and Bierema (2014), is the idea that the "learner takes the primary responsibility for planning, implementing, and evaluating learning" (p. 67). In the PPC Model, personal responsibility is refocused on individual choice of what and how to learn, versus the contention that the learner has a responsibility to learn. Therefore, this becomes a more participatory process. In the third element of the PPC Model, the *context* has been defined as a broad encompassing notion of culture and social environments that includes the multiple factors influencing the construction of one's worldview (Hiemstra & Brockett,

2012). This model provides a useful framework for conceptualizing about how gratitude may connect with self-directed learning, because, like gratitude, this model implies that there are interrelated relationships among attributes.

Person

The benefits of enhancing gratitude within the self-directed learner may be in the way that gratitude influences life satisfaction, intrinsic motivation, resilience, and one's self-concept. For example, gratitude has been positively correlated with "traits associated with positive emotional functioning (e.g., more extroverted, agreeable, openness, and conscientiousness; and less neurotic), lower dysfunction (e.g., depression, anxiety), and positive social relationships" (Wood, Froh, & Geraghty, 2010, p. 893). In addition, Wood, Joseph, and Maltby (2008) provide evidence that gratitude is positively correlated with a full range of positive well-being variables, thus supporting the position "that gratitude is related to a life that is meaningful, predictive of personal growth, increases personal acceptance, and promotes positive relationships with others" (p. 446). One useful way to frame these positive correlations is to view gratitude as a mechanism for amplifying the positive aspects in one's life (Watkins, 2014).

Using Watkins's (2014) amplification theory of gratitude, gratitude can benefit the selfdirected learner in four distinct ways. "First, gratitude can improve one's experience. Second, gratitude amplifies the positive things in one's social environment. Third, gratitude may encourage self-acceptance through promoting positive affectivity" (Watkins, 2014, p. 251). Furthermore, according to Watkins (2014), "when one is able to see and be grateful for the good that comes from bad events they are more able to deal effectively with that event, and this might be another reason why grateful people tend to be happy people" (p. 251). This notion is echoed by Wood et al. (2008) who suggest that, "people who feel a lot of gratitude in life have specific appraisal tendencies that lead them to characteristically appraise the benefits of situations" (p. 282). Therefore, gratitude as a personal resource aids the self-directed learner by developing the essential adaptive skills for not only viewing the learning experience as positive but for having the ability to reframe setbacks in a more positive light.

Process

The process of self-directed learning is said to be influenced by the "opportunities learners find in their own environments, past or new knowledge, or chance occurrences" (Merriam & Bierema, 2014). Within the PPC Model, the *process* not only includes these elements, but more specifically, it provides some overlapping of personal learning styles with the learning environment. Due to this overlap one could look at how gratitude influences the process of learning. This aligns with the notion that self-directed learning is not always a linear process, but that self-directed learning should be viewed as an individualized process of learning through acquiring and developing new skills or knowledge (Caffarella, 1993).

Connecting this notion with gratitude can be done by exploring Fredrickson's (2004) Broaden-and-Build Theory of personal and social resources. The Broaden-and-Build Theory ties the humanistic goals of self-directed learning with positive emotions (i.e., gratitude) by assuming that by experiencing gratitude "individuals grow and develop, and individuals can transform themselves, becoming more creative, knowledgeable, resilient, socially integrated, and healthy (Fredrickson, 2004, p. 153). These resources become important during times of stagnation or struggles with self-directed learning projects. In fact, according to Joseph, Linley, and Harris (2005) gratitude may help in the process of coping through positive adaptation, enhanced personal strength, expanded social support, and enhanced spirituality. The significance of this connection is that "the actions and attitudes involved with the allocation of resources can profoundly affect the success of the learning event" (Carr, 2009, p. 100).

In postulating as to how gratitude may ameliorate the stressors of learning is to explore how resources are accumulated. First, Wood, et al. (2007) suggest that social support plays a crucial role in coping with adversity, meaning that those who have a greater disposition toward gratitude were more likely to seek social support during times of struggle. Second, the benefits of using positive emotions (i.e., gratitude) during stressful events comes from Lazarus (2000), who states that the "most important premise [of positive affect] is that it views stress, coping, and emotion as dependent on the relational meaning that an individual constructs from the personenvironment relationships" (p. 670). Therefore, either through positive reframing of events or developing a network of social support, it appears that gratitude may not only be important when everything is going well, but just as important during times of adversity.

Context

The importance of gratitude within the context of self-directed learning is its influence on relationship building. According to Watkins (2014) "gratitude is important for enhancing trust in the beginning stages of a relationship" (p. 143), and as this positive feedback continues, gratitude is thought to maintain relationships. Furthermore, gratitude is thought to act as a moral barometer (McCullough & Tsang, 2004) to motivate and reinforce prosocial behaviors. By prosocial behavior, I am referring to empathy, civility, mutual respect, and trust that results in admiration for one another (Buck, 2004). As this moral barometer grows in sensitivity, a reciprocal relationship develops between motivating and reinforcing prosocial behaviors between the self and others. Although more empirical testing is needed to test these relationship in everyday life, Watkins (2014) summarizes this premise, nicely, by stating that "gratitude

amplifies the good one sees in others, gratitude amplifies one's motivation to do good to others, and the expressions of gratitude amplify the good in others" (p. 154).

Finally, in addressing the practicality of gratitude within the classroom setting, gratitude can build trust between the learner and facilitator. Gratitude creates a prosocial environment that is supportive, empathetic, and respectful. The type of gratitude described here is not the simple "thank you" statements made in passing, but it is having a deep appreciation for others. For example, being grateful for the learning experience itself and developing a desire to pass on these positive emotions to others builds relationships. Also, Emmons (2013) suggests that increases in gratitude may decrease the sense of entitlement that can be expressed by not only students but also by facilitators. This implies that by implementing the activities that promote gratitude, participants in the learning environment can develop an outward focus, which increases one's awareness of the benefits received from others. Finally, the long term benefits may be in cultivating grateful thinking–an attitude of gratitude.

Drawing from a variety of sources, spanning over 30 years, much is known about the concepts of gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning, but little testing has been conducted on how these concepts can be mutually supportive. The importance of developing self-directed learning skills was best articulated by Levett-Jones (2005) who states, "in a constantly changing environment self-directed learning is an essential vehicle for enabling nursing students to develop independent learning skills, and a sense of accountability, responsibility and assertiveness, which are essential attributes throughout a nurse's career" (p. 365). And despite this focus, more is needed in finding new ways for supporting the development of these essential skills–one that takes a more holistic approach. Therefore, it is proposed that gratitude can help to support not only the experiences of learning, but it can

improve the culture in which learning occurs. Throughout this review, gratitude has been shown to be an important concept for promoting well-being, and in the chapters to follow, the purpose will be to explore the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-direction. From this, new hypotheses can be developed to advance the science of not only gratitude but also selfdirected learning. Lastly, in the next chapter the research questions, design, and plans for data collection will be discussed.
Chapter Three

Method

Gratitude as a researchable topic has been shown to be an effective measure for subjective well-being and a valuable character strength for enhancing one's ability to flourish (Peterson & Seligman, 2004; Emmons, 2012; Watkins, 2014). In relation to readiness for selfdirected learning, there is a gap in knowledge about how certain positive emotions are connected to one's readiness for self-directed learning (Bruin, 2007). Therefore, as stated previously, the purpose of this study is to explore the relationships between gratitude and readiness for selfdirected learning among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program. Within this chapter, I will discuss the research design, study population, instrumentation, procedure, and data analysis.

Research Design

A correlational design was selected to determine the extent to which a relationship exist between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program. From the literature reviewed in the previous chapter, it is suggested that this relationship may be stronger in senior level nursing students versus entering junior nursing students; the relationship may increase with age. Therefore, the purpose of this design is to explore the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning among undergraduate nursing students by age and class rank. The intent is to gather data for generating new hypotheses that can be tested more empirically in the future (Bordens & Abbott, 2011). The benefits of a correlational study include the ability to test variables as they naturally occur in real-life situations and for testing predictions about particular relationships (Bordens & Abbott, 2011; Munro, 2005). To accomplish this, the measurement of these relationships will utilize both descriptive and inferential statistics, which will be addressed later within the data analysis section.

Study Population

Participants were full-time nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program situated within a private, faith-based college in the Southeast United States. As this is a population study, my aim was to obtain as many participants as possible to ensure adequate representation, which would allow for a more focused understanding of the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning within the context of nursing education. The selection of this population was based on two considerations: first, the experiences of completing a nursing degree has been shown to be a unique experience filled with high-stakes testing, stress, and anxiety (Lo, 2002), which creates a rich environment for exploring emotions. Second, nursing as a field of research has yet to explore the relationship between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning. Participant eligibility criteria included: participants... (a) must be considered full-time (at least 12 credit hours per semester) in the four-year baccalaureate nursing program; (b) must be able to read and interpret English; (c) must voluntarily complete questionnaires; and (d) must be 18 years or older and sign an informed consent form.

In describing the setting for this study, this nursing program is part of a private, coed college founded in 1857 with Methodist affiliation. According to the U.S. News College Compass there are "approximately 1,106 students enrolled, 36% are male and 64% female, and tuition averages \$21,800/ per year" (<u>http://colleges.usnews.rangingsandreviews.com</u>). For specifics about the nursing program, nursing courses begin during the participant's junior year after he or she has been accepted into the nursing program. The annual enrollment is 80 students

each Fall Semester, and acceptance is based on: GPA; SAT scores; personal narratives stating reasons for becoming a professional nurse; letters of recommendation; and the completion of general education courses (e.g., microbiology, chemistry, and algebra).

Other demographics known about this study population are that current survey results from the National League for Nursing [NLN] (2011-2013) report baccalaureate student demographics to be 86% female, 67% Caucasian, and 16% of the students enrolled in a baccalaureate state they are over the age of 30. As for diversity in nursing, the American Association of Colleges of Nursing [AACN] (2011) report: 72% white, 10.3% black, 7% Hispanic or Latino, 8.8% Asian, 0.5% American Indian, and finally, 1.4% as two or more races– equaling a total of 28.0% of minority nursing students.

Instrumentation

A demographic questionnaire and two previously tested instruments (1) The Gratitude Questionnaire –Six Item Form [GQ-6] (McCullough et al., 2002), and (2) the Self-Directed Learning Readiness Scale for Nurses [SDLRS-NE] (Fisher et al., 2001) were used to measure the variables of interest. The combination of these scales and the demographic questionnaire resulted in a 49-item survey, and the estimated time for completion was about 15 to 30 minutes. The GQ-6 and the SDLRS-NE instruments were selected due to their predetermined reliability and validity.

The Gratitude Questionnaire-Six Item Form [GQ-6]

The GQ-6 measures the degree of gratitude participants feel using a 7-point Likert scale. This six-question survey tests the operational definition describing the intensity, frequency, span, and density of gratitude (McCullough et al., 2002). Reliability and validity of the GQ-6 scale were tested in three different studies, which established strong psychometric properties. These studies explored the construct of gratitude against other constructs (i.e., vitality, optimism, hope, materialism, and envy), and against other scales (i.e., Life Satisfaction Scale, The Big Five Self-Rating Scale, and the Values-Orientation Materialism Scale). Study One yielded a Crobach's alpha of 0.85 and interrater reliability at 0.65 (McCullough et al., 2002). Study Two yielded a Crobach's alpha of 0.81 and goodness of fit at 56.83, p<.001. Study Three measured gratitude against materialism and envy, results indicating a negative correlation between gratitude and materialism and envy (r = -.39), which adds to the construct validity of the GQ-6 measurement tool. Finally, these results, along with an extensive review of the literature, completed in Chapter Two, support the conclusion that the GQ-6 scale is a valid and reliable instrument for measuring gratitude.

The Self-Directed Learning Readiness Scale in Nursing Education [SDLRS-NE]

The SDLRS-NE measures the degree of self-directedness in nursing students. This 40item measurement tool tests the operational definition of readiness by measuring selfmanagement, desire for learning, and self-control. This measurement is completed by having participants rate on a five-point Likert scale how well they agree or disagree with each statement. Participants can chose from five responses (never, seldom, sometimes, often, and always). The validity and reliability on initial testing in a pilot study (n=201) resulted in a Crobach's alpha at "0.924 (total item pool, 40 items), 0.857 (self-management, 13 items), 0.847 (desire to learn, 12 items), and 0.830 (self-control, 15 items)" (Fisher et al., 2001, p. 520). Adding to validity and reliability, the developers of the SDLRS-NE revisited its validity by conducting a confirmatory factor analysis (Fisher & King, 2010). The results from this analysis suggested that 11 items did show some redundancy; however, do to the small sample size, it is the recommendation that "the 40 item SDLRS-NE should be used until further research examines the relationships between variables (items) across factors in different samples" (Fisher & King, 2010, p. 48).

Furthermore, as there have been some concerns about validity and reliability with the original SDLRS created by Guglielmino in 1977, this version of self-directed readiness in nursing education measures three of the main factors identified by Field (1989): desire to learn (Love of learning); self-management (acceptance of responsibility); and self-control (initiative and independence in learning), and it is void of any negatively phrased items. Therefore, these examples offer evidence that the SDLRS-NE is a reliable and valid instrument for measuring readiness for self-directed learning within the context of nursing education; for a more extensive review, refer to Chapter Two.

The Demographic Questionnaire

The demographic variables of interest included age and class rank (e.g., junior versus senior class). The rationale for selecting age and class rank was based on the fact that these variable have already been determined as influencing factors for developing both gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning. For example, Froh et al. (2011) and McAdams and Bauer (2004), have written extensively on the developmental aspects of gratitude, and it is suggested that as one matures and advances through different life transitions, gratitude is more likely to be developed. Finally, although there are previously established links between spirituality and gratitude (Emmons & Kneezel, 2005; Watkins, 2013), and between spirituality and self-directed learning (English, 2000), spirituality is not the main variable of interest for this study, therefore, it was determined to explore the connections to spirituality at a later date.

In rationalizing these demographics through the lens of readiness for self-direction within nursing education, two points are apparent: first, many researchers have supported the notion that self-directedness is a part of adult development, and that as adults develop, they become more self-directed (Merriam & Bierema, 2014; Merriam et al., 2007; Caffarella, 1993; Brockett & Hiemstra, 1991; Oddi, 1987). Next, when measuring self-directed readiness in undergraduate nursing students, Smedley (2007) found that "*t*-Testing results appear to indicate that younger students are less ready for SDL than older students" (p. 381), and out of the three defining characteristics of readiness for self-directed learning (self-management, desire for learning, and self-control), findings suggest that undergraduate nursing students "scored least in the self-management subscale" (p. 380). Finally, Kocaman et al. (2009) supports this notion by stating that "our results indicate student perceptions of self-directed learning readiness increase with time in the program; which supports the view that becoming self-directed is a maturational process" (p. 289).

Procedure

Prior to data collection, permission to conduct research was first granted by the Associate Dean from the Nursing Program of interest. Next, a request to conduct research was sent to the Institution's Research Review Board and permission was granted on January 9th, 2015. After gaining access, an application for conducting research with "*exempt status*" was submitted and approved by the University of Tennessee- Knoxville [Human Subjects Institution Review Board approval number: IRB-14-01959XM]. This "*exempt status*" was granted based on the following criteria: (1) research involves a survey procedure, (2) no participant information was collected, (3) no direct contact with participants, (4) no incentives offered, and (5) an anonymous survey link was used to collect data. Finally, permission was granted to access nursing students' institutional email address for distribution of an information sheet and the anonymous survey link.

To ensure the protection of participants, four key components of human rights were included in the information sheet emailed to students: these include beneficence, human dignity, justice, and informed consent (Polit & Beck, 2004). To prevent harm to participants, the risk/benefit ratio was explained to each participant in the form of an information sheet [see Appendix A], viewed in the body of the initial contact email and immediately after accessing the anonymous survey. Minimal risk will be defined as "risks anticipated to be no greater than those ordinarily encountered in daily life or during routine physical or psychological tests or procedures" (Polit & Beck, 2004, p. 146). To avoid coercion, only the Administrative Assistant accessed students' emails for initial recruitment and reminders, meaning that the researcher only had access to collected data. Furthermore, this action of having the Administrative Assistant send electronic correspondence was completed to meet research approval stipulations imposed by the primary site of data collection. Next, full disclosure was provided to participants on the information sheet and included a full description of "the nature of the study, the person's right to refuse participation, the researcher's responsibilities, and likely risks and benefits" (Polit & Beck, 2004, p. 147). With regard to the principles of justice, each participant was ensured anonymity, meaning that it will not be possible to identify data from an individual participant. This was accomplished when each participant accessed the survey via an anonymous link and answered yes or no to the informed consent question. Finally, all collected data was password protected (Polit & Beck, 2004).

The overall procedure for collecting data began with obtaining informed consent from participants. Informed consent was obtained in two ways. First, the participants' implied consent when accessing the anonymous survey link; and second, participants started with an informed consent question on the survey, which stated "I voluntarily agree to participate in this survey." Finally, a "skip logic" option was activated for this question, meaning that if participants select "yes," they progressed to the rest of the survey; however if participants selects "no," the survey was terminated.

Qualtrics © was the selected internet survey program utilized for collecting survey data; this program is supported by University of Tennessee-Knoxville. To ensure competency and accuracy of the survey, I completed a face-to-face in-service, "Introduction to Qualtrics©," which was offered by the Information Technology (IT) Department at the University of Tennessee- Knoxville. Second, after initial set-up of survey, the survey was previewed by myself and the Qualtrics© site Coordinator for mechanics and appearance. Once the survey was tested for mechanics and functionality, it was sent to participants by the Administrative Assistant, using both "class of 2015" and "class of 2016" email distribution lists from the nursing program of interest. The administration of this survey began on February 6th, 2015, and the survey ended March 4th, 2015 at midnight. After opening the email, the participant was provided an information sheet (see Appendix A). This provided an introduction explaining the purpose of the study, directions for completing the survey, a statement that no monetary incentives will be awarded for participation, and the estimated time for completing the survey.

Next, participants accessed the anonymous survey link, and it began with the information sheet and the informed consent question. To clarify, the anonymous survey link prevents the collection of any personal identifiers (e.g., email address, name, or IP address). Once the participant agreed to participate, he or she was directed to answer the survey questions (i.e., demographic questionnaire, GQ-6, and SDLRS-NE; see Appendices B, C, and D). Furthermore, to increase response rates, two email reminders were sent. The first reminder was sent on February 17th, 2015, and the second reminder was sent on March 2nd, 2015. Also, these

reminder messages were only sent to those who had not completed the survey, and the reminder only restarted the purpose of the study and provided the hyperlink for ease of access (see Appendix E). The protection of confidentiality and anonymity was maintained through the anonymous access link, and both the survey and the results were password protected.

Finally, although there is much debate about offering incentives for completing online surveys, with many suggesting that providing an incentive can increase response rates (Ryu, Couper, & Marans, 2005; Teisl, Roe, & Vayda, 2005). I decided not to offer any incentive for participants in this study to avoid any potential breaches in confidentiality or anonymity.

Data Analysis

The collected data was analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (IBM SPSS©). The descriptive statistics collected included: measures of central tendency (mean, mode, and median) and measures of variability (the interquartile range, the variance (s²), and the standard deviation). In measuring central tendency in this study, I began with a review of the mean because of its sensitivity. However, it was found that the data set for gratitude was not normally distributed; therefore, I followed the suggestions of Bordens and Abbott (2011) and select the median because it is less sensitive to distribution. Next, the method used to assess variability was based on the understanding that these measures "take into account both the center and the spread of the scores" (Bordens & Abbott, 2011, p. 414); therefore, the standard deviation was the method of used for measuring the spread of scores.

Measures for evaluating validity and reliability of the GQ-6 and the SDLRS-NE measurement tools included (1) internal consistency and (2) inter-rater reliability. Internal consistency with item analysis was assessed by running a Cronbach's coefficient alpha test, which measures the reliability of the scale, and these results were compared to previously

reported studies using the GQ-6 and the SDLRS-NE. Furthermore, in evaluating the results, I followed Colton and Covert's (2007) suggestion that, "as a rule of thumb an alpha of .70 or higher indicates internal consistency" (p. 265). Next, inter-rater reliability was used to assess the percentage of agreement between participants. More specifically, a Cohen's kappa was used to measure the agreement beyond chance (Colton & Covert, 2007). In speaking to the significant of the inter-rater reliability, Burton & Mazerolle (2011) suggest that, "inter-item correlations for items intended to measure the same construct should be moderate but not too high (i.e., between .30-.60), and this suggests that each of the items are not contributing something unique to the construct" (p. 30).

Finally, in Chapter One I proposed eight research questions for exploring the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning. The following are a restatement of those research questions and a description of how each question was analyzed.

Question 1: Is there a significant relationship between gratitude and readiness for selfdirected learning among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program?

After examining the descriptive data (i.e., mean, standard deviation, scatter plot, and linear regression), it was determined that the data sets were not normally distributed. Therefore, a nonparametric correlation test was selected to evaluate relationships. More specifically, the Spearman's rho (ρ) was used to answer this question. The values obtained from the Spearman rho test ranges from +1 through 0 to -1, where 0 to +1 equates to a positive or direct relationship, and 0 to-1 equates to an inverse or negative relationship (Bordens & Abbott, 2011). By selecting this nonparametric test, the Spearman rho helps to determine whether or not a relationship is significant, or if that relationship happened by chance (McDonald, 2014). Furthermore,

McDonald (2014) adds that Spearman rho (ρ) does not make assumptions about distribution, and it is most useful for small data sets.

Question 2: Does a significant relationship exist between gratitude and the three factors of readiness for self-directed learning (1) self-management, (2) desire to learn, and (3) self-control among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program?

As with question one, this question was answered using a Spearman's rho (ρ) test.

Question 3: Is there a significant relationship between gratitude, age, and class rank among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program?

For exploring the relationship between gratitude and age, this portion of the question was answered using the Spearman rho test (ρ). Next, to explore the relationship between gratitude and class rank, a Point - Biserial Correlation Coefficient was utilized. A Point – Biserial is appropriate when one variable is dichotomous (e.g. class rank) and the other variable is continuous (gratitude) (Brown, 2001).

Question 4: Is there a significant relationship between readiness for self-directed learning, age, and class rank among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program?

This question was answered using the Spearman rho test (ρ) to determine if a relationship exists between age and readiness for self-directed learning in nursing education. For determine if a relationship between class rank and readiness for self-direction in nursing education, a Point -Biserial Correlation Coefficient was obtained.

Question 5: *Is there a significant difference in gratitude, by class rank?*

This question was answered using the Mann-Whitney Test (U), which is another nonparametric test selected, based on the fact that the data sets were not normally distributed.

The Mann-Whitney Test (u), "is used to compare two groups and is thus analogous to the t test" (Munro, 2005, p. 123). In addition, the Mann-Whitney Test (U) can be used "when that data violates the assumptions underlying the parametric tests, especially when the data are not normally distributed" (Munro, 2005, p. 126).

Question 6: Is there a significant difference in readiness for self-directed learning by class rank?

As in question 5, a Mann-Whitney Test (U) will be used to determine group differences related to readiness for self-directed learning.

Question 7: Does gratitude or readiness for self-directed learning differ by age groups (e.g. those under the age of 25 years-old versus those greater than 25 years-old)?

This question was answered using the Mann-Whitney Test (U).

Question 8: To what extent can the combination of selected demographic variables (age or class rank) and gratitude scores predict readiness for self-directed learning scores?

Multiple regression was used to predict relationships between demographic variables, gratitude, and their effects on readiness for self-directed learning. According to Bordens & Abbott (2011), the advantage of multivariate statistics is that it "provides information needed to evaluate the importance of a predictor variable for explaining variability in the criterion [dependent] variable, given the effects of other predictor variables" (p. 467). To accomplish this multiple regression, I first transformed the data using a Log10 calculation. The purpose of this transformation was to improve normal distribution. After transformation, a step-wise approach was used to test the prediction that age, class rank, and gratitude can influence one's level of readiness for self-directed learning. The selection of a step-wise approach versus simple or hierarchical regression is based on the understanding that the order of entering the variables is

based on the "qualities of the sample data" (Bordens & Abbott, 2011, p. 479). For example, variables are entered according to the amount of variances on the dependent variable. Then variables are entered based on which variable increases the R-square the most (Bordens & Abbott, 2011). Finally, the rationale for conducting multiple regression testing is that multiple regression is most appropriate when making predictions about relationships between one dependent variable (readiness for self-directed learning) and multiple independent variables (gratitude, age, and class rank) (Bordens & Abbott, 2011).

Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to explore the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program. A sample of 65 nursing students were collected. Participants completed three instrument scales to measure the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning: (1) Gratitude Questionnaire [GQ-6], (2) Readiness for Self-directed Learning Scale in Nursing Education [SDLRS-NE], and (3) a demographic questionnaire. After IRB approval, data collection began on February 6th and ended on March 3rd, 2015. Measurements were collected using an internet-based survey program, Qualtrics©. Finally, in the next chapter, I will present an analysis of the data and discuss the research question.

Chapter Four

Data Analysis

The purpose of this study is to explore the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program. Within this chapter, I will present my statistical analyses of the data. I will begin with an overview of the sample. Next, I will discuss the reliability and validity of the Gratitude 6-item Questionnaire (GQ-6) and the Self-Directed Learning Readiness Scale for Nursing Education (SDLRS-NE). Finally, I will present the results for the eight research questions presented in Chapters One and Three.

Overview of the Sample

The population for this study consisted of 130 participants, enrolled as full-time students in a four year baccalaureate nursing program, which is situated within a private, faith-based college in the Southeast United States. The survey was sent to a total of 130 potential participants. Of the 130, 90 participants started the survey but did not complete it. At the end of the data collection period, the survey completion rate was 50%, which resulted in a sample of 65 participants. When reviewing the data sets, six participants did not provide answers to all the questions on the survey; therefore, to avoid missing data errors, these six participant results were eliminated. After ensuring data sets completion, this study analyzed data based on a sample size of 59 or n= 59.

Demographics

For this study, participants answered two demographic questions: age and class rank (junior or senior). Overall, participants' ages ranged from 20 to 67 years of age and there were

25 junior and 34 senior nursing students. The specifics about this sample are provided in Table4.1 and Table 4.2.

Age

Participants were asked to provide their age in years, to explore the relationships between age, gratitude, and readiness for self-directed learning. Descriptive statistics show that the minimum age was 20, the maximum age for this sample was 67 years old, and the mean score for age was 26.61.

Table 4.1

Descriptive Statistics for Age

	Descriptive Statistics							
	N	Range	Minimu	Maxim	Sum	Mea	an	Std.
			m	um				Deviatio
								n
	Stat	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Std.	Statistic
	istic						Error	
What is	59	47.00	20.00	67.00	1570.00	26.6102	1.096	8.42209
your							46	
age?-								
years								
Valid N	59							
(listwise)								

Class Rank

The determination of class rank was the second demographic question obtained from this sample for exploring the relationships between class rank, gratitude, and readiness for self-directed learning. Result for class rank include, 25 junior students and 34 senior students.

Descriptive Statistics for Class Rank

Select the option below that best describes your class rank.						
		Frequency	Percent	Valid	Cumulative Percent	
				Percent		
Valid	Junior Nursing Student	25	42.4	42.4	42.4	
	Senior Nursing Student	34	57.6	57.6	100.0	
	Total	59	100.0	100.0		

Instrumentation

After exploring demographic questions, reliability testing was completed for both measurement scales (i.e. GQ-6, SDLRS-NE). Internal consistency was assessed by running a Cronbach's coefficient alpha test, which measures the reliability of the scale, and these results were compared to previously reported studies using the GQ-6 and the SDLRS-NE.

Gratitude (GQ-6) Questionnaire

The GQ-6 measurement tool, developed by McCullough et al. (2002), was used to measure the level or degree of gratitude among participants. Table 4.3 reports the Cronbach's alpha result based on a sample size of n = 59.

Table 4.3

Scale: Gratitude [GQ-6] Reliability Test

Reliability Statistics					
Cronbach's Alpha	Cronbach's Alpha Based on Standardized	N of Items			
	Items				
.558	.685	6			

When comparing reliability of the GQ-6 questionnaire ($\alpha = .558$) to the current empirical literature, it is noticeable that the reliability of the GQ-6 ($\alpha = .558$) did not compare with previously documented internal consistencies. Table 4.4 reports the author, date of publication, types of participants, total number of participants, and their Cronbach's alpha results. Interestingly, three out of the ten studies did not complete an independent reliability test, but instead cited McCullough et al.'s (2002) original alpha results of $\alpha = .82$. As stated in Chapter Three, the desired goal for internal consistency in this study was set at $\alpha = .70$, or greater, which is the current minimum desired standard for internal consistency (Colton & Covert, 2007). Therefore, with $\alpha = .558$, this may indicate either weakness in the instrument, or that some latent factors of gratitude are not being assessed (Colton & Covert, 2007). Furthermore, one might conclude that the lower Cronbach's alpha result is related to the knowledge that the GQ-6 is a measure of generalized gratitude, and not a measure of directional gratitude as it has been applied here within this study.

However, despite potential weaknesses in the GQ-6 measurement, this study, to my knowledge, is the first study to measure GQ-6 questionnaire within the context of nursing education. Also, when exploring the data using a histogram, a mean score of 6.5 (on a 7-point Likert Scale) was obtained for the GQ-6 Questionnaire, and as displayed in Figure 4.1 (see Appendix F), this indicates that the data collected for this measurement was not normally distributed. This information becomes important when making statistical decisions on which method should be used for exploring the relationships between variables. More specifically, this information was used to determine which parametric or nonparametric test is most appropriate. For example, the Pearson's product-moment-correlation has certain assumptions about distribution. According to Munro (2005), "the variables that are being correlated must each have

Cronbach's Alpha Comparison between GQ-6 Questionnaire and Current Literature

Author and Date	Participants	Ν	Cronbach's
	-		Alpha
McCullough et al. (2002) -	Undergraduate	n = 238	α=.82
Study 1	Psychology Students		
McCullough et al. (2002) -	Adult Volunteers	n = 1,228	α=.81
Study 2			
McCullough, Tsang, Emmons	Adult Volunteers	n = 96	$\alpha = .82 *$
(2004)			
Kashdan, Usuatte, & Julian	Participants with	n = 77	$\alpha = .86$
(2006)	PTSD		
Wood, Joseph, & Linley (2007)	Undergraduate	n = 236	not reported
	Students		
Chen, Chen, Kee, & Tsai (2009)	Undergraduate	n = 608	$\alpha = .80$
	Students		
Lambert, Graham, Fincham, &	Undergraduate	n = 166	$\alpha = .83$
Stillman (2009) – Study 1	Students		
Lambert, Graham, Fincham, &	Undergraduate	n = 275	Time 1 α = .84
Stillman (2009) – Study 2	Students		Time 2 α = .84
Toepfer & Walker (2009)	Undergraduate	n = 85	$\alpha = .82*$
	Students		
Breen, Kasdan, Lenser, &	Undergraduate	n = 140	$\alpha = <.90*$
Fincham (2010)	Students		
Rash, Matsuba, & Prkachin	Adult Participants	n = 56	$\alpha = .77$
(2011)			
Rosmarin, Pirutinsky, Cohen,	Adult Participants	n = 405	$\alpha = .83$
Galler, & Krumrei (2011)			

*Cited McCullough et al. (2002) alpha results, no independent test.

a normal distribution; that is, the distribution of their scores must approximate the normal curve" (p. 241).

Readiness for Self-Directed Learning in Nursing Education (SDLRS-NE)

The SDLRS-NE scale, developed by Fisher, King, and Tague (2001), was selected to measure readiness for self-directed learning within nursing education (n = 59). This measurement tool consists of 40-item questions, and it contains three subscales (a) Self - Management, (b) Desire to Learn, and (c) Self - Control. Table 4.5 reports total scale Cronbach's alpha (α = .902).

Table 4.5

Readiness for SDL in Nursing Education [SDLRS-NE] Reliability Test - Total Scale

Reliability Statistics					
Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items				
.902	40				

After assessing the internal consistency of total scale items, Table 4.6 reports the internal consistency of each subscale: (a) Self-Management $\alpha = .833$, (b) Desire-To-Learn $\alpha = .804$, and (c) Self-Control $\alpha = .846$. Finally, in Table 4.7 the SDLRS-NS scale was compared with the current empirical literature.

Readiness for SDL in Nursing Education [SDLRS-NE] Reliability Test- Subscales

Subscale	Cronbach's	Cronbach's Alpha Based on	N of Items
	Alpha	Standardized Items	
Self Management (SM)	.833	.849	13
Desire To Learn (DTL)	.804	.821	12
Self Control (SC)	.846	.857	15

Table 4.7

Cronbach's Alpha Comparison between SDLRS-NE and Current Literature

Author and Date	Participants	Ν	Cronbach's Alpha
Fisher, et al. (2001)	Nursing Students	n = 201	Total-item $\alpha = .924$
			SM $\alpha = .857$
			DTL $\alpha = .847$
			SC $\alpha = .830$
Smedley (2007)	Nursing Students	n = 67	Total-item $\alpha = .81$
			SM $\alpha = .810$
			DTL $\alpha = .780$
			SC $\alpha = .844$
Kocaman, Dicle, &	Nursing Students	n = 50	Total-item $\alpha = .94$
Ugur (2007)	(Adapted to Turkish)		SM $\alpha = .87$
			DTL $\alpha = .86$
			SC $\alpha = .88$
Yuan, Williams,	Nursing Students	n = 485	Total-item $\alpha = .925$
Fang, & Pang (2012)	(Adapted to Chinese)		SM $\alpha = .848$
			DTL α = .825
			SC $\alpha = .836$
El-Gilany & Abusaad	Nursing Students in Saudi	n = 275	Total-item $\alpha = .898$,
(2013)	Undergraduate Program		subscales not reported

For discussion, the SDLRS-NE measurement tool consistently measures readiness for self-directed learning within this sample (α = .902), and results are comparable to previously reported internal consistencies. Also, the SDLRS-NE total-item scale and its subscales are greater than .70, which was the minimum desired standard set in Chapter Three (Colton & Covert, 2007). Another consideration when determining reliability of the SDLRS-NE is being aware that the Cronbach's alpha is influenced by magnitude and number of scale items (Colton & Covert, 2007), meaning that when there are more line items used to measure a construct, this increases the likelihood of properly identifying the construct of interest.

When interpreting the results, the overall mean score was 164.34, and the individual item mean score was 4.1 (on a 5-point Likert Scale). Instructions for interpretation were presented in Chapter Two, but for clarity "the minimum score for the 40-item is 40 and the maximum score of 200, and high scores (>150) represent high levels of SDLR" (Kocaman et al., 2009, p.288). Therefore, with a mean score of 164.34, the participants within this study consider themselves to be highly self-directed. Like the GQ-6 Questionnaire, the data collected for the SDLRS-NE was not normally distributed, which suggests that nonparametric testing is more appropriate for examining the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning within this sample. According to McDonald (2014) the Spearman's rho (ρ) does not "assume [a] relationship is linear, and it does not assume that the measurements are normal or homoscedastic" (p. 210). Figure 4.2 (see Appendix F) displays the histogram for the SDLRS-NE. NE, and the image shows that the data is positively skewed. Finally, this discussion on data distribution is important for providing rationales for the statistical decisions that are presented within the next section of this chapter.

Analysis of the Research Questions

Within this section, I will address the eight research questions proposed in Chapters One and Three. These research questions were asked to assess the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning. Data were analyzed using SPSS and are reported below. However, to recap some general information: the sample size was n=59; age m = 26; frequencies juniors = 25 and seniors = 34; GQ-6 mean score m = 39.23 (minimum = 6, maximum = 42); SDLRS_NE mean score m = 164.34 (minimum = 40, maximum = 200). These results imply that within this study, participants consider themselves to be both highly grateful and highly selfdirected, which results in having data sets that are not normally distributed.

Question 1: Is there a significant relationship between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program?

This question was answered using both nonparametric and parametric correlation tests. More specifically, the Spearman's rho (ρ) and the Pearson's product-moment-correlation coefficient (r) were used to explore the relationship between gratitude and readiness for selfdirected learning. The rationale for selecting both nonparametric and parametric correlational testing was based on sample distribution (see discussion above). As stated earlier, the Spearman's rho (ρ) is less affected by data distribution, and the rationale for using the Pearson's product-moment-correlation coefficient is that this parametric test is the "usual method by which the relation between two variables are quantified" (Munro, 2005, p.241). However, since the data violate the assumption of normal distribution, the Spearman's rho (ρ) strengthens the conclusion that a relationship does exist between variables.

Figure 4.3 (see Appendix F) displays the scatterplot between GQ-6 questionnaire and the SDLRS-NE among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program.

Table 4.8 displays the results of the Pearson's product-moment-correlation coefficient, and Table 4.9 displays the Spearman's rho (ρ) results. When interpreting results, Munro (2005) suggests the following categories for determining the strength or magnitude of a relationship: ".00-.25 = little if any relationship, .26-.49 = low, .50-.69 = moderate, .70-.89 = high, and .90-1.00 = very high" (p. 249). According to these categories, there is a small, but significant positive relationship between gratitude and one's readiness for self-directed learning (r = .359, p = .005).

Furthermore, based on the assumptions of distribution, Table 4.9 displays the results of the Spearman's rho (ρ), which is less sensitive to distribution. The results of the Spearman's rho (ρ) support the conclusion that there is a small, but significant positive relationship between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program. Therefore, when utilizing both parametric and nonparametric testing to determine correlations, both results indicated a small positive relationship (r = .359, p = .005, and ρ = .358, p = .005).

Table 4.8

Pearson's product-moment-correlation coefficient (r) between GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE

Correlations						
Gratitude SDLRS_NE_Scale						
Gratitude	Pearson Correlation	1	.359**			
Sig. (2-tailed)			.005			
	Ν	59	59			
SDLRS_NE_Scale	Pearson Correlation	.359**	1			
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.005				
	Ν	59	59			
**. Correlation is signific	ant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).					

Spearman's rho (p) Correlation between GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE

Correlations					
			Gratitude	SDLRS_NE_Scale	
Spearman's	Gratitude	Correlation	1.000	.358**	
rho		Coefficient			
		Sig. (2-tailed)		.005	
		Ν	59	59	
	SDLRS_NE_Scale	Correlation	.358**	1.000	
		Coefficient			
		Sig. (2-tailed)	.005		
		Ν	59	59	
**. Correlation	n is significant at the 0.	01 level (2-tailed).			

Next, a coefficient of determination was conducted to determine the amount of "variance the two variables being tested share" (Bordens & Abbott, 2011, p. 424). The amount of variance between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning is $r^2 = .114$, or 11.4% of one's readiness for self-directed learning is explained by one's level of gratitude. In the next question, a closer look at these relationship will be examined by exploring the relationship between gratitude and the three subscales of the SDLRS-NE (Self - Management, Desire-to-Learn, and Self - Control).

Question 2: Does a significant relationship exist between gratitude and the three factors of readiness for self-directed learning (1) self-management, (2) desire to learn, and (3) self-control among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program?

This question was answered using both nonparametric and parametric correlation tests. More specifically, the Pearson's product-moment-correlation coefficient (r) and the Spearman's rho (ρ) were used to explore the relationship between gratitude (GQ-6) and the three subscales of the self-directed learning readiness scale in nursing education (SDLRS-NE). See Figures 4.4, 4.5, and 4.6 (see Appendix F) for scatterplots between the GQ-6 six-item questionnaire and each of the subscales for the SDLRS-NE measurement tool (i.e. Self - Management, Desire-to-Learn, and Self - Control).

Table 4.10 displays the Pearson's product-moment-correlation coefficient (*r*), and Table 4.11 displays the Spearman's rho correlation (ρ) results. As with the pervious question, I begin with the Pearson's product-moment-correlation coefficient, and then I provide the results of the Spearman's rho correlation. Based on the results displayed in Table 4.10, a small, but significant positive relationship is noted between gratitude and Desire-to-Learn (r = .355, p <0.01), and between gratitude and Self-Control (r = .295, p = .023).

The results from Table 4.11 indicate that there is in fact a small, but significant relationship between gratitude and self-control ($\rho = .283$, p< .05), and between gratitude and desire-to-learn ($\rho = .314$, p < .05). These results adds support to the interpretation that there is a positive relationship between variables, but unlike the Pearson's correlations, these relationships are only significant at a p value of .05. They suggest that a larger, more diverse, sample size is needed to further evaluate these relationships. However, based on the results presented here, it does appear that as gratitude increases, self-control and desire-to-learn also increases.

Next, a coefficient of determination was completed to describe the variance among gratitude, desire-to-learn, and self-control. Results indicate that 12.6% (r2 = .126) of the variance in desire-to-learn is accounted for by one's level of gratitude, and for self-control the variance was 8.7% (r2 = .087), meaning that 8.7% of one's level of self-control is accounted for by gratitude.

Pearson's Correlations (r) between GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE, by Subscales

Correlations						
		Gratitude	SM	DTL	SC	
Gratitude (GQ6)	Pearson	1	.226	.355**	$.295^{*}$	
	Correlation					
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.085	.006	.023	
	Ν	59	59	59	59	
Self	Pearson	.226	1	.465**	.357**	
Management	Correlation					
(SM)	Sig. (2-tailed)	.085		.000	.006	
	Ν	59	59	59	59	
Desire_to_Learn	Pearson	.355**	.465**	1	.597**	
(DTL)	Correlation					
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.006	.000		.000	
	Ν	59	59	59	59	
Self Control	Pearson	.295*	.357**	.597**	1	
(SC)	Correlation					
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.023	.006	.000		
	Ν	59	59	59	59	
**. Correlation is s	significant at the 0.01	level (2-tailed).			
*. Correlation is si	gnificant at the 0.05	level (2-tailed).				

Spearman's rho Correlation (p) between GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE, by Subscales

		Correlat	tions			
			Gratitude	SM	DTL	SC
Spearman's	Gratitude	Correlation	1.000	.235	.314*	.283*
rho		Coefficient				
		Sig. (2-tailed)		.074	.016	.030
		Ν	59	59	59	59
	Self	Correlation	.235	1.000	.476**	.313*
	Management	Coefficient				
		Sig. (2-tailed)	.074		.000	.016
		Ν	59	59	59	59
	Desire_to_Learn	Correlation	.314*	.476**	1.000	.572**
		Coefficient				
		Sig. (2-tailed)	.016	.000		.000
		Ν	59	59	59	59
	Self Control	Correlation	.283*	.313*	.572**	1.000
		Coefficient				
		Sig. (2-tailed)	.030	.016	.000	
		Ν	59	59	59	59
*. Correlation	n is significant at the	0.05 level (2-tailed)).			
**. Correlation	on is significant at the	e 0.01 level (2-taile	d).			

Question 3: Is there a significant relationship between gratitude, age, and class rank among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program?

This question was answered in two parts. First, a Spearman rho test (ρ) was preformed to explore the relationship between gratitude and age. Next, a point - biserial correlation coefficient was utilized to explore the relationship between gratitude and class rank. Table 4.12 displays the Spearman's rho (ρ) for gratitude and age.

Table 4. 12

Spearman's rho Correlation (p) between Gratitude and Age

Correlations						
			Gratitude	What is your age?-years		
Spearman's rho	Gratitude	Correlation Coefficient	1.000	.040		
		Sig. (2-tailed)		.762		
		Ν	59	59		
	What is your age?-years	Correlation Coefficient	.040	1.000		
		Sig. (2-tailed)	.762			
		Ν	59	59		

Table 4.13 displays the point-biserial correlation coefficient for gratitude and class rank. The point- biserial correlation was used because class rank is a dichotomous variable, and Bordens and Abbott (2011), explains that "in practice the point-biserial correlation is computed using the Pearson's r correlation test" (p. 421).

Point-Biserial Correlation Coefficient between GQ-6 and Class Rank

Correlations					
		Gratitude	Select the option		
			below that best		
			describes your		
			class rank.		
Gratitude	Pearson Correlation	1	.227		
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.084		
	Ν	59	59		
Select the option below that best	Pearson Correlation	.227	1		
describes your class rank.	Sig. (2-tailed)	.084			
	Ν	59	59		

Result indicate that this is not a significant relationship between gratitude and age. However, there are some contributing factors to consider when interpreting the results. First, the magnitude of this relationship is "partly dependent on the proportion of participants falling into each dichotomous category" (Bordens & Abbott, 2011, p. 421). For example, within this sample there are 25 junior nursing students and 34 senior nursing student, and if "the number of participants in each category are not equal, the maximum attainable value for the point-biserial correlation is less than ± 1.0 , which may underestimate the relationship" (Bordens & Abbott, 2011, p. 421). The second consideration to make is that the strength of the point-biserial correlation is limited by the dichotomous variable, which can also underestimate the relationship (Bordens & Abbott, 2011). Therefore, with p =.084, a closer examination with a scatterplot suggests a slight positive trend in this relationship. Figure 4.7 (see Appendix F) displays this scatterplot. For interpretation 1 = junior nursing students and 2 = senior nursing students. gratitude and age, or between gratitude and class rank, but at a closer examination using a scatter plot, there appears to be a positive upward trend in gratitude among class rank.

Question 4: Is there a significant relationship between readiness for self-directed learning, age, and class rank among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program?

This question was also answered in two parts. First, the relationship between the three subscales for the readiness for self-directed learning in nursing education and age was answered using the Spearman rho test (ρ). Second, the relationship between the three subscales for readiness for self-directed learning in nursing education (SDLRS-NE) and class rank was answered using point - biserial correlation coefficient. Table 4.14 displays the Spearman's rho (ρ) for the three subscales of SDLRS-NE and age.

Table 4.15 displays the Point-Biserial Correlation Coefficient for the three subscales of SDLRS-NE and class rank. Results indicate that there is a small, but significant, positive relationship between age and desire-to-learn ($\rho = .259$, p = .048), which suggests that as age increases one's desire-to-learn also increases. Other insights from this statistical test are that there is not a significant relationship between age and self – management, or between age and self-control.

Spearman's rho (p) Correlation between the Three Subscales of SDLRS-NE and Age

Correlations						
			Age	SM	DTL	SC
Spearman's	What is your	Correlation	1.000	100	.259*	.163
rho	age?-years	Coefficient				
		Sig. (2-tailed)		.451	.048	.217
		Ν	59	59	59	59
	SelfManagement	Correlation Coefficient	100	1.000	.476**	.313*
		Sig. (2-tailed)	.451		.000	.016
		N N	59	59	59	59
	Desire_to_Learn	Correlation Coefficient	.259*	.476**	1.000	.572**
		Sig. (2-tailed)	.048	.000		.000
		N	59	59	59	59
	SelfControl	Correlation Coefficient	.163	.313*	.572**	1.000
		Sig. (2-tailed)	.217	.016	.000	
		N	59	59	59	59
*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).						
**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).						

Correlations						
		Class Rank	SM	DTL	SC	
Select the option	Pearson	1	.030	092	029	
below that best	Correlation					
describes your class	Sig. (2-tailed)		.822	.487	.828	
rank.	Ν	59	59	59	59	
SelfManagement	Pearson	.030	1	.465**	.357**	
	Correlation					
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.822		.000	.006	
	Ν	59	59	59	59	
Desire_to_Learn	Pearson	092	.465**	1	.597**	
	Correlation					
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.487	.000		.000	
	N	59	59	59	59	
SelfControl	Pearson	029	.357**	.597**	1	
	Correlation					
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.828	.006	.000		
	Ν	59	59	59	59	
**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).						

Point-Biserial Correlation between the Three Subscales of SDLRS-NE and Class Rank

When examining these relationships, results indicate that there is not a significant relationship between class rank and self-management, desire-to-learn, or self-control. Furthermore, with the potential for underestimating the relationships, a scatterplot between SDLRS-NE and class rank was conducted. Figure 4.8 (see Appendix F) displays this scatterplot. Again, for interpretation, 1 = junior nursing students and 2 = senior nursing students.

In summary, the results of the Spearman's rho (ρ) indicates that there is a small, but significant relationship between age and desire-to-learn $\rho = .259$, p = .048. The point-biserial correlation coefficient and scatterplot indicate that, within this sample, there is not a significant relationship between readiness for self-directed learning and class rank.

Question 5: *Is there a significant difference in gratitude, by class rank?*

This question was answered using a Mann- Whitney Test (*U*). Table 4.16 displays the results for the Mann-Whitney Test (*U*), which is a nonparametric test exploring the differences between groups. In addition, the Mann-Whitney Test (*U*) is the nonparametric alternative to the Independent-Sample T Test, and determines if the "median of a variable for participants in one group is significantly different from the median of that variable for participants in a different group, and does not require that the distribution have any particular shape" (DeCoster, 2006, p. 13-14). The Mann-Whitney test (*U*) mean rank report indicates that senior responses to gratitude were slightly higher than junior; but overall, there was no statistical differences between groups, U = 344.0, p = .207, r = -0.164.

Question 6: Is there a significant difference in readiness for self-directed learning, by class rank?

A Mann-Whitney test (*U*) was used to determine if there were differences between class rank and readiness for self-directed learning. Table 4.17 shows these results. Based on results, the Mann-Whitney (*U*) test found no differences between class rank and one's level of readiness for self-directed learning; U = 402.0, p = .724, r = -0.0459. Furthermore, when making the prediction that seniors would be more self-directed than junior nursing students, a 1 -tailed test was examined; however, with a p value of .388, this prediction was not significant. Therefore, the null hypothesis that there is no differences between groups is accepted. **Question 7:** *Does gratitude or readiness for self-directed learning differ by age groups (e.g. those under the age of 25 years-old versus those greater than 25 years-old)?*

The Mann-Whitney (U) test was used to determine whether or not there are differences between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning by age. To accomplish this, two independent groups were created: (1) participants less than 25 years of age and (2) participants greater than 25 years of age (i.e., 26 years or older). The rationale for these selected groups was based on the knowledge that the mean age for this sample was m = 26.6 (see Table 4.1). Table 4.18 reports the differences between age groups and gratitude, and Table 4.19 reports the Mann-Whitney (*U*) test for age groups and readiness for self-directed learning. When reviewing these results (U= 356.0, p = .580), there is not a difference between age groups and their level of gratitude.

As Table 4.19 demonstrates, a significant finding is observed for the subscale of desireto-learn (U= 253.5, p = .028). This implies that there is a small, but significance difference between age groups and desire to learn. When exploring the mean rank, the mean rank for participants greater than 25 years of age was 36.83, versus a mean rank of 26.5 for those younger than 25 years of age. Therefore, for the subscale of desire-to-learn the null hypothesis is rejected, concluding that there is in fact a difference between age and one's desire-to-learn. The Mann- Whitney (*U*) results for other subscales demonstrate that there is not a significant difference between age groups in relation to either self-management or self-control (Self-Management U = 377.00, p =. 835; Self Control U = 321.50, p = .272).

Mann-Whitney Test between Gratitude and Class Rank

Ranks					
	Select the option below that	Ν	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks	
	best describes your class rank.				
Gratitude	Junior Nursing Student	25	26.76	669.00	
	Senior Nursing Student	34	32.38	1101.00	
	Total	59			

Test Statistics ^a					
			Gratitude		
Mann-Whitney U					
Wilcoxon W			669.000		
Ζ			-1.262		
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)					
Monte Carlo Sig. (2-tailed)	.209 ^b				
	99% Confidence Interval	Lower Bound	.199		
		Upper Bound	.220		
Monte Carlo Sig. (1-tailed)	Sig.		.100 ^b		
	99% Confidence Interval Lower Bound		.093		
		Upper Bound	.108		
a. Grouping Variable: Select the option below that best describes your class rank.					
b. Based on 10000 sampled table	es with starting seed 2000000.				
Hypothesis Test Summary					
Null Hypothesis					
The distribution of Gratitude is the	ne same across categories of selec	t the option below that	best describes		
your class rank					
Asymptotic significances are disp	played. The significance level is .	05.			

Mann-Whitney Test between SDLRS-NE and Class Rank

Ranks						
	Select the option below that	Ν	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks		
	best describes your class					
	rank.					
SDLRS_NE_Scale	Junior Nursing Student	25	30.92	773.00		
	Senior Nursing Student	34	29.32	997.00		
	Total	59				

Test Statistics ^a						
			SDL	RS_NE_Scale		
Mann-Whitney U				402.000		
Wilcoxon W			997.000			
Ζ				353		
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)				.724		
a. Grouping Variable: Se	a. Grouping Variable: Select the option below that best describes your class rank.					
Hypothesis Test Summary						
Null Hypothesis	Test	Sig.	•	Decision		
The distribution of SDLRS_NE_Scale is the same across categories of select the option below that best describes your class rank	Independent-Samples Mann-Whitney U Test	.724		Retain the null hypothesis		
Asymptotic significances are displayed. The significance level is .05.						
Table 4. 18

Mann-Whitney (U) between Age Groups and Gratitude (GQ-6)

Ranks						
	AgeGroup	N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks		
Gratitude	less than 25 years old	39	30.87	1204.00		
	greater than 25 years old	20	28.30	566.00		
	Total	59				

Test Statistics ^a						
						Gratitude
Mann-Whitney U						356.000
Wilcoxon W						566.000
Ζ						553
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)						.580
Monte Carlo Sig. (2-ta	uiled)	Sig.				.581 ^b
	,	99% Confide	nce Interval	Lower	Bound	.568
				Upper Bound		.594
Monte Carlo Sig. (1-ta	Sig.				.287 ^b	
		99% Confidence Interval		Lower Bound		.276
				Upper	Bound	.299
a. Grouping Variable:	AgeGrou	10				
b. Based on 10000 sar	npled tab	les with starting	g seed 1502173	3562.		
		Hypothesis 1	est Summary		D · ·	
Null Hypothesis	lest		Sig.		Decision	
The distribution of	Indepen	idependent-Samples .580			Retain the	null
Gratitude is the same Mann-Whitney U Test					hypothesi	s
across categories of						
AgeGroup						
Asymptotic significances are displayed. The significance level is .05						

Table 4. 19

Mann-Whitney	(U)	between Age	Groups and	Readiness	for Se	elf-Directed	Learning	(SDLRS-NE)
--------------	-----	-------------	------------	-----------	--------	--------------	----------	------------

Ranks							
	AgeGroup	Ν	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks			
SelfManagement	less than 25 years old	39	30.33	1183.00			
	greater than 25 years old	20	29.35	587.00			
	Total	59					
Desire_to_Learn	less than 25 years old	39	26.50	1033.50			
	greater than 25 years old	20	36.83	736.50			
	Total	59					
SelfControl	less than 25 years old	39	28.24	1101.50			
	greater than 25 years old	20	33.43	668.50			
	Total	59					

Test Statistics ^a							
	SelfManagement	Desire_to_Learn	SelfControl				
Mann-Whitney U	377.000	253.500	321.500				
Wilcoxon W	587.000	1033.500	1101.500				
Ζ	209	-2.191	-1.100				
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	.835	.028	.272				
a. Grouping Variable: AgeGroup							

Hypothesis Test Summary							
Null Hypothesis	Test	Sig.	Decision				
The distribution of Self Management is the same across categories of AgeGroup	Independent-Samples Mann-Whitney U Test	.835	Retain the null hypothesis				
The distribution of Desire_to_Learn is the same across categories of AgeGroup	Independent-Samples Mann-Whitney U Test	.028	Reject the null hypothesis				
The distribution of Self Control is the same across categories of AgeGroup	Independent-Samples Mann-Whitney U Test	.272	Retain the null hypothesis				
Asymptotic significances	are displayed. The signifi	cance level is .05.					

Question 8: To what extent can the combination of selected demographic variables (age or class rank) and gratitude scores predict readiness for self-directed learning scores?

Before reporting on how this research question was answered, I begin with a discussion on multiple regression and its assumptions. This information will be important for interpreting results. According to Osborne and Waters (2002) there are four major assumptions when using multiple regression, and these include, (1) normality, (2) linearity, (3) reliability of measurement, and (4) homoscedasticity. First, "regression assumes that the variables have a normal distribution, and highly skewed data or outliers can distort relationships and test significance" (Osborne & Waters, 2002, p. 1). As suggested (Osborne & Waters, 2002), normality can be determined using the Kolmogorov- Smirnov test. Table 4.20 displays these results for the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test for the GQ-6 questionnaire, age, class rank, and the SDLRS-NE measurement tool.

Table 4. 20

Komogorov-Smirnov Test for GQ-6, SDLRS-NE, Age, and Class Rank

Tests of Normality							
	Kolm	ogorov-Sm	irnov ^a	S	Shapiro-Wilk		
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.	
What is your age?-years	.237	59	.000	.706	59	.000	
Select the option below	.379	59	.000	.628	59	.000	
that best describes your							
class rank.							
SDLRS_NE_Scale	.107	59	.089	.979	59	.392	
Gratitude	.210	59	.000	.885	59	.000	
a. Lilliefors Significance (Correction						

For interpretation, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests the null hypothesis that there is no significant difference between the data tested and normal distribution, meaning that the data is normally distributed, and if significance is obtained (p = <.50), this suggests that the data is not normally distributed. Therefore, for this sample, SDLRS-NE Scale has a normal distribution (p = .089), and the null hypothesis that there is no significant difference between SDLRS-NE and normal distribution is accepted. When examining the GQ-6, significance (p = <.001) was obtained, which rejects the null hypothesis and suggests that this data set is not normally distributed. Finally, significance level for both age (p = <.001) and class rank (p = <.001) also suggests that these demographic variables are not normally distributed.

The second assumption of multiple regression is the assumption that "relationships are linear in nature" (Osborne & Waters, 2002, p. 1), meaning that multiple regression is most accurate when this linearity exists. Within this study, the examination of a linear relationship was assessed using residual plots. Residual plots explores predicted values versus actual values (Osborne & Waters, 2002). Figure 4.9 displays the residual plots for the GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE, and Figures 4.10 and 4.11 (see Appendix F) displays the residual plots for each of the demographic questions (i.e., age and class rank) and SDLRS-NE.

When examining these residual plots for the independent variable (i.e., gratitude, age, and class rank), it is noticeable that a linear relationship is not observed and each residual plot example contains outliers. This limits the reliability of the relationships being tested. Therefore, with these residual plots, data within this sample violates some of the assumptions of multiple regression, and interpretation of results must be interpreted with caution.

The third assumption of multiple regression is the reliability of the measurement tool (Osborne & Waters, 2002). Violations in reliability test (e.g. Cronbach's alpha \leq .70) alter the

ability to make predications because of an "over-estimation of the true relationship" (Osborne & Waters, 2002, p. 2). Within this study, the GQ-6 questionnaire obtained a Cronbach's alpha of .558 and the SDLRS-NE Cronbach's alpha = .902. Therefore, based on the assumptions of reliability, the GQ-6 may cause an over-estimation of the true relationship between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning; and again, the conclusions made about these predictions should be made with caution. For the fourth assumption of homoscedasticity, which "means that that variance of errors are the same across all levels of the independent variable" (Osborne & Waters, 2002, p. 4), this can be assessed by reexamining the residual plots in Figures 4.9, 4.10, and 4.11. "Ideally, residuals [should be] randomly scattered around 0 (the horizontal line) providing a relative even distribution" (Osborne & Waters, 2002, p. 4). As Figures 4.9, 4.10, and 4.11 reveal, the most homoscedasticity is seen with the GQ-6, which again, limits the ability to make predictions about how gratitude, age, and class rank influences readiness for self-directed learning.

This section began with an overview of assumptions made with multiple regression, and based on the discussion above, the results reported here should be interpreted with caution. The rationale for completing multiple regression within this study was exploratory in nature, and to gain a better understanding of the true or potential relationship gratitude, age, and class rank may have with readiness for self-directed learning. Therefore, to answer this question, multiple regression was used to predict relationships between demographic variables, gratitude, and their effects on readiness for self-directed learning. To accomplish this, I first transformed the data using a Log10 calculation. The purpose of this transformation was to improve normal distribution. After transformation, a stepwise approach was used to test the prediction that age, class rank, and gratitude can influence one's level of readiness for self-directed learning. Table

4.21 displays the multiple regression test with a stepwise approach for desire-to-learn, and Table4.22 displays the multiple regression test, stepwise approach with self-control.

Based on Table 4.21, when making predictions between gratitude, demographic variable (age, class rank) and their influence on the subscale desire-to-learn, results indicate that gratitude is a greater predictor than one's age or class rank when predicating desire-to-learn (p = .006). Other variables were excluded. Furthermore, within this sample, multiple regression testing with a stepwise approach suggests that gratitude is a stronger predictor for self-control, than either age or class rank (p. = .023). Next, multiple regression was performed to predict the influence of gratitude, age, class rank and one's level of self-management. Output from SPSS indicates that all variables were excluded, suggesting that one's age, class rank, level of gratitude are not predictor for self-management.

Conclusion

In Chapter Four, I have presented the descriptive statistics related to demographic questions. Second, I assessed the validity and reliability of the GQ-6 questionnaire and the SDLRS-NE 40-item measurement tool using the Cronbach's alpha test and intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC). Next, I presented an analysis of each research question proposed in Chapters One and Three. Before entering into a discussion on the significant findings, future directions for research, and implications for practice, which will be covered in Chapter Five, Table 4.23 provides a summary of significant findings.

Table 4. 21

Multiple Regression with Stepwise Approach- Desire-to-Learn

Variables Entered/Removed ^a							
Model	Variables Entered	Variables Removed	Method				
1	Gratitude		Stepwise (Criteria:				
			Probability-of-F-to-				
			enter <= .050,				
			Probability-of-F-to-				
			remove >= .100).				
a. Dependen	t Variable: Desire_to_learn						

Model Summary							
Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the			
				Estimate			
1	.354ª	.126	.110	.40400			
a. Predictors: (Constant), Gratitude							

ANOVA ^a								
Model		Sum of	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.		
		Squares						
1	Regression	1.335	1	1.335	8.181	.006 ^b		
	Residual	9.303	57	.163				
	Total	10.639	58					
a. Dependent Variable: Desire_to_learn								
b. Pred	b. Predictors: (Constant), Gratitude							

Excluded Variables ^a							
Mode	1	Beta	t	Sig.	Partial	Collinearity	
		In			Correlation	Statistics	
						Tolerance	
1	What is your age?-	.230 ^b	1.895	.063	.245	.994	
	years						
	Select the option	184 ^b	-1.457	.151	191	.949	
	below that best						
	describes your class						
	rank.						
a. Dep	a. Dependent Variable: Desire_to_learn						
b. Pre	dictors in the Model: (Cor	stant), Gra	titude				

Table 4. 22

Multiple Regression with Stepwise Approach- <u>Self-Control</u>

Variables Entered/Removed ^a							
Model	Variables Entered	Variables Removed	Method				
1	Gratitude		Stepwise (Criteria:				
			Probability-of-F-to-				
			enter <= .050,				
			Probability-of-F-to-				
			remove >= .100).				
a. Dependent Variable: SelfControl							

Model Summary							
Model R R Square Adjusted R Square Std. Error of the							
Estimate							
1	.295 ^a	.087	.071	.39330			
a. Predictors: (Constant), Gratitude							

ANOVA ^a								
Model		Sum of	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.		
		Squares						
1	Regression	.839	1	.839	5.424	.023 ^b		
	Residual	8.817	57	.155				
	Total	9.656	58					
a. Dependent Variable: SelfControl								
b. Pred	b. Predictors: (Constant), Gratitude							

Coefficients ^a									
Model		Unstandardized		Standardized	t	Sig.	Correlations		8
		Coeffi	cients	Coefficients					
		В	Std.	Beta			Zero-	Partial	Part
			Error				order		
1	(Constant)	2.500	.786		3.179	.002			
	Gratitude	.279	.120	.295	2.329	.023	.295	.295	.295
a. D	a. Dependent Variable: SelfControl								

Table 4.22 Continued.

Excluded Variables ^a							
Model		Beta	t	Sig.	Partial	Collinearity	
		In			Correlation	Statistics	
						Tolerance	
1	What is your age?-	.023 ^b	.178	.860	.024	.994	
	years						
	Select the option	101 ^b	774	.442	103	.949	
	below that best						
	describes your class						
	rank.						
a. Dependent Variable: SelfControl							
b. Pre	b. Predictors in the Model: (Constant), Gratitude						

Table 4. 23

Summary of Findings

Statistical Test	Results	Significance Level	Conclusions
Cronbach's Alpha for	<i>a</i> = .558	N/A	Compared to
GQ-6 questionnaire			previously reports
			alpha levels of .82,
			the GQ-6 is less
			than .70, which is the
			suggested minimum
			standard, and it is
			below previously
			reported Cronbach
			alpha results.
Cronbach's Alpha for	<i>a</i> = .902	N/A	Comparable to
SDLRS-NE			current literature.
Self- Management	SM <i>a</i> = .833	N/A	Total scale items and
Desire-to-Learn	DTL <i>a</i> = .804		the (3) subscales have
Self-Control	SC <i>a</i> = .846		strong reliability and
			validity for
			measuring readiness
			for self- directed
			learning in nursing
			education.
Mean Score for	<i>m</i> = 164.34	Minimum = 40.	In general, this
SDLRS-NE		Maximum = 200	sample considers
			himself or herself to
			be highly self-
			directed.
Moon Soons for CO. (Minimum	In concred this
Mean Score for GQ-0	m = 39.2	Minimum = 0, $Maximum = 42$	in general, this
Questionnane		$\frac{1}{2}$	himself or herself to
			have high levels of
			gratitude
			0

Table 4.23 Continued.

Statistical Test	Results	Significance Level	Conclusions
Pearson's <i>r</i> between	<i>r</i> = .359	p = .005	There is a positive
GQ-6 and SDLRS-			correlation between
NE			gratitude and
			Readiness for SDL.
Spearman's rho (ρ)	$\rho = .358$	p = .005	There is a positive
between GQ-6 and			correlation between
SDLRS-NE			gratitude and
			SDLRS- NE, even
			when there is not an
			assumption of normal
			distribution.
Pearson's <i>r</i> between	SM <i>r</i> = .226	SM p = .085	There is a small, but
the GQ-6 and the	DTL <i>r</i> = .355	DTL p = .006	significant, positive
three subscales of	SC <i>r</i> = .295	SC p = .023	relationship between
SRLRS-NE			gratitude and desire-
Self-Management			to-learn and the
Desire-to-learn			subscale self-control.
Self- Control			There is not a
			significant
			relationship between
			gratitude and self-
			management.
Spearman's rho p	$SM \rho = .235$	SM p = .074	There is a small, but
between gratitude and	$DTL \rho = .314$	DTL p = .016	significant, positive
the three subscale of	SC $\rho = .283$	SC $p = .030$	(p = <.05) relationship
SRLRS-NE			between gratitude and
Self-Management			the subscales of DTL
Desire-to-learn			and SC.
Self- Control			
Spearman's rho (ρ)	Age $\rho = .040$	Age $p = .762$	There is not a
between Gratitude			significant
and Age.			relationship between
			age and granude.
Point-Biserial	Class Rank $r = 227$	Class Rank $p = 0.84$	There is not a
Correlation	\bigcirc 1005 IVIIIX $I = .221$	(1005) (1004)	significant
Coefficient between			relationship between
Gratitude and Class			gratitude and Class
Rank			Rank

Statistical Test	Results	Significance Level	Conclusions
Spearman's rho (ρ)	DTL ρ = .259	DTL p = .048	There is a small, but
between the three	SM ρ =100	SM p = .451	significant
subscales of SDLRS-	SC $\rho = .163$	SC p = .217	relationship between
NE and age			age and DTL.
Point-Biserial	DTL ρ =092	DTL p = .487	There is not a
Correlation	SM $\rho = .030$	SM p = .822	relationship between
Coefficient between	SC $\rho =029$	SC p = .828	SDLRS-NE and
SDLRS-NE and			Class Rank
Class Rank			
Mann-Whitney Test	<i>U</i> = 344.0	p = .207	There is no difference
(U) between class			in gratitude between
rank and gratitude			groups.
Mann-Whitney Test	U = 402.0	p = .724	There is no difference
(U) between class			in SRLRS-NE by
rank and SDLRS-NE			class rank.
Mann-Whitney Test	U = 356.0	p = .580	There is no difference
(U) between age			in gratitude between
groups and gratitude			groups.
Mann-Whitney Test	DTL <i>U</i> = 253.5	DTL p = .028	There is a significant
(U) between age	SC $U = 321.5$	SC p = .272	difference in DTL
groups and three	SM $U = 377.0$	SM p = .835	between groups.
subscales of SDLRS-			
NE			
Multiple Regression:	Gratitude & DTL	p = .006	First, of the three
predicting SDLRS-	r =.354		predictors for DTL
NE			only gratitude was
	Gratitude & SC		found to have
	r = .295	p = .023	influence of DTL
			scores.
	All predictors were		Second, of the three
	excluded for SM –		predictors for SC,
	unable to use age,		only gratitude was
	class rank, or		found to influence SC
	gratitude as		scores.
	predictors for SM.		

Chapter Five

Summary and Conclusions

Previous chapters provided an introduction to the study, a comprehensive literature review related to gratitude, readiness for self-directed learning, and their potential connections for improving one's learning experience. Chapter Three described the research design and restated the research questions. Chapter Four presented the data analyses and rationales for specific statistical methods. Within this chapter, I will provide a discussion of the major findings presented in Chapter Four. Next, I will discuss implications for practice and recommendations for future research directions related to gratitude, readiness for self-directed learning, and how a combination of these attributes influence the learning experience.

Summary of the Study

The purpose of this study was to explore the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program. It was proposed that a greater understanding of the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning might help to identify important resources for self-directed learning. For example, as stated in Chapter Two, gratitude may benefit the self-directed learner in four distinct ways. Gratitude can improve one's experiences, build social relationships, encourage self-acceptance, and it improves one's ability to deal with setbacks more effectively (Watkins, 2014).

For this study, a survey was sent to 130 nursing students enrolled at a four-year baccalaureate nursing program, situated in a private, faith-based college in the Southeast United States. The recruitment process started with an email, requesting participation. This initial email contained an information sheet and a secured web link to gain access to the online survey. Next, to increase response rate, two email reminders were sent to those potential participants who had not started the online survey. At the end of data collection, 65 participants out of the 130 requested had completed the survey, resulting in a 50% completion rate. However, six of these participants were eliminated because they did not provide answers to all survey questions. Therefore, data analyses for this study was completed based on a sample size of 59 or n = 59, which accounted for 45% of the population being examined. Participants were asked to complete the GQ-6 questionnaire, the SDLRS-NE scale, and two demographic questions, resulting in a 48-question survey.

To summarize this sample, the average age was 26.61, with a minimum age of 20 and a maximum age of 67. Descriptive statistics for class rank included 25 junior nursing students and 34 senior nursing students. The mean score for the GQ-6 questionnaire was 39.23 (minimum score possible = 6, maximum score possible = 42), and the mean score for SDLRS-NE was 164.34 (minimum score possible = 40, maximum score possible = 200). Therefore, within this sample, participants consider themselves to have high levels of both gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning.

Evaluation of Measurement

The validity and reliability of the measurement tools [GQ-6 & SDLRS-NE] were evaluated using the Cronbach's alpha and the Intraclass Correlation Coefficient (ICC) test. Significant findings includes a Cronbach's alpha of .902 for the SDLRS-NE, and for the GQ-6 Cronbach's alpha was .558. When discussing the significance of the SDLRS-NE, a Cronbach's alpha of .902 for total-items, and with the Cronbach's alpha results for each subscale being above the minimum desired standard of .70 (Desire-to-learn a = .833, Self-Management a = .804, and Self-Control a = .846), indicate that the SDLRS-NE is a reliable and valid measurement tool for assessing readiness for self-directed learning within nursing education. Furthermore, these results were comparable to previous reports within the nursing literature, strengthening validity and reliability, and future researchers can use the SDLRS-NE for exploring readiness for self-directed learning in nursing education.

When compared to the current empirical literature, the GQ-6 internal consistency (a = .558) was much lower than previously reported results. Upon exploring this finding more closely, an item-total correlation was conducted on the GQ-6, to assess internal consistency by exploring how deleted items influence the Cronbach's alpha results. Table 5.1 displays these results.

Table 5.1

Cronbach's Alpha Results if Items Deleted

Item-Total Statistics						
	Scale Mean	Scale	Corrected	Cronbach's		
	if Item	Variance if	Item-Total	Alpha if		
	Deleted	Item	Correlation	Item		
		Deleted		Deleted		
I have so much in life to be thankful for.	32.4237	5.593	.495	.487		
If I had to list everything that I felt grateful	32.5593	5.527	.414	.493		
for, it would be a very long list.						
When I look at the world, I don't see much	32.5593	5.285	.316	.507		
to be grateful for.						
I am grateful to a wide variety of people.	32.8644	4.912	.443	.455		
As I get older I find myself more able to	32.5424	5.701	.300	.522		
appreciate the people, events, and situations						
that have been part of my life history.						
Long amounts of time can go by before I feel	33.2373	3.219	.267	.667		
grateful to something or someone.						

From this evaluation, it appears that if question six, "long amounts of time can go by before I feel grateful to something or someone," was omitted, the total Cronbach's alpha would improve to .667, which is much closer to the minimum desired standard of .70. When exploring why the removal of this specific line-item would make such an impact on the overall alpha level, one possible conclusion is that having both negative and positive worded line-items can distort statistical results. Roszkowski and Soven (2010) explains this by stating that "negative items often fail to correlate with total scores, resulting in lower Cronbach's alpha" (p. 119). Furthermore, when researchers mix negatively worded items among positively worded items, this can "introduce artifact rather than guard against acquiescence (yea-saying), resulting in lower validity rather than raising it" (Roszkowski & Soven, 2010, p.118).

Recommendations provided by Roszkowski and Soven (2010) to improve the reliability of the GQ-6 questionnaire would be to either remove the negatively worded items, or to ensure that there are equal numbers of positively and negatively worded items. Overall, more research is needed to evaluate the GQ-6 questionnaire to determine if this measurement tool needs to be revised, or whether a larger sample size would discover that the validity within this sample was attributed to "nonattendance" (Roszkowski & Soven, 2010, p. 129), such as, when participants fail to realize that the direction of the question has changed from positive to negative.

In addition to evaluating the balance of line-items, these items could be adapted to measure one's gratitude toward nursing education. After obtaining permission from the developers' of the GQ-6, the first line-item stating, "*I have so <u>much in life</u> to be grateful for*" could be modified to state, "*I have so <u>much in nursing school</u> to be grateful for*," which might be a better measure for directional gratitude versus generalized gratitude as it relates to the participants' current learning experience. Adding this detail to the GQ-6 is supported by

Emmons (2013), who suggests that gratitude is found in the details, and when specificity is added, one's feelings about gratitude is enhanced.

Besides adapting the current version of the GQ-6 questionnaire to nursing education, future research may benefit from either a redevelopment of the GQ-6 by adding more line-items, or by comparing the GQ-6 questionnaire to the 44-item Gratitude, Resentment, Appreciation Test (GRAT) developed by Watkins et al. (2003) within nursing education. First, a redevelopment of the GQ-6, or the development of a new gratitude measurement tool, would need to be tested for its psychometric properties, but it could add to the discussion on how gratitude is operationally and conceptually defined. Second, by comparing the GQ-6 with the GRAT 44-item measurement tool, this future research endeavor could strengthen how gratitude is assessed within nursing education, and this comparison could also help researchers better understand the different facets of gratitude and how they relate to one's experiences throughout his/her nursing program. Finally, measuring gratitude within nursing education may also benefit from a measurement tool developed from a qualitative approach; one that focused on how nursing students define gratitude and how gratitude influences their learning experience.

Major Findings

This study examined eight research questions exploring the relationships among gratitude, readiness for self-directed learning, age, and class rank among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program. From this exploration, several significant findings emerged. First, there is a small, but significant, positive relationship between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning (r = .359, p = .005; $\rho = .358$, p = .005). Second, when examining the relationship between gratitude and the three subscales of readiness for self-

directed learning (i.e., Desire-to-Learn, Self-Control, and Self-Management), there was a small, but significant relationship between gratitude and Desire-to-Learn (r = .355, p =.006; $\rho = .314$, p = .016), and between gratitude and self-control (r = .295, p = .023; $\rho = .283$, p = .030). Third, there is a small, but significant, positive relationship between age and Desire-to-Learn ($\rho = .259$, p = .048). Also, there is a statistically significant difference between age groups (those less than 25-years of age versus those greater than 25 years of age) and the subscale of Desire-to-Learn (U = 253.5, p = .028). Finally, although results were interpreted with caution, multiple regression testing indicated that gratitude is a better predictor of Desire-to-Learn and Self-Control, than age or class rank.

Other important findings from this study is noting that there is not a significant relationship between gratitude and Self-Management (r = .226, p = .085; $\rho = .235$, p = .074). Second, there was not a significant relationship between gratitude and age ($\rho = .040$, p = .762), or between gratitude and class rank (r = .227, p = .084). Furthermore, there was not a significant relationship between age and Self-Management ($\rho = .100$, p = .451), or between age and Self-Control ($\rho = .163$, p = .217). Also, when exploring the differences between groups, findings suggest that there is not a significant difference between class rank and either gratitude nor readiness for self-directed learning. Finally, when applying multiple regression to these variables, neither gratitude, age, nor class rank were significant predictors for Self-Management.

Discussion

Although correlation does not equal causation, the findings from this study are supported by current literature, and the concepts under investigation here can be applied to multiple fields of research and practice. For example, with the aim of Positive Psychology to change the focus from a preoccupation of "repairing the worst things in life to building the positive qualities" (Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000, p. 5), research on gratitude can focus on building positive learning experiences. Hence, the value of this study is that it allows researchers to move beyond the broader scope of Positive Psychology to determine how certain positive emotions (i.e., gratitude) influence one's readiness for self-directed learning. This can lead to new research questions and future empirical testing. Within this discussion, significant findings are examined by referring back to the current literature, implications for practice are provided, and finally, recommendations for future research are offered to expand this emerging area of research.

What is known from this study is that there is a small, but significant, positive relationship between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning (r = .359, p = .005; $\rho = .358$, p = .005), and at a deeper level, there is a positive relationship between gratitude and desire-to-learn (r = .355, p = .006; $\rho = .314$, p = .016), and between gratitude and self-control (r = .295, p = .023; $\rho = .283$, p = .030). To explore the magnitude of these relationships, a coefficient of determination was conducted to explore the amount of variance among variables. Results indicated that 11.4% ($r^2 = .114$) of the variance in readiness for self-directed learning was accounted for by gratitude, and when exploring the variance among desire-to-learn and self-control, gratitude accounted for 12.6% ($r^2 = .126$) of the variance in desire-to-learn and 8.7% ($r^2 = .087$) of the variance in self-control.

Connecting these major findings to the current literature can be found in the assumptions made about adult learners. In Tennant's (2006) summary of these assumptions, three characteristics of self-direct learning connect with gratitude. The first assumption is that, "for adults the more potent motivators [for learning] are internal" (Tennant, 2006, p. 9). Gratitude relates to this characteristic of self-directed learning, because gratitude could be seen as an important source of internal motivation for learning. More specifically, desire-to-learn has been

defined as "learning for the love of intellectual challenge, or desire to achieve mastery of a topic, or practice for the satisfaction it brings" (Merriam & Bierema, 2014, p.147). One could speculate that gratitude, which is known to build both personal and social resources (Fredrickson, 2001; Tsang, 2007), can motivate one's readiness for self-directed learning by becoming more aware and appreciative of not only the learning experience itself, and its outcomes, but also by acknowledging those who have helped during the process. For example, as one's gratitude increases (e.g. more people to thank or appreciate), one is more motivated (has greater desire) to either embark on a new learning endeavor, or remain persistent in one's current learning goal.

From a positive psychology perspective, there is a strong connection between gratitude and a desire-to-learn. Peterson and Seligman (2004) state that having a love of learning is an important character strength for becoming cognitively engaged, and that this particular character strength "has important motivational consequences in that it helps people to persist in the face of setbacks, challenges, and negative feedback" (p. 163). They go on to state that, "people who experience a love of learning appear more likely than others to appreciate what they learn" (p. 169). Although a love of learning was not studied in 2004 when Peterson and Seligman listed it as a character strength, the findings from this study supports this connection by establishing that there is in fact a positive correlation between gratitude and a desire-to-learn.

When exploring the positive relationship between gratitude and self-control, an important connection is made with the finding that when there is an increase in gratitude, there is also an increase in one's sense of cohesion (Lambert et al., 2009). For clarity, self-control has been defined as "the process whereby the learner takes responsibility for the construction of personal meaning" (Garrison, 1997, p. 24), and sense of coherence is defined as "the set of beliefs that life is manageable, meaningful, and comprehensible, and it is considered to be a personal resource"

(Lambert et al., 2009, p. 462). Therefore, the ways in which sense of coherence connects gratitude to self-control is that "gratitude could lead a person to believe that he or she deserves positive outcomes and is capable of obtaining such outcomes" (Lambert et al., 2009, p. 462). It is this positive reframing or finding greater meaning in one's experiences that can motivate or strengthen one's level of self-control by actively taking responsibility for one's own learning needs and goals. Also, increases in self-control could result in feelings that the learning experience is more manageable and more comprehensible. For example, if I am more grateful for the learning experience, I see my learning experience as more manageable and meaningful, which increases my ability to or desire to take on greater and greater responsibility for my own learning.

These positive associations are especially important when exploring how the learner deals with the variety of stressors associated with learning, by asking the question: Can gratitude help the learner overcome educational setbacks, or does gratitude help the learner to refocus on his or her learning goals when challenges arise? According to Tennant's (2006) summary, the self-directed learner has "the ability to detect and cope with personal and situational blocks to learning, and [has] the ability to renew motivation" (p. 10). Wood, Joseph, and Linley's (2007) study connects these self-directed learning characteristics to gratitude, when they discovered that there is a positive relationship between gratitude and adaptive coping strategies. From this study, the researchers concluded that "grateful people generally use more positive coping strategies, which seem broadly characterized by approaching problems using positive reinterpretation and growth, active coping, and planning, rather than avoiding the problem (behavioral disengagement, self-blame, substance use, and denial)" (Wood et al., 2007, p. 1088). These actions imply a degree of choice or a specific appraisal tendency when choosing to take on the responsibility for learning, but how does gratitude, through positive reframing, influence this choice? As suggested above, seeing the benefits in one's experience makes the overall experience more manageable, thus improving self-control. The other suggestion is that by reframing a negative event into a positive, such as, I can learn from my mistakes, the learner can redirect or refocus his or her self-control to accomplish either a previously established learning goal, or develop a new learning goal that has emerged from a self-identified mistake.

Implications for Practice

Gratitude has several important implications for practice, and these include both internal and external benefits. The gratitude literature has consistently demonstrated that the development of gratitude enhances social relationships and overall well-being (Fredrickson, 2001; Tsang, 2007; Wood et al., 2007). How this translates into practice is in the ways gratitude can influence the learning environment. Algoe, Fredrickson, and Gable (2013) concluded that, "the unique weight that gratitude carries is cultivating social bonds" (p.605), and these social bonds aid in not only the development of high-quality relationships, but also strengthens those relationships already established. Currently, the social benefits of gratitude within the learning environment have been explored by Vess and Russell (2014), who suggest that gratitude is an important social resource for building a positive classroom culture, because "gratitude creates an outward focus, or a growing desire to build stronger relationships with others, and this may lead to openness and engagement" (p. 2). This openness and engagement, in turn, "provides students with opportunities to cultivate their own gratitude, and by seeing the benefits of gratitude, educators are able to provide students with an alternative lens for interpreting their learning experiences" (Vess & Russell, 2014, p. 4). Finally, what gratitude brings to the learning environment is that

gratitude can create the necessary positive conditions for supporting and developing a love of learning.

To add depth to gratitude's potential impact and future directions for learning, Russell and Vess (2014) developed a conceptual model to demonstrate how reflective gratitude journaling can improve student well-being. The C.A.R.I.N.G. Model is a recursive process involving six essential steps directed at developing the student's overall well-being (see figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1

The C.A.R.I.N.G Model Created by J.A. Russell and K.R. Vess (2014)

Within the C.A.R.I.N.G Model, the learner can use reflective gratitude journaling to develop the proactive coping skills necessary for overcoming the myriad of stressors associated with learning. The process begins with self-<u>c</u>ompassion, which allows the learners to look past his or her inadequacies to focus on individual strengths. After adjusting one's mind-set to focus on strengths versus weaknesses, a recursive cycle of <u>a</u>cting and <u>r</u>eflecting on one's learning experience occurs. This allows the learner to gain awareness of his or her emotional boundaries to develop strategies for obtaining the resources needed to build relationships and for developing

a grateful disposition. Next, Russell and Vess (2014) utilizes the concept of <u>intentionality</u> to describe this process of making a choice, stating that "in the intentionality phase, students engage in a planning process for developing [his or her own] well-being" (p.2). This increases the student's abilities to <u>n</u>avigate the learning environment, which ultimately leads to more self-regulation, or the ability to regulate one's own feeling and emotions in response to their experience. Therefore, the value of reflective gratitude journaling within this process is that when "students write, reflect, and discuss how gratitude shapes their worldview, they can make greater connections between their past experiences and their ideal future selves" (Russell & Vess, 2014, p. 3). Overall, the impact of this type of self-regulation on learning is to suggest that this ideal future self creates an interest, or a motivation for learning that is internally driven versus externally applied through task-oriented goals (Peterson & Seligman, 2004).

Moving outward to the everyday practice of nursing, gratitude may have important implications in how one approaches his or her everyday work. More research is needed within this area, but it would be important to determine how practicing an attitude of gratitude influences the nurse-patient relationship. A nurse enters a patient's life during times of great joy (e.g. birth of a child) and great sorrow (e.g. death of a loved one), and being grateful for these moments may be at the heart of gratitude's impact on professional practice. When reflecting on these experiences with gratitude, the following may occur: increased job satisfaction, heightened sense of humility and empathy, and an increased ability to identify patient needs because one is truly present with his or her patient. As a result, these grateful reflections would only amplify the giftedness of professional nursing practice.

Future Directions for Research

As stated in Chapter One, one of the goals for this correlational study was to generate new research questions for future experimental testing. This section proposes five new research questions that can guide future research agendas related to gratitude and readiness for selfdirected learning.

New Research Questions:

- 1. Are there certain learning experiences that develop gratitude?
- 2. What are nursing students grateful for?
- 3. How does gratitude motivate learning?
- 4. If SDL is a blend of attitudes, values, and abilities that predispose learners' capacity for SDL, what influence does the development of gratitude have on one's readiness for SDL?
- 5. What influence, if any, does self-directed learning strategies have on the development of a practice of gratitude?

These research questions can be explored using both qualitative and quantitative research methods. For example, with a larger, more diverse sample, differences between groups, multiple regression, and pre-test, post-test designs can explore how gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning interact, and how the development of gratitude influences one's readiness for self-directed learning. Also, the current literature is limited in qualitative analyses on gratitude (Watkins, 2014) and how certain learning experiences influence one's level of gratitude. By using the participants own words, researchers can gain insights into how gratitude is defined and experienced. Finally, Watkins (2014) suggests that how people learn to be grateful or how gratitude interventions are implemented are important areas for future research, and it is here

where the learning principles of self-directed learning may strengthen the bond between the ways in which one learns and how they develop a practice of gratitude.

Another recommendation would be to explore the relationships among gratitude, other positive psychology character strengths, and self-directed learning. For example, Peterson and Seligman (2004) state that "relatively little is known about how self-control is acquired and strengthened, and this topic must be regarded as a high priority for further research" (p. 508). With this in mind, it may be fortuitous to explore how a gratitude intervention influences a student's sense of self-control. Also, what connection does gratitude have with the character strength of citizenship, and how do these attributes influence the learning environment? Currently, citizenship is defined as "a feeling of identification with a sense of obligation to a common good that includes the self but stretches beyond one's own self-interest" (Peterson & Seligman, 2004, p. 371). This exploration may help to expand the philosophical underpinnings of gratitude by connecting citizenship with a sense of indebtedness after receiving an unmerited gift. Stated another way, education itself is an unmerited gift, a debt that cannot be repaid, but it may instill a sense of obligation to support a common good that stretches beyond personal interest.

Conclusion

This study has provided evidence that there is a small but significant, positive relationship between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning. From these results, data indicate that as one's level of gratitude increase, one's desire to learn, and one's level of self-control also increases. The importance of this study is that it increases the awareness of how certain positive emotions (e.g. gratitude) influences one's readiness for self-directed learning. It suggests that gratitude can be an important personal and social resource for navigating through

the learning process, and for developing the essential skills for overcoming educational stressors or set-backs. Also, new research questions have emerged from this study, which can guide future research endeavors to explore gratitude's impact within an educational setting. Gratitude as a researchable topic can best be summarized using the following quote by Emmons (2004), who states "given that gratitude is a fundamental attribute of human beings and a potential key to human flourishing, we should endeavor to learn as much as we can about its origins, its forms of expression, and its consequences for individual and collective functioning" (p. 13). Therefore, as Emmons suggests, gratitude can provide researchers with the unique opportunity to explore not only how positive emotions influence the individual experience of learning, but also how gratitude influences the collective experience. References

- Adler, M.G., & Fagley, N.S. (2005). Appreciation: Individual differences in findings value and meaning as a unique predictor of subjective well-being. *Journal of Personality*, 73 (1), 79-114. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00305.x
- Algoe, S.B., Fredrickson, B.L., & Gable, S.L. (2013). The social function of the emotion of gratitude via expression. *Emotion*, *13*(4), 605-609. doi:10.1037/a0032701
- Ambrose, V. K., Teal, C., & Vess, K. (2012, February). Self-directed wellness: A visual representation of overlaps in focus between the self-directed learning and positive psychology fields. Presented at the International Self-Directed Learning Symposium in Cocoa Beach, FL.
- American Association of College of Nursing [AACN]. (2011-2013). Race/ethnicity of students enrolled in generic (entry-level) baccalaureate, master's, and doctoral (researchfocused) programs in nursing, 2002-2011. [Fact Sheet]. Retrieved from http://www.aacn.nche.edu/research-data/EthnicityTbl.pdf
- Anderson, M., & Brockett, R.G. (2007, June). Is there a place at the adult education table for positive psychology?: Theorizing from the literature. Paper presented at the 49th Annual Adult Education Research Conference, St. Louis, MO.
- Anderson, N.T., Quarles, M., & Quarles, J. (2000). *One day at a time: The devotional for overcomers*. Ventura, CA: Regal Books.
- Bandura, A. (1994). Self-Efficacy. In V.S. Ramachaudran (Ed.). Encyclopedia of Human Behavior (Vol.4, pp. 71-81). New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Baxter-Magolda, M.B. (2008). Three elements of self-authoring. *Journal of College Student* Development, 49 (4), 269-284. doi: 10.1353/csd.0.0016

- Bentler, P.M. (1990). Comparative fit indexes in structural models. *Psychological Bulletin, 107* (2), 238-246.
- Bordens, K.S., & Abbott, B.B. (2011). *Research design and methods: A process approach* (8th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Breen, W.E., Kashdan, T.B., Lenser, M., & Fincham, F.D. (2010). Gratitude and forgiveness: Convergence and divergence on self-report and informant ratings. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 49, 932-937. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2010.07.033
- Brockett, R.G., & Hiemstra, R. (1991). *Self-direction in adult learning: Perspectives on theory, research, and practice.* New York, NY: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Brown, J.D. (2001, October). Point-biserial correlation coefficients. *Shiken: JLT Testing & Evaluation SIG Newsletter*, 5 (3), 13-17. Retrieved from http://jalt.org/test/bro_12.htm
- Bruin, K. (2007). The relationship between personality trait and self-directed learning readiness in higher education students. *South African Journal of Higher Education*, 21 (2), 228-240.
- Buck, R. (2004). The gratitude of exchange and the gratitude of caring: A developmentalinteractionist perspective of moral emotions. In R. A. Emmons & M.E. McCullough (Eds.). *The psychology of gratitude* (pp.100-122). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Bulik, R. J. (2009). Reconsidering the metaphor for teaching in the age of self-directed learner.
 In M.G. Derrick & M.K. Ponton (Eds.). *Emerging directions in self-directed learning* (pp. 97-105). Chicago, IL: Discovery Association.

- Burton, L.J., & Mazerolle, S.M. (2011). Survey instrument validity part I: Principles of survey instrument development and validation in athletic training education research. *Athletic Training Education Journal*, 6 (1), 27-35.
- Cadorin, L., Bortoluzzi, G., & Palese, A. (2013). The self-rating scale of self-directed learning (SRSSDL): A factor analysis of the Italian version. *Nurse Education Today, 33*, 1511-1516.
- Caffarella, R.S. (1993). Self-directed learning. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education*: Vol. 57. (pp. 25-35). Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Carr, P. (2009). Resourcefulness in practice: Resourcefulness behavior and a comment on organizational leadership. In M.G. Derrick & M.K. Ponton (Eds.). *Emerging directions in self-directed learning* (pp.97-105). Chicago, IL: Discovery Association.
- Chen, L.H., Chen, M.Y., Kee, Y.H., & Tsai, Y. M. (2009). Validation of the gratitude questionnaire (GQ) in Taiwanese undergraduate students. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *10*(6), 655-664. doi:10.1007/s10902-008-9112-7
- Cheng, S. F., Kuo, C.L., Lin, K.C., & Lee-Hsieh, J. (2010). Development and preliminary testing of a self-rating instrument to measure self-directed learning ability of nursing students. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 47, 1152-1158. doi:10.106/j.ijnurstu.2010.02.002
- College Compass (2012). Tennessee Wesleyan College [Fact Sheet]. Retrieved from http://colleges.usnews.rankingsandreviews.com/best-colleges/tennessee-wesleyancollege-3525
- Colton, D., & Covert, R.W. (2007). *Designing and constructing instruments for social research and evaluation*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

- Costa, A. L., & Kallick, B. (2004). Launching self-directed learners. *Educational Leadership*, 51-55.
- Cranton, P., & Taylor, E. W. (2012). Transformative learning theory: Seeking a more unified theory. In E.W. Taylor & P. Cranton (Eds.). *The handbook of transformative learning: Theory, research, and practice* (pp.3-20). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Crook, J. (1985). A validation study of self-directed learning readiness scale. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 24(7), 274-279.
- Deci, E.L., Vallerand, R.J., Pelletier, L.G., & Ryan, R.M. (1991). Motivation and education: The self-determination perspective. *Educational Psychologist*, *26*, 325-346.
- DeCoster, J. (2006). *Testing Group Differences using T-tests, ANOVA, and Nonparametric Measures*. Retrieved from http://www.stat-help.com/notes.html
- DeJoy, J.K., & Herrmann, R. (1993). Counseling adults for academic and technological selfdirected learning: Emotional dimensions. In H.B. Long and Associates (Eds.). *Emerging perspectives of self-directed learning* (pp.161-174). Oklahoma Research Center for Continuing Professional and Higher Education of the University of Oklahoma.
- Dynan, L., Cate, T., & Rhee, K. (2008). The impact of learning structure on students' readiness for self-directed learning. *Journal of Education for Business*, 84(2), 96-100. doi:10.3200/JOEB.84.2.96-100
- El-Gilany, A., & Abusaad, F.E.S. (2013). Self-directed learning readiness and learning styles among Saudi undergraduate nursing students. *Nurse Education Today*, *33*, 1040-1044. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2012.05.003

Emmons, R.A. (2004). The psychology of gratitude: An introduction. In R. A.Emmons & M.E. McCullough (Eds.). *The psychology of gratitude* (pp.3-16). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

- Emmons, R.A. (2012). Queen of the virtues? Gratitude as a human strength. *Reflective Practice: Formation and Supervision in Ministry*, 32, 49-62. Retrieved from http://journals.sfu.ca/rpfs/index.php/rpfs/article/view/59
- Emmons, R.A. (2013). *Gratitude works! A 21-day program for creating emotional prosperity*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Emmons, R. A., & Kneezel, T.T. (2005). Giving thanks: Spiritual and religious correlates of gratitude. *Journal of Psychology and Christianity*, 24(2), 140-148.
- Emmons, R.A., & Shelton, C.M. (2002). Gratitude and the science of positive psychology. In
 C.R. Snyder, Lopez, & J. Shane (Eds.). *Handbook of positive psychology* (pp.459-471).
 Retrieved from http://homepage.psy.utexas.edu/homepage/Class/Psy418/Josephs/Wyann
 %20Folder/33-Gratitude.pdf
- English, L.M. (2000). Spiritual dimensions of informal learning. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education*, 85, 29-38.
- Field, L. (1989). An investigation into the structure, validity, and reliability of Guglielmino's self-directed learning readiness scale. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 39(3), 125-139. doi: 10.1177/0001848189039003001
- Fisher, M.J., & King, J. (2010). The self-directed learning readiness scale for nursing education revisited: A confirmatory factor analysis. *Nurse Education Today*, 30, 44-48. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2009.05.020

- Fisher, M., King, J., & Tague, G. (2001). Development of a self-directed learning readiness scale for nursing education. *Nurse Education Today*, *21*, 516-525. doi: 10.1054/nedt.2001.0589
- Fredrickson, B. L. (2004). Gratitude, like other positive emotions, broadens and builds. In R. A. Emmons & M.E. McCullough (Eds.). *The psychology of gratitude* (pp.145-166). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Fredrickson, B.L. (2001). The role of positive emotions in positive psychology. *American Psychologist*, *56*(3), 218-226. doi: 10.1037//0003-066X.56.3.218
- Froh, J.J., et al. (2011). Measuring gratitude in youth: Assessing the psychometric properties of adult gratitude scales in children and adolescents. *Psychological Assessment*, 1-14. doi:10.1037/a0021590
- Garrison, D.R. (1997). Self-directed learning: Toward a comprehensive model. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 48, 18-33.
- Gratitude. Oxford Pocket American Dictionary. (2002). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Gratitude. *Webster's New Explorer College Dictionary* (new ed.). (2007). Springfield, MA: Merriam-Webster.
- Guglielmino, L.M. (1977). Development of the self-directed learning readiness scale (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://proxy.lib.utk.edu:90/login?url=http://search.proquest.com.proxy.lib.utk.edu:90/doc view/302856217?accountid=14766
- Guglielmino et al. (2005). Common barriers, interrupters and restarters in the learning projects of self-directed adult learners. *International Journal of Self-Directed Learning*, 2(1), 71-93.

- Gulliford, L., Morgan, B., & Kristjánsson, K. (2013). Recent work on the concept of gratitude in philosophy and psychology. *The Journal of Value Inquiry*, 47, 285-317. doi:10.1007/s10790-013-9387-8
- Hiemstra, R., & Brockett, R.G. (2012, June). *Reframing the meaning of self-directed learning: An updated model*. Paper presented at the 53rd Annual Adult Education Research
 Conference, Saratoga Springs, NY.
- Howells, K. (2004). The role of gratitude in higher education. *Research and Development in Higher Education*, 27, 164-173.

Howells, K. (2012). Gratitude in education. Rotterdam, the Netherlands: Sense Publishers.

- Iwasiw, C.L. (1987). The role of the teacher in self-directed learning. *Nurse Education Today*, 7, 222-227.
- Joseph, S., Linley, P.A., & Harris, G.J. (2005). Understanding positive change following trauma and adversity: Structural clarification. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 10, 83-96. doi: 10.1080/15325020490890741
- Jørgensen, I.S., & Nafstad, H.E. (2004). Positive psychology: Historical, philosophical, and epistemological perspectives. In A. Linley & S. Joseph (Eds.). *Positive psychology in practice* (pp. 15-34). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Son, Inc.
- Kashdan, T.B., Uswatte, G., & Julian, T. (2006). Gratitude and hendonic and eudaimonic wellbeing in Vietnam war veterans. *Behavior Research and Therapy*, 44, 177-199. doi: 10.101/j.brat.2005.01.005
- Kegan R. (1994). *In over our heads: The metal demands of modern life*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

- Kim, M., & Park, S.Y. (2011). Factors affecting the self-directed learning of students at clinical practice course for advanced practice nurse. *Asian Nursing Research*, 5(1), 48-59.
- Knowles, M.S. (1975). *Self-directed learning: A guide for learners and teachers*. Chicago, IL: Follet.
- Klunklin, A., Viseskul, N., Sripusanapan, A., & Turale, S. (2010). Readiness for self-directed learning among nursing students in Thailand. *Nursing and Health Sciences*, *12*, 177-181. doi:10.1111/j.1442-2018.2010.00515.x
- Kocaman, G., Dicle, A., & Ugur, A. (2009). A longitudinal analysis of self-directed learning readiness level of nursing students enrolled in a problem-based curriculum. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 48(5), 286-290. doi:10.9999/01484834-20090416-09
- Lambert, N.M., Graham, S.M., & Fincham, F.D. (2009). A prototype analysis of gratitude:
 Varieties of gratitude experiences. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 35 (9), 1193-1207. doi: 10.1177/0146167209338071
- Lambert, N.M., Graham, S.M., Fincham, F.D., & Stillman, T.F. (2009). A changed perspective: How gratitude can affect sense of coherence through positive reframing. *The Journal of Positive Psychology: Dedicated to furthering research and promoting good practice,* 4(6), 461-470. doi: 10.1080/17439760903157182
- Lazarus, R.S. (2000). Towards better research on stress and coping. *American Psychologist, 55* (6), 665-673. doi: 10.137/0003-066X.55.6.65
- Levett-Jones, T.L. (2005). Self-directed learning: Implications and limitations for undergraduate nursing education. *Nurse Education Today*, *25*, 363-368. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2005.03.003
- Linares, A.Z. (1989). A comparative study of learning characteristics of RN and generic students. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 28(8), 354-360.
- Linares, A.Z. (1999). Learning styles of students and faculty in selected health care professions. Journal of Nursing Education, 38(9), 407-414.
- Lo, R. (2002). A longitudinal study of perceived level of stress, coping and self-esteem of undergraduate nursing students: An Australian case study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 39(2), p. 119-126.
- Lunyk-Child, O.I., et al. (2001). Self-directed learning: Faculty and student perceptions. *Journal of Nursing Education, 40*(3), 116-123.

Lyubomirsky, S., & Layous, K. (2013). How do simple positive activities increase well-being?
 Current Directions in Psychological Science, 22(1), 57-67.
 doi:10.1177/0963721412469809

- Mathews, M.A., & Green, J.D. (2010). Looking at me, appreciating you: Self-focused attention distinguishes between gratitude and indebtedness. *Cognition and Emotion 24* (4) 710-718. doi: 10.1080/02699930802650796
- McAdams, D.P., & Bauer, J.J. (2004). Gratitude in modern life: Its manifestations and development. In R.A. Emmons & M.E. McCullough (Eds.). *The psychology of gratitude* (pp.81-99). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- McCullough, M.E., Emmons, R.A., & Tsang, J.A. (2002). The grateful disposition: A conceptual and empirical topography. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(1), 112-127. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.82.1.112
- McCullough, M., Emmons, R. A., & Tsang, J. (2002). GQ-6: The gratitude questionnaire-six item form [Instrument]. Retrieved from http://www.ppc.sas.upenn.edu/gratitudequestionnaire6.pdf

- McCullough, M.E., Kilpatrick, S.D., Emmons, R. A., & Larson, D.B. (2001). Is gratitude a moral affect? *Psychological Bulletin*, *127* (2), 249-266. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.127.2.249
- McCullough, M.E., & Tsang, J.A. (2004). Parent of the virtues? The prosocial contours of gratitude. In R. A. Emmons & M.E. McCullough (Eds.). *The psychology of gratitude* (pp.123-141). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- McCullough, M.E., Tsang, J.A., & Emmons, R.A. (2004). Gratitude in intermediate affective terrain: Links of grateful moods to individual differences and daily emotional experience. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 86, 295-309.
- McDonald, J.H. (2014). Handbook of Biological Statistics (3rd ed.). (pp.209-212). Baltimore, MD: Sparky House Publishing. Retrieved from: http://www.biostathandbook.com/spearman.html
- Merriam, S.B. (2001). Andragogy and self-directed learning: Pillars of adult learning theory. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education*, 89, 3-13.
- Merriam, S. B., & Bierema, L.L. (2014). *Adult learning: Linking theory and practice*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S.B., Caffarella, R.S., & Baumgartner, L.M. (2007). *Learning in adulthood: A comprehensive guide* (3rd ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Munro, B.H. (2005). *Statistical methods for health care research* (5th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- National League for Nursing [NLN]. (2011-2013). Annual survey of schools of nursing. [Fact Sheet]. Retrieved from www.nln.org/research/slides/index.htm.

Oddi, L.F. (1986). Development and validation of an instrument to identify self-directed continuing learners. *Adult Education Quarterly*, *36*(2), 97-107.
doi:10.1177/0001848186036002004

- Oddi, L.F. (1987). Perspectives on self-directed learning. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 38(1), 21-31. doi: 10.1177/000184818703001003
- Osborne, J.W., & Waters, E. (2002). Four assumptions of multiple regression that researchers should always test. *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation,* 8(2), 1-5.
- O'Shea, E. (2003). Self-directed learning in nurse education: A review of the literature. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *43*(1), 62-70.
- Patterson, C., Crook, D., & Lunyk-Child, O. (2002). A new perspective on competencies for self-directed learning. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *41*(1), 25-31.
- Peterson, C., & Seligman, M.E.P. (2004). *Character strengths and virtues: A handbook and classifications*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Peterson, M., & Webb, D. (2006). Religion and spirituality in quality of life studies. *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, 1, 107-116. doi: 10.1007/s11482-006-9006-y
- Polit, D., & Beck, C. (2004). Nursing research: Principles and methods (7th ed.). Philadelphia,PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Rash, J.A., Matsuba, M. K., & Prkachin, K.M. (2011). Gratitude and well-being: Who benefits the most from a gratitude intervention? *Applied Psychology: Health And Well-Being*, 3(3), 350-369. doi: 10.1111/j.1758-0854.2011.01058.x
- Regan, J.A. (2003). Motivating students towards self-directed learning. *Nurse Education Today*, 23, 593-599. doi:10.1016/S0260-6917(03)00099-6

- Roberts, R.C. (2004). The blessings of gratitude. In R. A. Emmons & M.E. McCullough (Eds.). *The psychology of gratitude* (pp.58-78). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Robotham, D. (1995). Self-directed learning: The ultimate learning style? *Journal of European Industrial Training*, *19*(7), 3-7.
- Rosmarin, D.H., Pirutinsky, S., Cohen, A.B., Galler, Y., & Krumrei, E.J. (2011). Grateful to God or just plan grateful? *A comparison of religious and general gratitude*, 6 (5), 389-396.
 doi: 10.1080/17439760.2011.596557
- Roszkowski, M.J., & Soven, M. (2010). Shifting gears: Consequences of including two negatively worded items in the middle of a positively worded questionnaire. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education*, *35*(1), 117-134. doi: 10.1080/02602930802618344
- Russell, J.A., & Vess, K.R. (2014, June) *C.A.R.I.N.G: A conceptual model for promoting student well-being*. Presented at the Adult Education Research Conference in Harrisburg, PA.
- Ryu, E., Couper, M.P, & Marans, R.W. (2005). Survey incentives: Cash vs. in-kind; face-to-face vs. mail; response rate vs. nonresponse error. *International Journal of Public Opinion Research*, 18(1), 89-106. doi:10.109/ijpor/edho89
- Seligman, M.E.P., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive psychology: An introduction. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 5-14. doi:10.1037//0003-066X.55.1.5
- Shelton, C.M. (2004). Gratitude: Considerations from a moral perspective. In R. A. Emmons & M.E. McCullough (Eds.). *The psychology of gratitude* (pp.259-281). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Smedley, A. (2007). The self-directed learning readiness of first year bachelor of nursing student. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 12(4), 373-385. doi:10.1177/1744987107077532

 Spear, G. E. (1992). Self-directed adult learning: A critical paradigm revisited. In G.J.
 Confessore & S.J. Confessore (Eds.). *Guidepost to self-directed learning: Expert commentary on essential concepts* (pp.122-133). King of Prussia, PA: Organization Design and Development, Inc.

- Tavakol, M., & Dennick, R. (2011). Making sense of cronbach's alpha. International Journal of Medical Education, 2, 53-55. doi: 10.5116/ijme.4dfb.8dfd
- Tsang, J.A. (2007). Gratitude for small and large favors: A behavioral test. *The Journal of Positive Psychology: Dedicated to furthering research and promoting good practice,* 2(3), 157-167. doi:10.1080/17439760701229019
- Tsang, J.A., Schulwitz, A., & Carlisle, R.D. (2012). An experimental test of the relationship between religion and gratitude. *Psychology of Religion and Spiritualty*, 4(1), 40-55. doi: 10.1037/a0025632
- Teisl, M.F., Roe, B., & Vayda, M. (2005). Incentive effects on response rates, data quality, and survey administration costs. *International Journal of Public Opinion Research*, 18(3), 364-373. doi:10.1093/ijopr/edhro6

Tennant, M. (2006). *Psychology and adult learning* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.

- Timmins, F. (2008). Take time to facilitate self-directed learning. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 8, 302-305. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2008.02.004
- Toepfer, S.M., & Walker, K. (2009). Letters of gratitude: Improving well-being through expressive writing. *Journal of Writing Research*, *1* (3), 181-198.
- Vess, K.R., & Russell, J.A. (2014, June). Creating a caring culture: Exploring the implications of gratitude in adult education. Presented at the Adult Education Research Conference in Harrisburg, PA.

- Watkins, P.C. (2014). Gratitude and the good life: Toward a psychology of appreciation.Netherlands: Springer Media.
- Watkins, P.C., Scheer, J., Ovnicek, M., & Kolts, R. (2006). The debt of gratitude: Dissociating gratitude and indebtedness. *Cognition and Emotion* 20 (2) 217-241. doi:10.1080/026999305001172291.
- Watkins, P.C., Woodward, K., Stone, T., & Kolts, R.L. (2003). Gratitude and happiness:
 Development of a measure of gratitude, and relationships with subjective well-being.
 Social Behavior and Personality 31 (5) 431-452.
- Wilcox, S. (1996). Fostering self-directed learning in university setting. *Studies in Higher Education*, 21(1), 165-176. doi:10.1080/03075079612331381338
- Williams, B. (2004). Self direction in a problem based learning program. Nursing Education Today, 24, 277-285. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2004.01.008
- Williamson, S.N. (2007). Development of a self-rating scale of self-directed learning. *Nurse Researcher*, *14*(2) 66-88.
- Wiley, K. (1983). Effects of self-directed learning project and preference for structure on selfdirected learning readiness. *Nursing Research*, 32(3), 181-185.
- Wood, A. M., Froh, J.J., & Geraghty, A. W.A. (2010). Gratitude and well-being: A review and theoretical integration. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *30*, 890-905.
 doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2010.03.005
- Wood, A. M., Joseph, S., & Linley (2007). Coping style as a psychological resources of grateful people. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 26 (9), 1076-1093.

- Wood, A.M., Joseph, S., & Maltby, J. (2008). Gratitude predicts psychological well-being above the big five facets. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 46, 443-447. doi:0.1016/j.paid.2008.11.012.
- Wood, A.M., Maltby, J., Gillett, R., Linley, P.A., & Joseph, S. (2008). The role of gratitude in the development of social support, stress, and depression: Two longitudinal studies. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 42, 854-871. doi:10.1016/j.jrp.2007.11.003
- Wood, A.M., Maltby, J., Stewart, N., Linley, P.A., & Joseph, S. (2008). A social-cognitive model of trait and state levels of gratitude. *Emotion*, 8 (2), 281-290. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.8.2.281.
- Yuan, H.B., Williams, B.A., Fang, J.B., & Pang, D. (2012). Chinese baccalaureate nursing students' readiness for self-directed learning. *Nurse Education Today*, 33, 427-431. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2011.03.005

Appendices

Appendix A. PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET THE UNVIERSITY OF TENNESSEE-KNOXVILLE

PROJECT TITLE:

Examining the Relationships between Gratitude and Readiness for Self-Directed Learning Factors in Undergraduate Nursing Students.

INVITATION:

You are being asked by, <u>Kellee Vess RN, MSN</u>, a doctoral student from the University of Tennessee, to take part in a research study aimed at exploring the relationships between gratitude and the factors of readiness for self-directed learning among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program in the Southeast United States.

The design of this study is a correlational design aimed at exploring potential relationships between key variables, meaning that this design cannot determine cause and effect.

The objectives of this research study include (a) identifying gratitude as a possible resource for self-directed learning, (b) determining if there is a significant relationship between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning, (c) determining if there is a significant relationship between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning by age and class rank, and finally, (d) the information obtained from this study will be used to generate new hypotheses for future experimental testing.

INFORMATION ABOUT PARTICIPANTS' INVOLVEMENT IN THE STUDY

You are being asked to open a secured/ anonymous survey link. Once you open the secured link, you will be asked to answer two demographic questions: your age and class rank (i.e., junior nursing student or senior nursing student). Next, I will be asked 46-questions related to gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning.

TIME COMMITMENT:

Time requirements for completing the online survey will be approximately 15-30 minutes.

PARTICIPANTS' RIGHTS

You may decide to stop being a part of the research study at any time without explanation. You have the right to ask that any data you have supplied to that point be withdrawn/destroyed. You will still be paid for your contribution (or as appropriate, e.g., "and without penalty").

BENEFITS

Possible benefits of my participation in this research include assisting the researcher by providing specific information about gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning factors. Providing this information allows the researcher to explore these variables across research disciplines (i.e., nursing, positive psychology, adult education), increases the awareness of other variables that may influence readiness for self-directed learning, and finally, this information will aid the researcher in generating new hypotheses for future experimental testing.

RISKS:

There are minimal foreseeable risks associated with completing this survey. However, to control unforeseen risks, Intuitional Review Board [IRB] approval has been granted prior to data collection. Measures to maintain my confidentiality will include online survey security settings will prevent the recording of participants' IP address, email, and name. Finally, there will be no penalties for me choosing not to participate within this study.

COST, REIMBURSTMENT, AND COMPENSATION

Your participation in this study is voluntary and there will be no compensation for completing this online survey

CONFIDENTIALITY/ANONYMITY

Information in the study will be kept confidential. Online data will be password protected, and access to statistical data will be made available only to persons conducting the study. To clarify, an anonymous survey link will prevent the collection of any personal identifiers (e.g. email addresses, name, or IP address). Finally, no reference will be made in oral or written reports which could link participants or participants' institution to the study.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION

If you have questions at any time about the study or the procedures, you may contact:

Kellee Vess [Primary Investigator] 9845 Cogdill Road Knoxville, TN 37932 865-777-5109 (Work) 865-851-4209 (Cell)

Sonya Sullivan [Compliance Officer] University of Tennessee, Office of Research & Engagement 1534 White Ave. Knoxville, TN 37996 865-974-7697

Thank you for your consideration to participant in this research study.

Appendix B. Demographic Questionnaire

- 1. What is your age? _____
- 2. Select the option below that best describes your class rank.
 - a. Junior Nursing Student
 - b. Senior Nursing Student

Appendix C.

The Gratitude Questionnaire-Six Item Form (GQ-6)

By Michael E. McCullough, Ph.D., Robert A. Emmons, Ph.D., Jo-Ann Tsang, Ph.D.

Using the scale below as a guide, write a number beside each statement to indicate how much you agree with it.

1 = strongly disagree

2 = disagree

3 = slightly disagree

4 = neutral

5 =slightly agree

6 = agree

7 =strongly agree

_____1. I have so much in life to be thankful for.

_____2. If I had to list everything that I felt grateful for, it would be a very long list.

3. When I look at the world, I don't see much to be grateful for.*

_____4. I am grateful to a wide variety of people.

_____5. As I get older I find myself more able to appreciate the people, events, and situations

that have been part of my life history.

6. Long amounts of time can go by before I feel grateful to something or someone.*

Permission for Use

Copyright by Robert Emmons, August 10th, 2011.

The scale was published in a scientific journal for use in the public domain. You do not need to contact any of the authors for permission to use these scales in non-commercial research. You may not use the scales for commercial purposes without permission.

Appendix D.

Readiness for Self-directed learning in Nursing Education (SDLRS-NE)

By: Fisher, M., King, J., & Tague, G.

Self-directed learning readiness survey-nursing education.

	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
1. I manage my time well					
2. I am self disciplined					1
3. I am organized					
4. I set strict time frames					
5. I have good management skills					1
6. I am methodical					
7. I am systematic in my learning					
8. I set specific times for my study					1
9. I solve problems using a plan					
10. I prioritize my work					
11. I can be trusted to pursue my own learning					1
12. I prefer to plan my own learning					
13. I am confident in my ability to search out					
information					
14. I want to learn new information					
15. I enjoy learning new information					
16. I have a need to learn					
17. I enjoy a challenge					
18. I enjoy studying					
19. I critically evaluate new ideas					
20. I like to gather the facts before I make a decision					
21. I like to evaluate what I do					
22. I am open to new ideas					
23. I learn from my mistakes					
24. I need to know why					
25. When presented with a problem I cannot resolve, I will ask for assistance					
26. I prefer to set my own goals					
27. I like to make decisions for myself					
28. I am responsible for my own decisions/actions					
29. I am in control of my life					
30. I have high personal standards					
31. I prefer to set my own learning goals					
32. I evaluate my own performance					
33. I am logical					
34. I am responsible					
35. I have high personal expectations					
36. I am able to focus on a problem					
37. I am aware of my own limitations					
38. I can find out information for myself					1
39. I have high beliefs in my abilities					
40. I prefer to set my own criteria on which to					1
evaluate my performance					

Permission for Use



Appendix E. *Email Reminder*

Subject: Reminder Requesting Research Participation

Dear Potential Research Participant,

I, Kellee Vess RN, MSN, a doctoral student from the University of Tennessee -Knoxville, am sending you this email reminder to request your participation in the following research study: *Examining the Relationships between Gratitude and Readiness for Self-Directed Learning Factors in Undergraduate Nursing Students.*

The purpose of this study is to explore the relationships between gratitude and readiness for selfdirected learning among nursing students enrolled in a four-year baccalaureate nursing program. A better understanding of these relationships may uncover important resources for developing self-directed learning skills. This investigation benefits both nurse educators and students by gaining a greater awareness of the relationships between gratitude and readiness for self-directed learning. The significance of this study include (a) exploring the key variables across research disciplines (i.e., nursing education, positive psychology, and adult education), and (b) addressing an identified gap within the literature.

As a reminder your participation in this research is voluntary. If you agree to participate please click of the following link provided to access the online survey. If you have already completed this survey I greatly appreciate your assistance with this research study.

INSERT LINK TO SURVEY HERE

If you have any questions or concerns you may contact the following persons

Kellee Vess 9845 Cogdill Road Knoxville, TN 37932 865-777-5109 (Work) 865-851-4209 (Cell) Sonya Sullivan IRB Research Compliance Officer Office of Research & Engagement 1534 White Ave Knoxville, TN 37996 865-974-7697



Figure 4. 1

Histogram of GQ-6 Questionnaire





Histogram for SDLRS-NE Measurement Tool







Scatterplot between GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE



Figure 4.4

Scatterplot for GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE Subscale: <u>Self Management</u>





Scatterplot for GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE Subscale: <u>Desire-to-Learn</u>





Scatterplot for GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE Subscale: <u>Self-Control</u>





Scatterplot between GQ-6 and Class Rank





Scatterplot between SDLRS-NE and Class Rank





Residual Plots for GQ-6 and SDLRS-NE





Residual Plots for Age and SDLRS-NE



Figure 4. 11

Residual Plots for Class Rank and SDLRS-NE

Appendix G. Summary of Measurement Tools

Table 2.1

Summary of Studies Utilizing the SDLRS Measurement Tool

Study	Method for Establishing reliability or Validity	Significant Findings
Wiley (1983)	Independent Cronbach alpha $a = .91$ total 58-item, no individual alpha reported for the 8 subscales.	(n= 104), results suggest that "persons who prefer low structure benefit from SDL teaching more than those how prefer high structure" (p. 181).
Crook (1985)	Predictive validity; Pearson's correlation coefficient testing Reliability- used Guglielmino's a= .87. No independent Crophach alpha completed	(n=70), SDLRS scores shows some significance in the relationship between SDLRS and 1 st -yr nursing students end scores (.279, p=.01), but this only explained 8% of variance
	Cronoach aipna completed.	(p. 274).
Linares (1989)	Reliability- used Guglielmino's a = .87. No independent Cronbach alpha completed.	(n=596), No significant group difference in SDLRS between RN students and Generic Students.
	Compared group means: Current study group means 230 and 233.9 compared to Wiley (1983) group mean of 225.2 and Guglielmino (1980) group mean of 214.4	
Linares (1999)	Cited Guglielmino's (1989) summary that "a recent analysis of 3,151 SDLRS test scores yielded a Person split-half reliability estimate of 0.94"	(n=629; 301 generic BSN students, 188 RN-BSN students, 110 allied health students, and 30 faculty).
	(Linares, 1999, p. 410). No independent Cronbach alpha completed.	No significant difference in learning styles between faculty and students; faculty are more self-directed than students.

Table 2.1 Continued.

Study	Method for Establishing reliability or Validity	Significant Findings
Williams (2004)	Cited Guglielmino's (1989) summary that "a recent analysis of 3,151 SDLRS test scores yielded a Person split-half reliability estimate of 0.94" (Williams, 2004, p. 279). No independent Cronbach alpha completed.	(n= 148) "no increase in SDLRS scores between year one and year two; however, follow-up qualitative focus groups reveal examples of the characteristics of being a self-directed learner" (p. 277)
Klunklin, Viseskul, Sripusanapan, & Turale, (2010)	Stated Guglielmino's a = .87, and translated Thai version of the SDLRS with a = .93.	(n=272) findings suggest that "overall SDL readiness among nursing students in year 4 was significantly higher than in
	testing completed	lower years" (p. 180).
Kim & Park (2011) Korean-translated SDLRS	Stated Guglielmino's a = .87, current study reported a = .85 for total 16-item, 7 factors of readiness for self-directed learning.	(n=202) findings suggest a "hierarchical relationship among belongingness, self-esteem, and self-directed learning" (p. 48).

Table 2.2

Summary of Studies Utilizing the SDLRS-NE Measurement Tool

Study	Method for Establishing reliability or Validity	Significant Findings
Smedley (2007)	"Item unidimensionality tested using item to sum correlations" (p. 376). Independent Cronbach alpha on each subscales: Self-management $a=.810$ Desire for learning $a=.780$	(n=67) Findings: "comparable results to Fisher's et al (2001) validity and reliability results" (p.376), and self-direction increases with life experience or experience within the
	Self-control a = .844	nursing program.
Kocaman, Dicle, & Ugur (2007)	Maintained original 40-items for testing.	(n=50), findings support that from T1 to T4 students levels of readiness for self-directed
Adapted to Turkish	Independent Cronbach a=.94(total items), $a=.87(self-management), a=.86(desire for learning, anda=.88$ (self-control)	learning increased; supporting SDL as a maturational process.
Yuan, Williams, Fang, & Pang (2012)	Maintained original 40-items for testing, "translation approved by Fisher" (p.428).	(n=485) "Findings likely reflects the maturational process of developing self-
Adapted to Chinese	Cited Fisher et al. (2001) internal consistency results.	directedness" (p. 427). Recommendations for practice provided.
	Independent Cronbach alpha testing completed on 40-item Chinese version: total item a= .925, SM a =.848, DL a=.825, and SC a = .863.	
El-Gilany & Abusaad, (2013)	Independent Cronbach alpha on total 40-item scale	(n=275). Evaluated learning styles and SDLRS, findings
SDLRS-NE tested in Saudi undergraduate students	obtained <i>a</i> = .898 (p. 1041)	reveal that "SDLR is not related to students'
	Comparison of group mean between current study and two previous studies Yuan et al. (2012) and Fisher et al. (2001).	demographics and learning style. The opportunity to learn through self-direction already exists in undergraduate nursing students" (p. 1043).

Kellee Renee Vess (kvess@vols.utk.edu) is a Doctoral Candidate at the University of Tennessee, Knoxville in Educational Psychology, with a concentration in Adult Learning. She obtained her Master's Degree in Nursing from East Tennessee State University, Johnson City. She currently works at Tennessee Wesleyan College in Knoxville, Tennessee.